Universiteit Gent Faculteit Geneeskunde en Gezondheidswetenschappen Vakgroep Inwendige Ziekten Dienst Gastro-enterologie

THE HAPTOGLOBIN POLYMORPHISM IN HEREDITARY HEMOCHROMATOSIS AND CHRONIC HEPATITIS C.

Het haptoglobine polymorfisme in erfelijke hemochromatose en in chronische hepatitis C virus infectie.

> Proefschrift ter verkrijging van het Doctoraat in de Medische Wetenschappen

> > door

Hans VAN VLIERBERGHE

Promotoren: Prof. Dr. M. De Vos, Prof. Dr. G. Leroux-Roels.

2002

VOORWOORD

Dit proefschrift is het resultaat van een vierjarige inspanning; een inspanning die nooit tot dit proefschrift zou geleid hebben zonder de hulp van velen.

Eerst en vooral wil ik mijn promotoren bedanken. Bij Prof. Dr. M. De Vos kon ik enerzijds op gelijk welk moment te rade gaan. Onoverkomelijke problemen werden door haar meestal herleid tot nieuwe inzichten. Anderzijds werkte haar ambitie aanstekelijk op momenten waar mijn ambitie iets minder was. Prof. Dr. G. Leroux-Roels bedank ik voor het steeds aandachtig bekijken van resultaten, mij terechtwijzend waar ik iets minder kritisch was geweest.

Een bijzonder dankwoord gaat uit naar Prof. Dr. J. Delanghe, lid van mijn begeleidingscommissie. Zonder zijn fenomenale kennis van het 'haptoglobinegebeuren' en het daaraan gekoppelde enthousiasme, had ik dit proefschrift nooit kunnen schrijven. De gesprekken, waar mijn rol vooral een luisterende was, rond de geografische en historische impact van het haptoglobine fenotype waren een uitermate aangename en leerrijke verademing.

Voor de honderden bepalingen van het haptoglobine fenotype, bedank ik van harte Mevr. L. Claeys. Haar uitleg over deze techniek blijft ook voor een clinicus verstaanbaar.

De hulp die ik kreeg van Dhr. H. Verdievel voor de NTBI bepalingen is niet te beschrijven. Het oppuntstellen van een nieuwe, uitermate arbeidsintensieve techniek, gebeurde vlot en correct. Mevr. N. Van Damme en Dr. H. Peeters wil ik bedanken voor de CD163 bepalingen. Ik realiseer mij dat deze bepalingen vaak op ongelegen momenten dienden te gebeuren. De discussies rond de flowcytometrietechniek waren voor mij verhelderend.

Dr. M. Langlois bedank ik voor het aanbrengen van extra sera van patiënten met erfelijke hemochromatose.

Dankzij de bereidheid van de leden van het steeringcomité van de BASL (Belgian Association of the Study of the Liver), kon ik toegang krijgen tot verschillende dossiers van patiënten met erfelijke hemochromatose.

Mijn collega's van de polikliniek gastro-enterologie, Dr. I. Colle, Prof. Dr. D. De Looze en Prof. Dr. M. Peeters bedank ik voor hun geduld en bereidheid tot het overnemen van klinisch werk op momenten dat dit proefschrift mijn aanwezigheid in de kliniek onmogelijk maakte.

Het formaat van dit proefschrift zou er totaal anders uitgezien hebben zonder de hulp van Mevr. A. Verbist, die de lay-out van dit boek verzorgde. Zij schiep orde in de chaos.

Dhr. A. Dehaene van Roche bedank ik voor de logistieke steun bij het drukwerk.

Een heel bijzonder dankwoord gaat uit naar mijn ouders. Zonder hen was niets mogelijk. Hun liefdevolle interesse gedurende de periode van dit proefschrift was steeds een extra stimulans. En last, but not least, wil ik mijn echtgenote, Nancy, bedanken. Heel veel van haar vrije tijd moest zij mijn aanwezigheid ontberen. Toch hielp zij mij veel zaken te relativeren. Zij vatte dit samen met de volgende tekst.

Neem de tijd om te werken, Dat is de prijs van het succes.

Neem de tijd om te denken, Dat is de bron van de macht.

Neem de tijd om te spelen,

Dat is het geheim van de eeuwige jeugd.

Neem de tijd om te lezen,

Dat is de grondslag van de wijsheid.

Neem de tijd om aardig te zijn,

Dat is de weg naar geluk.

Neem de tijd om te dromen,

Dat is de manier om hoog te mikken.

Neem de tijd om te beminnen en bemind te worden, Dat is het voorrecht van de goden.

Neem de tijd eens om, om u heen te kijken,

De dag is te kort om zelflustig te zijn.

Neem de tijd om te lachen,

Dat is de muziek van je ziel.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION

- 1. Physiology of iron transport
- 2. Hereditary hemochromatosis
- 3. Non transferrin bound iron (NTBI) in disorders of iron metabolism
- 4. Hepatitis C virus infection (HCV)
- 5. Iron and chronic hepatitis C virus infection
- 6. Haptoglobin polymorphism

AIMS OF THE WORK

Chapter I

Prevalence of the Cys282Tyr and His63Asp mutation in Flemish patients with hereditary hemochromatosis.

Chapter II

Haptoglobin phenotype 2-2 overrepresentation in Cys282Tyr hemochromatotic patients.

Chapter III

Lack of relationship between the relative number of CD163+ monocytesmacrophages and iron metabolism in hereditary or secondary hemochromatosis.

Chapter IV

Association between Cys282Tyr missense mutation and haptoglobin phenotype polymorphism in patients with chronic hepatitis C.

Chapter V

Factors influencing ribavirin-induced haemolysis.

Chapter VI

Non-transferrin-bound iron (NTBI) in untreated and ribavirin treated chronic hepatitis C patients.

GENERAL DISCUSSION

SAMENVATTING

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

INTRODUCTION

INTRODUCTION

1. Physiology of iron transport

Iron is an essential element for all living organisms (1). Most of the body iron is found intracellularly; in ferritin, haemosiderin or haem present in haemoglobin, myoglobin and cytochromes. The iron which is found in extracellular body fluid is bound to high affinity iron-binding glycoproteins: transferrin in serum and lymph, and another related protein called lactoferrin in external secretions and milk (2).

The distribution of iron in tissue is shown in Figure 1 (3).

Figure 1.

Distribution of iron in adults (N Eng J Med 1999;341(26):1986-1995).

More than two thirds of the body's iron is incorporated into haemoglobin in developing erythroid precursors and mature red cells. Uptake of erythroid iron is highly dependent on receptor-mediated endocytosis of diferric transferrin bound to transferrin receptors (3). Each erythrocyte contains a billion atoms of iron; at normal rates of turnover, this concentration corresponds to the incorporation of $2x10^{20}$ atoms of iron a day (4). Most of the remaining iron is found in hepatocytes and reticuloendothelial macrophages, which serve as storage depots. The liver has first-pass access to dietary nutrients and can readily take up an amount of circulating iron that exceeds the binding capacity of plasma transferrin. Reticuloendothelial macrophages ingest senescent red cells, catabolise haemoglobin to scavenge iron, and load the iron onto transferrin for reuse (3).

Although the amount of iron extracted from the diet is small, the regulation of the intestinal absorption of iron is critical because humans have no physiologic way of excreting iron. Duodenal crypt cells sense the iron requirements of the body and are programmed as they mature into mature enterocytes. Enterocytes lining the absorptive villi close to the gastroduodenal junction are responsible for iron absorption. Iron must pass from the gut lumen through the apical and basolateral membrane of the enterocyte to reach the plasma (Figure 2).

Figure 2.

Iron transport across the intestinal epithelium (N Eng J Med 1999;341(26): 1986-1995).

The low pH of gastric effluent facilitates enzymatic reduction of ferric (Fe^{3+}) to its ferrous form (Fe^{2+}) by brush border ferric reductase (5). Divalent metal transporter 1 (DMT1 or Nramp2 or DCT1) is a protein that transfers iron across the apical membrane and into the cell through a proton-coupled process (6,7). DMT1 is not specific to iron, it can transport a wide variety of divalent metal ions: manganese, cobalt, copper, zinc, cadmium and Ead (7). Haeme iron is taken up by a separate process that is not well characterised.

Inside the absorptive enterocyte, iron has two possible fates: it may be stored as ferritin, or it may be transferred across the basolateral membrane to reach the plasma. Iron that remains in the form of ferritin in the enterocyte will be sloughed with the senescent cell and will leave the body through the gastrointestinal tract. This process represents an important mechanism of iron loss (3). Normally, the total amount of iron in the body is well controlled. There is no mechanism for iron excretion, and normally iron exits the body in tiny obligatory amounts (approximately 1 mg per day) during the loss of desquamated epithelial cells. In women, menstrual loss accounts for an additional 15-20 mg monthly (3).

The basolateral enterocyte receptor for iron has not been identified, but a recently described protein, Ireg1, is a likely candidate (8). Genetic studies in mice have shown that the basolateral transporter requires an accessory protein, a multicopper protein called hephaestin (9). Another candidate could be ferroportin1, which has been identified as a conserved vertebrate iron exporter (10).

The absorption of intestinal iron is regulated in several ways. It can be modulated by the amount of iron recently consumed in the diet, by the requirements for erythropoiesis or it can be regulated by the total body iron. Acute hypoxia increases iron absorption. It is not known whether the hypoxic signal is transduced through one of the regulatory pathways discussed above or through an independent mechanism (3,11,12).

Transport of iron from one organ to another, is accomplished by a plasma protein called transferrin (13). Transferrin is the major iron-carrying protein in plasma and is believed to regulate iron-fluxes between sites of absorption, storage and utilisation (2). Transferrin has a high binding affinity for iron (14). Transferrin is normally partially saturated, to the extent of 30-40 % (15). As a result there is virtually no freely available iron in normal body fluids (16).

Transferrin receptors expressed by iron-requiring cells mediate the uptake of iron from transferrin by these cells (17,18). Transferrin receptors bind diferric transferrin and the receptor-transferrin complex is internalised into an endosome, where the iron is transferred to the cytosol.

The iron depleted transferrin, apotransferrin, recycles to the cell surface, where it dissociates from the transferrin receptor. Expression of cellular transferrin receptors is determined by the iron requirements of the cell (19,20).

Iron is transported by transferrin to iron-requiring cells for subsequent incorporation into haem and many other iron-requiring cytoplasmic enzymes and proteins (2). Surplus iron is stored as ferritin and its derivative haemosiderin, in both parenchymal cells and mononuclear phagocytic system (21). Ferritin is the major iron storage protein and although it is found in almost all cells of the body, it is present in greatest concentration in the liver, spleen and bone marrow (22). The total body iron content is 3-4 g and of which nearly two thirds is present in haemoglobin in erythrocytes where it is required for oxygen transport (23).

2. Hereditary hemochromatosis

A. Definition and clinical pattern

Hereditary hemochromatosis (HH) is an autosomal recessive inherited disorder of iron metabolism that affects 1 in 200 to 1 in 400 persons of Northern European descent and is characterized by increased gastrointestinal iron deposition (24-26). It was first described in 1865 as a clinical triad of glycosuria, cirrhosis, and hyperpigmentation of the skin (27). Von Recklinghausen later established that these clinical features were due to iron deposition and coined the term hemochromatosis (28). The majority of patients with HH are descended from a common Celtic ancestor who lived 60 to 70 generations ago (29). The Celts initially colonised Central, South-Western, and South-Central Europe around 1000 BC. Settlements than dispersed to Belgium, the United Kingdom, **F**eland, Spain, Scandinavia and Eastern Europe (Figure 3) (30).



Figure 3

The Celtic settlement and migration pattern during the Iron Age (Hepatology 1997;25:1439-1446).

Patients with HH chronically absorb a small excess of iron, and middle-aged homozygotes frequently have 10 times normal body iron stores. As iron stores exceed the body's capacity for effective chelation, free iron accumulates (31). Unbound iron is highly toxic, owing to its participation in the generation of free radicals and reactive oxygen intermediates. These molecules provoke peroxidation of membrane lipids leading to cellular injury, ultimately resulting in severe damage to the liver, heart, joints and endocrine organs. Liver damage may be exacerbated by alcohol consumption or viral hepatitis. The onset of the disease is insidious, and the initial manifestations are often non-specific symptoms, including fatigue and arthropathy. Before the detection of the genetic mutation, the diagnosis of hereditary hemochromatosis has been based on the documentation of increased iron stores, namely increased hepatic iron indices (of more than 1.9 µmol/g dry liver tissue per year of life) associated with elevated serum ferritin levels. In the majority of the patients iron saturation is elevated (a cutoff level of 52 % in the female and 62 % in the male population has been proposed) (32).

If untreated, hemochromatosis invariably progresses and is ultimately fatal. However, if diagnosed before end stage organ damage, phlebotomy is an inexpensive, effective and life-saving treatment. Red blood cells are removed at regular intervals to deplete iron stores, and bone marrow erythropoiesis compensates effectively (31).

B. Genetics of hemochromatosis

The HH mutation has been known to be linked to the HLA region on the short arm of chromosome 6 since the mid 1970s (31,33). Twenty years later, in 1996, a positional cloning approach was used to detect a candidate gene for HH, now known as *HFE*. *HFE* codes for a novel MHC class I-like molecule that requires interaction with β_2 -microglobulin for normal

presentation on the cell surface (34). Structural homology with other MHC class I proteins and X-ray crystallographic studies indicate that the HFE protein has a large extracellular domain, a single transmembrane region, and a short cytoplasmatic tail (Figure 4) (33).



Figure 4.

Model of the HFE protein (Gastroenterology 2001;120:718-725).

The large extracellular domain consists of 3 α domains, and α_3 binds to β_2 microglobulin. HFE protein lacks a functional peptide-binding groove needed for antigen presentation (35).

Two missense mutations have recently been identified in *HFE*; one results in a change of cysteine at position 282 to tyrosine (Cys282Tyr); the second results in a change of histidine at position 63 to aspartate (His63Asp) (34).

In the original American study by Feder et al (34), 83 % of typical phenotypic HH patients were homozygous for the Cys282Tyr mutation, an additional 8 patients (5 %) were compound heterozygote, with one allele

containing the Cys282Tyr mutation and the other allele containing the His63Asp mutation. Afterwards, homozygosity for the Cys282Tyr missense mutation was confirmed in 64 % - 100 % of patients with typical phenotypic HH from the United States, France, Italy, Canada and Australia (25).

Other mutations (eg. Ser65Cys) have recently been identified (36), but their frequency seems low, and thus their clinical impact may be limited.

Recently, a pedigree from Italy was described with typical phenotypic HH but no mutations in the *HFE* gene, identifying a new inherited abnormality of iron overload (37). Mutations in the gene for transferrin receptor 2 can also result in iron overload (38).

C. Pathophysiology of HFE

Numerous studies have been performed to elucidate the pathophysiologic mechanisms of normal and dysregulated iron absorption. The creation of *HFE*-knockout mice and Cys282Tyr homozygous mice with a similar phenotype to that found in humans with HH, confirms that *HFE* is the gene responsible for HH (39-41). HFE protein is found in the crypt cells of the duodenum associated with β_2 -microglobulin and transferrin receptor (42,43). It has been hypothesised that HFE protein may facilitate transferrin receptor-dependent iron uptake into crypt cells and that mutant HFE protein may lose this ability, leading to a 'relative' iron deficiency in duodenal crypt cells (Figure 5) (42-44). In turn, this may result in an increased expression of DMT-1 (3).

Figure 5.

Critical steps in mammalian iron transport (Blood 1998;92(6):1845-1851) (31).

Up-regulation of DMT-1 (Nramp2) expression has been confirmed in the *HFE*-knockout mice (45) and in humans with HH (46), providing supportive evidence for this pathophysiological mechanism. A similar mechanism may cause a status of a 'relative' iron deficiency in monocytes-macrophages of patients with HH (47).

D. Genotypic/phenotypic correlations in HH

The phenotypic expression of HH (homozygous for the Cys282Tyr missense mutation) may vary from a mere laboratory abnormality, namely an increased serum iron saturation to a fully penetrant clinical syndrome characterised by bronze pigmentation, cirrhosis, arthritis, endocrinopathy and cardiomyopathy (48).

In a recent study (49), Crawford et al have demonstrated that 17.3 % of the subjects homozygous for the Cys282Tyr mutation do not fulfil the current diagnostic criteria of hemochromatosis. In another trial Olynyk et al have shown that only 50 % of the population homozygous for the Cys282Tyr mutation expressed clinical features of hemochromatosis, whereas one quarter has serum ferritin levels within the normal range during a four-year period (50).

It is generally accepted that women and younger people have less severe phenotypic presentation of the disease. Iron overload develops at a slower rate in women with hereditary hemochromatosis than in men with the disorder, because in women iron stores are depleted by menstruation and pregnancy (50). Since hemochromatosis is a disease that progresses with time, younger people have milder disease than older people (50).

Recent reports have suggested that the phenotypic heterogeneity of hemochromatosis disease could be related to additional non-genetic causes, additional mutations or additional genes (51), and that one or more of these genes may be MHC-linked (52).

Prior to the identification of the hemochromatosis gene, clinical variation in hemochromatosis has been primarily ascribed to genetic factors; haplotype/ phenotype analysis in several populations indicated that subjects with the predominant ancestral haplotype presented with a more severe clinical phenotype.

A recent study by Pratiwi et al (52) has demonstrated that in male Cys282Tyr homozygous patients also homozygous for this predominant ancestral haplotype (D6S265 to D6S2236 covering a regio of approximately 5 Mb) significantly higher hepatic iron indices are found than in patients heterozygous or nullizygous for this gene. Analogous data are observed by others (53,54).

Alcohol intake is known to increase hepatic iron stores (55) and could be a non-genetic variable that influences the iron overload in C282Y homozygous individuals.

E. The immunological system in hemochromatosis

Various perturbations in the immune status of HH patients have been reported. Porto et al (56,57) found high CD4+/CD8+ ratios in peripheral blood T lymphocytes in these patients. High ratios were positively correlated with the number of phlebotomies required to deplete iron stores and were not corrected after achieving normal iron status. The high ratios were due to a reduction in CD8+ cells (58). Within the decreased CD8+ compartment, an increased percentage of CD8+CD28- T cells, with a corresponding reduction in the percentage of CD8+CD28+T cells was also present in HH patients carrying the HLA-A3 allele. CD28 is a T-cell membrane protein which interacts with the co-stimulatory molecules B7.1 (CD80) and B7.2 (CD86) expressed by antigen presenting cells. CD28 expression was normal on CD4+ cells. CD8+CD28+ T cells from HH patients were capable of responding to exogenous mitogens. However, phytohaemagglutinin stimulation of peripheral blood mononuclear cells caused a decrease in CD8+CD28- T cells in healthy individuals but not in patients with hereditary haemochromatosis. CD8+ cytotoxic T lymphocytes also exhibited diminished cytotoxic activity (59).

Clearly, whether these immunological changes are directly tied to the absence of cell-surface molecules or are the secondary result of HH associated pathophysiological changes remains unclear. In a recent animal model, no difference in CD4 and CD8 subset T lymphocytes could be found between mice carrying the *HFE* missense mutation and those not carrying this missense mutation. This suggests that the described differences are rather post therapeutic alterations or secondary manifestations of severe iron overload (41).

3. Non transferrin bound iron (NTBI) in disorders of iron metabolism

A. The origin of NTBI

NTBI comprises all forms of iron in the plasma that are bound to ligands other than transferrin (60). Upon binding to transferrin, iron becomes effectively shielded from reactions leading to redox cycling and formation of reactive oxygen species. The main sources of plasma iron are absorption via the gastrointestinal tract and recycling of aged erythrocytes by macrophages. Since plasma iron is normally maintained at levels far below transferrinbinding capacity, its delivery to the plasma is believed to be tightly regulated (60). Thus when NTBI appears in the plasma, its is assumed to result from an imbalance in iron metabolism. It is observed in situations where transferrin becomes fully saturated, resulting in diminished plasma iron-binding capacity. Although paradoxical, NTBI has also been observed in situations where transferrin was not fully saturated, such as in patients with (early) HH (61-64) and dialysis patients (64). In these situations iron must be entering the circulation in a form that is inaccessible to transferrin.

There is sparse information about the biochemical nature of NTBI, but one may speculate that it is composed of a heterogeneous mixture of complexes whose combination might vary with the degree and type of iron-overload. Analysis of NTBI in sera of patients with HH by HPLC (high-performance liquid chromatography) and high-resolution nuclear magnetic resonance indicated the presence of citrate-iron and ternary citrate-acetate-iron complexes (65).

Albumin is another candidate ligand, and has been shown to form complexes with Fe^{3+} and with Fe^{2+} -citrate in vitro. Although the affinity of albumin for trivalent metals is rather low, this might be compensated by its high concentration in serum (66).

The likelihood that serum ferritin contributes to NTBI is low (63). The ferritin found in plasma tends to be iron-poor and the direct mobilization of iron from ferritin by various chelating and mobilizing agents is slow and inefficient unless reducing agents are used (67,68).

B. Occurrence of NTBI

It is generally accepted that NTBI is a pathological manifestation and is never found in healthy individuals. In principle, any condition or treatment that produces a short- or long-term iron load can give rise to NTBI. So NTBI is observed in 90 % of patients with haemolytic anaemia's (69-72), in 69-90 % of the patients with hereditary hemochromatosis (61-64,73), in 22 % of patients on haemodialysis (64), in patients on chemotherapy (79-97 %) (74-76), during cardiopulmonary bypass (13 %) (77-79), in (premature) neonates (21-50 %) (80,81) and in patients with African iron overload disease (82). It is even observed in individuals heterozygous for the Cys282Tyr missense mutation (83).

C. Detection of NTBI

There are presently 3 main approaches to determine NTBI in biologic fluids. One approach uses the antibiotic bleomycin, which combines with NTBI, but apparently not with iron bound to transferrin or other proteins, to form highly reactive complexes that are quantified by the amount of DNA cleavage products that they generate (84). A second approach is based on mobilisation of NTBI with an anionic ligand (EDTA, citrate or nitrilotriacetate) followed by ultrafiltration and quantitation of the filterable iron by a colorimetric method, a method based on inductive plasma spectroscopy or by HPLC (64). The sensitivity and reproducibility of the colorimetric method are acceptable compared with the other two methods and would be more convenient as a routine screening assay for NTBI. However, the limitations of this method are such that it can not be used in situations were desferrioxamine as an iron chelator therapy, is used (63). A third approach operates in a 96-well enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay format. A weak ligand, oxalic acid, mobilizes the NTBI and mediates its transfer to the iron chelator deferoxamine immobilised in the plate. The amount of deferoxamine-bound iron, originating from NTBI, is quantitatively revealed in a fluorescence plate reader by the fluorescent metallosensor calcein. This last method has the advantage of being technically simple and having a low labour intensity for an identical sensitivity and specificity (64).

D. Is NTBI clinically important ?

The transferrin molecule is specifically designed to transport iron in a readily available, soluble form and at the same time prevent its participation in redox reactions that could give rise to reactive oxygen species (85,86). Conversely, NTBI in the circulation could in principle be available for such reactions and lead to oxidative damage. There is much evidence correlating elevated tissue and plasma iron levels with depletion of antioxidants and various pathological conditions (87,88), such as chronic hepatitis C (89). Since the effects of iron overload are multifactorial, NTBI is likely to be only one of several contributing factors to the observed overall oxidative stress. There have been claims that elevated body iron stores may increase the risk of cardiovascular disease (90) and may catalyse the oxidation of low density lipoproteins, which is thought to be one of the triggers of atherosclerosis (91,92). In addition, the uptake of NTBI is not feedback-regulated (93), unlike the receptor-mediated uptake of transferrin bound iron (94). Conceivably, excess iron in the form of NTBI could be internalised by cells, mobilised within lysosomes and ultimately give rise to cellular iron overload (60).

The presence of NTBI inhibits lymphocyte proliferation; this effect is more striking on Th1 CD4+ T cells and CD8+ CTL. These data support the hypothesis that NTBI has an immunoregulatory role in cell-mediated immunity (95,96).

4. Hepatitis C virus infection (HCV)

HCV is a RNA virus that belongs to the family of the flaviviruses (97). The natural targets of HCV are hepatocytes and possibly B lymphocytes (98,99). HCV encodes a single polyprotein of 3011 amino acids, which is processed into 10 mature structural and regulatory proteins (Figure 6) (100).

Figure 6.

The HCV genome (N Eng J Med 2001;345(1):41-52).

Structural components include the core protein and two envelope proteins: E1 and E2. Two regions of the E2 protein, designated hypervariable regions 1 and 2, have an extremely high rate of mutation, believed to be the result of selective pressure by virus-specific antibodies (100). E2 also contains the binding site for CD81, which is thought to act as a cellular receptor or coreceptor for the virus on hepatocytes and B lymphocytes (101). HCV also encodes a virus-specific helicase, protease and polymerase (100).

Six distinct but related HCV genotypes and multiple subtypes have been identified. In the United States and Western Europe genotypes 1a and 1b are most common, followed by genotypes 2 and 3 (100).

The prevalence of HCV infection varies throughout the world, with the highest number of infections reported in Egypt (102). In the Unites States 1.8 % of the population is positive for HCV antibodies (103). In Belgium the number of persons positive for HCV antibodies is estimated to be 0.9 % of the population (104).

The factors most strongly associated with infection are injection-drug use and receipt of blood transfusion before 1990 (103), but in some cases no risk factor can be identified (105,106). Maternal-fetal transmission occurs but is infrequent (107). Sexual transmission of the virus is also uncommon (108).

After infection with the virus, only a minority of the patients spontaneously clears the virus. Sixty to 80 % of the patients with an acute HCV infection evolves towards chronicity. After 20 years, cirrhosis develops in 20 % of them. In those having cirrhosis, the annual risk of developing a hepatocellular carcinoma is 5-7 % (109,110).

The immune response to viral antigens is thought to be responsible as well for viral clearance as for disease pathogenesis during chronic HCV infection. In chronically infected patients, the T cell response to the HCV is polyclonal and multispecific, although it is not as strong as the response in acutely infected patients who develop a more vigorous T-cell response. Thus the dominant cause of viral persistence during HCV infection may be the weak antiviral immune response to the viral antigens, and the ensuing inability to eradicate infected cells (111).

The diagnosis of hepatitis C virus infection is made by detection of HCV antibodies. The presence of circulating virus is demonstrated by HCV PCR. Qualitative and quantitative HCV RNA assays as well as HCV genotyping assays are available. Alanine aminotransferase (ALT) is an important non-specific laboratory test to identify hepatic disease.

However, in persons with HCV infection ALT levels may be normal or fluctuate, and therefore a single normal value does not rule out active infection, progressive liver disease, or even cirrhosis (112).

Histological evaluation of a liver-biopsy specimen remains the gold standard for determining the activity of HCV-related liver disease, and histological staging remains the only reliable predictor of disease progression (113).

Monotherapy for HCV infection with interferon alfa is associated with initial response rates of 40 percent, but the rates of sustained virological response are less than 20 percent (114,115). This is especially true for persons infected with HCV genotype 1a or 1b. Two large, prospective trials demonstrated that the combination of interferon alfa (3 MU thrice weekly subcutaneous) and ribavirin (1000-1200 mg per day, orally) during a period of 6 to 12 months, increased the percentage of sustained virological response in previously untreated patients from 16 to 40 percent (114,115). Both studies showed that in patients infected with HCV genotype 2 or 3 and in those with low viral loads (less than 2 million copies of virus/ml) before treatment, the response was maximal after 24 weeks of treatment. Patients infected with genotype 1 and those with a high viral load (higher than 2 million copies of virus/ml) before treatment required a course of 48 weeks for an optimal outcome. Therefore the EASL (European Association for the Study of the Liver) recommended the above-described regimes for treatment of untreated patients (116).

The chemical coupling of polyethylene glycol to interferon alfa (peginterferon alfa) extends the biological half-life and duration of activity of interferon alfa. In contrast to interferon alfa, which is given 3 times a week, peginterferon alfa is given only once a week. Treatment with peginterferon alfa results in a higher rate of sustained response than does conventional monotherapy with interferon alfa (39 % versus 19 %) (117).

Combining peginterferon alfa with ribavirin also increases the frequency of sustained response, when compared with peginterferon in monotherapy (118,119).

The side effects of the treatment are those related to (peg)interferon alfa and ribavirin. (Peg)interferon alfa mainly induces influenza-like symptoms, headache, fatigue, fever, myalgia, anorexia, irritability, thrombocytopenia, leukocytopenia, thyroid dysfunction ...

Ribavirin is a water soluble synthetic guanosine analogue that exerts antiviral activity against DNA and RNA viruses after intracellular phosphorylation (120). Ribavirin also has immunomodulating capacities: it diminishes Th2 cytokine production while preserving Th1 cytokine production (121). The major side effect of ribavirin treatment is the occurrence of a reversible haemolytic anaemia in a substantial portion of treated patients (122). The underlying mechanism is unknown. Studies on steady-state pharmacokinetics of ribavirin have shown that the erythrocyte concentration of ribavirin greatly ex ceeds plasma concentrations (123) and that ribavirin is a transported permeant for a nucleoside transporter in human erythrocytes (124). Ribavirin is converted intracellularly to its corresponding triphosphate, producing a relative adenosine triphosphate deficiency in erythrocytes (125-127). The lowering of the intracellular adenosine triphosphate level may indirectly affect and lower the antioxidant defence mechanisms. The pro-oxidant phenomenon may induce a premature erythrocyte senescence and phagocytic removal (120). Haemolytic anaemia is the main side effect of ribavirin. Ribavirin also causes nausea, nasal congestion and seldomly gout (100).

29

5. Iron and chronic hepatitis C virus infection

It is generally accepted that iron increases the formation of hydroxyl radicals and other highly reactive oxidizing molecules in biological systems (128). Secondary reactions and indirect effects lead to lipid peroxidation, oxidative damage to proteins and nucleic acids, and to a net increase in collagen and ground substance formation. In iron-overloaded livers, such changes produce defects in organelle function (lysosomes, mitochondria, endoplasmic reticulum) and chronic deposition of scar tissue and eventual hepatocellular carcinoma (129,130).

Although in viral hepatitis the role of the host's immune system in causing hepatic damage is much more important than in the case of pure iron overload, changes attributed to iron also occur in chronic viral hepatitis. Evidence of increased lipid peroxidation has been identified consistently in plasma (131) and liver biopsies (132) of patients with chronic hepatitis C, compared with healthy controls or patients with chronic hepatitis B. If the stored iron seen in the liver of patients with chronic hepatitis C is the cause of these changes or only a consequence of hepatic inflammation caused by the virus remains speculative.

In chronic hepatitis C virus infection, serum iron concentration is elevated in 27-36 % of the patients, transferrin saturation in 18-24 % and serum ferritin concentration in 22-35 % (133,134). A strong correlation is seen between serum ferritin levels and AST levels, suggesting that release of tissue ferritin from damaged hepatocytes is an important mechanism for the elevations in serum iron studies (134). Increased serum iron studies are more common in chronic hepatitis C virus infection than in patients with chronic hepatitis B virus infection (135).

Hepatic iron concentration (HIC) is also elevated in patients with chronic hepatitis C, but less frequently than serum transferrin saturation or ferritin. The frequency of elevated HIC ranges from 10 to 36 % in patients with chronic hepatitis C (134,136,137). The elevation in HIC and HII (hepatic iron index, which is the HIC divided by the age in years of the patient) is usually mild, with a mean HII of 0.4-0.6 μ mol/g/age (137,138). HIC does not appear to correlate with HCV RNA levels (139) and the effect of different genotypes is controversial (140,141). The presence of stainable hepatic iron has been shown to correlate with inflammation and fibrosis. This correlation could be a threshold effect: once inflammation or fibrosis is present, increases in iron appear to have no further linear correlation with increased inflammation or fibrosis (142).

In end-stage liver disease, even in the absence of the *HFE* missense mutation, iron accumulation can be significant and reaching HII values of greater than 1.9 μ mol/g dry liver tissue per year of life; values which were in the past (before the *HFE* mutation era) pathognomonic for hereditary hemochromatosis (143-146).

Unlike hepatic iron accumulation in hereditary hemochromatosis, the mild hepatic iron overload often seen in patients with compensated liver disease due to hepatitis C does not appear to progressively increase in time, despite the worsening of the hepatic inflammation in a certain amount of patients. These findings suggest that hepatic iron accumulation is multifactorial and not solely related to the degree of inflammation or fibrosis (147).

The hepatic iron accumulation in patients with chronic hepatitis C is more often seen in the Kuppfer cells than in patients with hereditary hemochromatosis where iron accumulates in the parenchyma (148).

After a treatment with interferon alfa, a decrease in HIC is observed in both virologic responders and nonresponders. Histologically, the decrease in stainable iron is predominantly seen in mesenchymal cells as opposed to hepatocytes. These findings suggest that the elevations observed in chronic hepatitis C are primarily due to phagocytosis of necrotic hepatocytes and accumulation of iron in phagocytic cells. The decrease of HIC seen in nonresponders may reflect a reduction in inflammation despite failure to clear viremia (148).

After treatment with ribavirin and highly plausible due to the ribavirin induced haemolysis and related iron release, stainable hepatic iron significantly increased. This was associated with an increase of HIC. After treatment with ribavirin, iron is deposited mainly in the hepatocytes (149,150).

6. Haptoglobin polymorphism

Haptoglobin (Hp) is an α_2 -sialoglycoprotein with haemoglobin (Hb)-binding capacity (151,152). The best-known biological function of Hp is capture of Hb to prevent both iron loss and kidney damage during haemolysis (153). Hp is also an acute-phase protein and is characterized by a molecular heterogeneity with three major phenotypes: Hp 1-1, Hp 2-1 and Hp 2-2 (151-154). Using starch gel electrophoresis, the three major phenotypes can be identified (155). These phenotypes are genetically determined by two alleles: Hp^{1} and Hp^{2} (151,152). The homozygote Hp^{1}/Hp^{1} shows a single fastmigrating Hp1-1 protein band on starch gel electrophoresis. The homozygote Hp^2/Hp^2 has a series of slower migrating bands. The heterozygote Hp^1/Hp^2 displays another series of slow bands and a weak Hp 1-1 band. Hp consists of two different polypeptide chains, the α -chain and the β -chain (151,152). The β -chain (40 kDa) is heavier than the α -chain and is identical in all Hp types. The α -chain shows three major forms: α^{1S} , α^{1F} (s=slower, f=faster) and the slow migrating α^2 -chain. The Hp 1-1 phenotype expresses only α^1 -chains, α^2 -chains are present in Hp 2-1 and Hp 2-2 (151,152). The loci involved for the Hp synthesis are located on chromosome 16q22. The Hp 1-1 is a small molecule (86kDa) with formula $(\alpha^1\beta)_2$. Heterozygote Hp 2-1, $(\alpha^1\beta)_2 + (\alpha^2\beta)_n$ (n=0,1,2,...), is characterized by polymerisation. Hp 2-2 comprises higher molecular mass forms (>200 kDa) with formula $(\alpha^2\beta)_n$ (n=3,4,5,...) (154,156).

The synthesis of Hp is considerably lower in fetal than in adult liver (151). The hepatic synthesis of Hp is induced by cytokines such as interleukin-6, interleukin-1 and tumor necrosis factor (151,157).

The haptoglobin concentration is Hp phenotype dependent. The reference range of the haptoglobin concentration is lower in individuals carrying the Hp 2-2 phenotype than individuals carrying the Hp 1-1 and Hp 2-1 phenotype (158).

The haptoglobin phenotype distribution differs according to geographical localisation of the population studied (159). In Belgium the phenotype distribution in a healthy population is: Hp 1-1: 16 %, Hp 2-1: 48 % and Hp 2-2: 36 % (160).

The haptoglobin protein has different functional properties

a. Binding haemoglobin

Hp forms a soluble complex with Hb. The binding of Hp with Hb is characterised by a high affinity (161). After destruction of erythrocytes, free Hb in the circulation passes through the glomerular filter and renal damage may occur. Hp reduces the loss of Hb and iron, because the Hb-Hp complex is not filtered through the glomeruli but is transported to the liver (153). Hb binding depends not only on serum concentration of Hp but also on Hp phenotype (162). The haemoglobin binding capacity is lowest in persons with the Hp 2-2 phenotype and highest in Hp 1-1 individuals (162).

b. Protection against free radicals

Free Hb promotes the accumulation of hydroxyl radicals (163). Haeme iron catalyses the oxidation of low-density lipoproteins, which can damage vascular endothelial cells (164). These dangers are reduced by the phenotype dependent Hb-binding capacity of Hp (162,165). Breakdown of erythrocytes in the interstitial fluid results in Hb-mediated OH formation. The distribution of highly polymeric Hp 2-2 proteins in extravascular fluids is restricted by their molecular mass (154). Consequently, the antioxidative capacity of body fluids is less effective in Hp 2-2 individuals (154).

c. Inhibition of prostaglandin synthesis

Hp is an endogenous inhibitor of prostaglandin synthesis (166,167). The inhibitory effects of Hp 2-2 and Hp 2-1 are less pronounced than that of Hp 1-1 (154).

d. Bacteriostatic effect

As a consequence of the capture of free Hb by Hp, haeme iron is unavailable for bacterial growth (168). An iron-restrictive environment established by Hp is part of the non-specific defence against bacterial infection.

e. Angiogenesis

Hp has been identified as one of the serum angiogenic factors required for proliferation and differentiation of endothelial cells in the formation of new blood vessels (169,170). Hp 2-2 is more angiogenic than the other phenotypes (169).

f. Immunological properties

Human serum from Hp 2-2 and Hp 2-1 individuals agglutinates the Streptococcus pyogenes group A, carrying the T4 antigen. The Hp 2-2 serum has higher agglutination titres than the Hp 2-1 serum. In contrast, Hp 1-1 has no agglutination effect. Hp is not a true antibody because it does not possess the highly variable antigen-binding sites characteristic for the Fab moiety of immunoglobulins. The agglutination is probably mediated via binding with lectin-like structures (171,172).

Comparison of reference values for lymphocyte subsets in peripheral blood and bone marrow show significant differences between haptoglobin phenotypes. Hp 2-2 is associated with higher peripheral B-lymphocyte counts and CD4+ T-lymphocytes counts. In contrast, in bone marrow, CD4+ T-cell percentages are high but B-cell percentages low in Hp 2-2 type. Flow cytometric analysis demonstrates that Hp binds to human B-lymphocytes via the CD22 receptor. Although the affinity of the binding is the same for the three phenotypes, the number of free CD22 binding sites is estimated to be higher in Hp 2-2 blood. No significant binding is detected for T-cells and NK-cells (173).
g. Influence on iron status

In males but not in females, the Hp 2-2 phenotype is associated with higher serum iron, transferrin saturation and ferritin concentrations than in the Hp 1-1 and Hp 2-1 phenotype, whereas soluble transferrin concentrations are lower. Serum ferritin correlated with monocyte L-ferritin content which is also highest in the male Hp 2-2 subgroup (174). CD163 has been identified as the monocyte-macrophage receptor binding the Hb-Hp complex. CD163 binds only haemoglobin and haptoglobin in complex, which indicates the exposure of a receptor-binding neoepitope. Complexes of haemoglobin and multimeric Hp 2-2 haptoglobin exhibit higher functional affinity for CD163 than do complexes of haemoglobin and dimeric Hp 1-1 haptoglobin (175).

Considering the different properties of the haptoglobin phenotype, the polymorphism has demonstrated to have an effect on different clinical entities (159). The higher immune reactivity of the Hp 2-2 phenotype results in an overrepresentation of this phenotype in autoimmune diseases (176,177) and an underrepresentation in malignancies (178-181). Depending on the nature of the antigen, differences in antibody titre after vaccination are seen between the Hp phenotypes (182-184).

Associations between Hp phenotypes and atherosclerotic disorders have been demonstrated. However, it remains unclear whether the role of Hp in development of atheromatous lesions can be attributed to inhibition of local oxidative stress or to modulation of immune and inflammatory reactions (185-187).

HIV patients carrying the Hp 2-2 show a worse prognosis. This is attributed to a less effective protection against iron-driven oxidative stress (188).

REFERENCES

- Griffiths E. Iron and susceptibility to bacterial infection. In Nutritional Factors: Modulating effects on metabolic processes (Eds Beers RF and Basset EG) Raven Press, New York, 1981: 463-467.
- 2. De Jong G, Van Dijk JP, Van Eijk EH. The biology of transferrin. Clin Chim Acta 1990; 190: 1-46.
- Andrews NC. Medical Progress: Disorders of Iron metabolism. N Eng J Med 1999; 341(26): 1986-1995.
- Andrews NC, Bridges KR. Disorders of iron metabolism. In: Nathan DG, Orkin SH, eds. Nathan and Oski's haematology of infancy and childhood. 5th ed. Vol 1. Philadelphia: W.B.Saunders, 1998: 423-461.
- Riedel H-D, Remus AJ, Fitscher BA, Stremmel W. Characterization and partial purification of a ferrireductase from human duodenal microvillus membranes. Biochem J 1995; 309: 745-748.
- Fleming MD, Trenor CC III, Su MA, Foernzler P, Beier DR, Dietrich WF et al. Microcytic anaemia mice have a mutation in Nramp2, a candidate iron transporter gene. Nat Genet 1997; 16: 383-386.
- Gunshin H, Mackenzie B, Berger UV, Gunshin Y, Romero MF, Boron WF et al. Cloning and characterization of a mammalian proton-coupled metal-ion transporter. Nature 1997; 388: 482-488.
- McKie AT, Wehr K, Simpson RJ, Peters TJ, Hentze MW, Farzaneh F. Molecular cloning and characterisation of a novel duodenal-specific gene implicated in iron absorption. Biochem Soc Trans 1998; 26: S264.
- Vulpe CD, Kuo YM, Murphy TL, Cowley L, Askwith C, Libina N et al. Hephaestin, a ceruloplasmin homologue implicated in intestinal iron transport, is defective in the sla mouse. Nat Genet 1999; 21: 195-199.
- Donovan A, Brownlie A, Zhou Y, Shepard J, Pratt SJ, Moynihan J et al. Positional cloning of zebrafish ferroportin1 identifies a conserved vertebrate iron exporter. Nature 2000; 403: 776-781.
- Hahn PF, Bale WF, Ross JF, Balfour WM, Whipple GH. Radioactive iron absorption by the gastrointestinal tract: influence of anemia, anoxia, and antecedent feeding distribution in growing dogs. J Exp Med 1943; 78: 169-188.
- 12. Finch C. Regulators of iron balance in humans. Blood 1994; 84: 1697-1702.
- Fairbanks VF, Klee GG. Iron metabolism. In Tietz textbook of Clinical Chemistry (Eds Burtis CA, Ashwood EA), WB Saunders Company, Philadelphia, US, 1999, 3rd ed, p 1699.
- Evans RW, Williams J. Studies of the binding of different iron donors to human serum transferrin and isolation of iron binding fragments from the N- and C-terminal regions of the protein. Biochem J 1978; 173: 543-552.
- 15. Cazzola M, Huebers HA, Sayers MH, MacPhail AP, Eng M, Finch CA. Transferrin saturation, plasma iron turnover and transferrin uptake in normal humans. Blood 1985; 66: 935-939.
- Bullen JJ, Rogers HJ, Griffiths E. Role of iron in bacterial infection. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 1978; 80: 1-35.
- Jing S, Trowbrdige IS. Identification of the intermolecular disulfide bonds of the human transferring receptor and its lipid-attachment site. EMBO J 1987; 6: 327-331.

- Harford JB, Rouault TA, Heubers HA, Klausner RD. Molecular mechanisms of iron metabolism. In The molecular basis of blood diseases. (Eds Stamatoyannopoulos G, Nienhuis AW, Majerus PW, Varmus H), WB Saunders Company, Philadelphia, US, 1994; 2nd ed, pp 351-378.
- Huebers HA, Finch CA. The physiology of transferrin and transferrin receptors. Physiol Rev 1987; 67: 520-582.
- 20. Irie S, Tavassoli M. Transferrin-mediated cellular iron uptake. Am J Med Sci 1987; 293: 103-111.
- Brittenham GM. Disorders of iron metabolism; deficiency and overload. In Haematology: Basic principles and practice (Eds Hoffman R, Benz E, Shattil S, Furie B, Cohen H and Silberstein LE), Churchill Livingstone, New York, 1995; 2nd ed, p 495.
- Evans RW, Crawley JB, Joannou CL, Sharma ND. Iron proteins. In Iron and infection. (Eds Bullen JJ and Griffiths E), John Wiley and Sons, London, 1999, 2nd ed, pp 27-86.
- Fairbanks VF, Klee GG. Iron metabolism. In Tietz textbook of Clinical Chemistry. (Eds Burtis CA, Ashwood EA), WB Saunders Company, Philadelphia, US, 1999, 3rd ed, p 1698.
- 24. Bacon BR, Tavill AS. Hemochromatosis and the iron overload syndromes. In: Zakim D, Boyer TD eds. Hepatology. A textbook of liver disease. 3rd ed. Philadelphia: Saunders, 1996: 1439-1472.
- Bacon BR, Powell LW, Adams PC, Kresina TF, Hoofnagle JH. Molecular medicine and hemochromatosis: at the crossroads. Gastroenterology 1999; 116: 193-207.
- Powell LW, Subramaniam VN, Yapp TR. Haemochromatosis in the new millennium. J Hepat 2000; 32(suppl1): 48-62.
- 27. Trousseau A. Glycosurie: diabète sucre. Clin Med Hotel Dieu Paris 1865; 2: 663-698.
- von Recklinghausen FD. Uber haemochromatose. Tageblatt Versammlung Dtsch Naturforsch Artze Herdelbert 1889; 62: 324-325.
- Ajioka RS, Jorde LB, Gruen JR, Yu P, Dimitrova D, Barrow J et al. Haplotype analysis of hemochromatosis : evaluation of different linkage-disequilibrium approaches and evolution of disease chromosomes. Am J Hum Genet 1997; 60: 1439-1447.
- Smith BN, Kantrowitz W, Grace ND, Greenberg MS, Patton TJ, Ookubo R et al. Prevalence of hereditary hemochromatosis in a Massachusetts corporation: is a Celtic origin a risk factor? Hepatology 1997; 25: 1439-1446.
- Andrews NC, Levy JE. Iron is hot: an update on the pathophysiology of hemochromatosis. Blood 1998; 92(6): 1845-1851.
- 32. Tavill AS. Diagnosis and management of hemochromatosis. Hepatology 2001; 33(5): 1321-1328.
- 33. Bacon BR. Hemochromatosis: diagnosis and management. Gastroenterology 2001; 120: 718-725.
- Feder JN, Gnirke A, Thomas W, Tsuchihashi Z, Ruddy DA, Basava A et al. A novel MHC class 1like gene is mutated in patients with hereditary haemochromatosis. Nat Genet 1996; 13: 399-409.
- Lebron JA, Bennett MJ, Vaughn DE, Chirino AJ, Snow PM, Feder JN et al. Crystal structure of the hemochromatosis protein HFE and characterization of its interaction with transferrin receptor. Cell 1998; 93: 111-123.
- Barton JC, Sawada-Hirai R, Rothenberg BE, Acton RT. Two novel missense mutations of the HFE gene (I105T and G93R) and identification of the S65C mutation in Alabama hemochromatosis probands. Blood Cells Mol Dis 1999; 25: 147-155.

- Pietrangelo A, Montosi G, Totaro A, Garuti C, Conte D, Cassanelli S et al. Hereditary hemochromatosis in adults without pathogenic mutations in the hemochromatosis gene. N Eng J Med 1999; 341: 725-732.
- Camaschella C, Roetto A, Cali A, De Gobbi M, Garozzo G, Carella M et al. The gene TFR2 is mutated in a new type of haemochromatosis mapping to 7q22. Nat Genet 2000; 25: 14-15.
- Zhou XY, Tomatsu S, Fleming RE, Parkkila S, Waheed A, Jiang J et al. HFE gene knockout produces mouse model of hereditary hemochromatosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1998; 95: 2492-2497.
- Levy JE, Montross LK, Cohen DE, Fleming MD, Andrews NC. The C282Y mutation causing hereditary hemochromatosis does not produce a null allele. Blood 1999; 94: 9-11.
- Bahram S, Gilfillan S, Kuhn LC, Moret R, Schulze JB, Lebeau A et al. Experimental hemochromatosis due to MHC class I HFE deficiency: immune status and iron metabolism. Proc Natl Aca Sci USA 1999; 96: 13312-13317.
- 42. Parkkila S, Waheed A, Britton RS, Feder JN, Tsuchihashi Z, Schatzman RC et al. Immunohistochemistry of HLA-H, the protein defective in patients with hereditary hemochromatosis, reveals unique pattern of expression in gastrointestinal tract. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1997; 94: 2534-2539.
- 43. Waheed A, Parkkila S, Saarnio J, Fleming RE, Zhou XY, Tomatsu S et al. Association of HFE protein with transferrin receptor in crypt enterocytes of human duodenum. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1999; 96: 1579-1584.
- 44. Kuhn LC. Iron overload: molecular clues to its cause. Trends Biochem Sci 1999; 24: 164-166.
- 45. Fleming RE, Migas MC, Zhou X, Jiang J, Britton RS, Brunt EM. Mechanism of increased iron absorption in murine model of hereditary hemochromatosis: increased duodenal expression of the iron transporter DMT1. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1999; 96: 3143-3148.
- 46. Zoller H, Pietrangelo A, Vogel W, Weiss G. Duodenal metal transporter (DMT-1, NRAMP-2) expression in patients with hereditary hemochromatosis. Lancet 1999; 353: 2120-2123.
- Moura E, Noordermeer MA, Verhoeven N, Verheul AFM, Marx JM. Iron release from human monocytes after erythophagocytosis in vitro: an investigation in normal subjects and hereditary hemochromatotic patients. Blood 1998; 92(7): 2511-2519.
- Bulaj ZJ, Aijoka RS, Philips JD, LaSalle BA, Jorde LB, Griffin LM et al. Disease related conditions in relatives of patients with hemochromatosis. N Eng J Med 2000; 343: 1529-1535.
- Crawford DH, Jazwinska EC, Cullen LM, Powell LW. Expression of HLA-linked hemochromatosis in subjects homozygous or heterozygous for the C282Y mutation. Gastroenterology 1998; 114: 1003-1008.
- Olynyk JK, Cullen DJ, Aquilia S, Rossi E, Summerville L, Powell LW. A population-based study of the clinical expression of the hemochromatosis gene. N Eng J Med 1999; 341: 718-724.
- 51. Barton JC, Shih WWH, Sawada-Hirai R, Acton RT, Harnon L, Rivers C et al. Genetic and clinical description of hemochromatosis probands and heterozygotes: evidence that multiple genes linked to the major histocompatibility complex are responsible for hemochromatosis. Blood Cells Mol Dis 1997; 23: 135-145.

- Pratiwi R, Fletcher LM, Pyper WR, Do KA, Crawford DH, Powell LW et al. Linkage disequilibrium analysis in Australian hemochromatosis patients indicates bipartite association with clinical expression. J Hepatol 1999; 31: 39-46.
- 53. Crawford DH, Powell LW, Legett BA, Francis JS, Fletcher LM, Webb SI et al. Evidence that ancestral haplotype in Australian hemochromatosis patients may be associated with a common mutation in the gene. Am J Hum Gen 1995; 57: 362-367.
- 54. Piperno A, Arosio C, Fargion S, Roetto A, Nicoli C, Girelli D et al. The ancestral hemochromatosis haplotype is associated with a severe phenotype expression in Italian patients. Hepatology 1996; 24: 43-46.
- Irving MG, Halliday JW, Powell LW. Association between alcoholism and increased hepatic iron stores. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 1998; 12: 7-13.
- Chorney MJ, Ten Elshof AE, Gerhard GS. Hereditary haemochromatosis as an immunological disease. Brit J Haematol 1998; 100: 247-255.
- 57. Porto G, Reimao R, Gonçalves V, Vicente C, Justiça B, de Sousa M. Haemochromatosis as a window into the study of the immunological system: a novel correlation between CD8+ lymphocytes and iron overload. Eur J Haematol 1994; 52: 283-290.
- Arosa FA, da Silva AJ, Godinho IM, ter Steege JCA, Porto G, Rudd CE et al. Decreased CD8p56lck activity in peripheral blood T-lymphocytes from patients with hereditary haemochromatosis. Scan J Immunol 1994; 39: 426-432.
- Arosa FA, Oliveira L, Porto G, da Silva BM, Kruijer W, Veltman J et al. Anomalies of the CD8+ T cell pool in haemochromatosis : HLA-A3-linked expansions of CD8+CD28- T cells. Clin Exp Immunol 1997; 107: 548-554.
- Breuer W, Hershko C, Cabantchik ZI. The importance of non-transferrin bound iron in disorders of iron metabolism. Transfusion Science 2000; 23: 185-192.
- 61. Batey RG, Lai Chung Fong P, Shamir S, Sherlock S. A non-transferrin-bound serum iron in idiopathic hemochromatosis. Dig Dis Sci 1980; 25: 340-346.
- Aruoma OI, Bomford A, Polson RJ, Halliwell B. Non-transferrin-bound iron in plasma from hemochromatosis patients: effect of phlebotomy therapy. Blood 1988; 72: 1416-1419.
- 63. Gosriwatana I, Loreal O, Lu S, Brissot P, Porter J, Hider RC. Quantification of non-transferrinbound iron in the presence of unsaturated transferrin. Anal Biochem 1999; 273: 212-220.
- Breuer W, Ronson A, Slotki IN, Abramov A, Hershko C, Cabantchik ZI. The assessment of serum nontransferrin bound iron in chelation therapy and iron supplementation. Blood 2000; 95: 2975-2982.
- Grootveld M, Bell JD, Halliwell B, Aruoma OI, Bomford A, Sadler PJ. Non-transferrin bound iron in plasma or serum from patients with idiopathic hemochromatosis. J Biol Chem 1989; 264: 4417-4422.
- Lovstad RA. Interaction of serum albumin with the Fe(III)-citrate complex. Int J Biochem 1993; 25: 1015-1017.
- Crichton RR, Roman F, Roland F. Iron mobilization from ferritin by chelating agents. J Inorg Biochem 1980; 13: 305-316.

- Funk F, Lenders JP, Crichton RR, Schneider W. Reductive mobilisation of ferritin iron. Eur J Biochem 1985; 152: 167-172.
- Hershko H, Graham G, Bates GW, Rachmilewitz E. Nonspecific serum iron in thalassaemia: an abnormal serum iron fraction of potential toxicity. Brit J Haematol 1978; 40: 255-263.
- 70. Graham G, Bates GW, Rachmilewitz EA, Hershko C. Nonspecific serum iron in thalassemia: quantitation and chemical reactivity. Am J Hematol 1979; 6: 207-217.
- Porter JB, Abeysinghe RD, Marshall L, Hider RC, Singh S. Kinetics of removal and reappearance of non-transferrin-bound plasma iron with deferoxamine therapy. Blood 1996; 88: 705-713.
- al-Refaie FN, Wickens DG, Wonke B, Kontoghiorghes GJ, Hoffbrand AV. Serum non-transferrinbound iron in beta-thalassaemia major patients treated with desferrioxamine and L1. Brit J Haematol 1992; 82: 431-436.
- Loreal O, Gosriwatana I, Guyader D, Porter J, Brissot P, Hider RC. Determination of nontransferrin-bound iron in genetic hemochromatosis using a new HPLC-based method. J Hepatol 2000; 32: 727-733.
- Halliwell B, Aruoma OI, Mufti G, Bomford A. Bleomycin detectable iron in serum from laeukemiac patients before and after chemotherapy. FEBS Lett 1988; 241: 2020-2024.
- Harrison P, Marwah SS, Hughes R, Bareford D. Non-transferrin bound iron and neutropenia after cytotoxic chemotherapy. J Clin Pathol 1994; 47: 350-352.
- Bradley SJ, Gosriwatana I, Srichairatanakool S, Hider RC, Porter JB. Non-transferrin-bound iron induced by myeloablative chemotherapy. Brit J Haematol 1997; 99: 337-343.
- Pepper JR, Mumby S, Gutteridge JM. Transient iron-overload with bleomycine-detectable iron present during cardiopulmonary bypass surgery. Free Radic Res 1994; 21: 53-58.
- Mumby S, Chaturvedi R, Brierley J, Lincoln C, Petros A, Redington A et al. Antioxidant protection against iron toxicity: plasma changes during cardiopulmonary bypass in neonates, infants, and children. Free Radic Resp 1999; 31: 141-148.
- Mumby S, Chaturvedi RR, Brierley J, Lincoln C, Petros A, Redington A et al. Iron overload in paediatrics undergoing cardiopulmonary bypass. Biochem Biophys Acta 2000; 1500: 342-348.
- Evans PJ, Evans R, Kovar IZ, Holton AF, Halliwell B. Bleomycin-detectable iron in the plasma of premature and full-term neonates. FEBS Lett 1992; 302: 210-212.
- Kime R, Gibson A, Yong W, Hider R, Powers H. Chromatographic method for the determination of non-transferrin-bound iron suitable for use on the plasma and bronchoalveolar lavage fluid of preterm babies. Clin Sci (Colch) 1996; 91: 633-638.
- McNamara L, MacPhail AP, Mandishona E, Bloom P, Paterson AC, Rouault TA et al. Nontransferrin-bound iron and hepatic dysfunction in African dietary iron overload. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 1999; 14: 126-132.
- de Valk B, Addicks MA, Gosriwatana I, Lu S, Hider RC, Marx JJ. Non-transferrin-bound iron is present in serum of hereditary haemochromatosis heterozygotes. Eur J Clin Invest 2000; 30(3): 248-251.
- Evans PJ, Halliwell B. Measurement of iron and copper in biological systems: bleomycin and copper-phenanthroline assays. Methods Enzymol 1994; 233: 82-89.

- Halliwell B, Gutterigde JM. Role of free radicals and catalytic metal ions in human disease: an overview. Method Enzymol 1990; 186: 1-85.
- Gutterigde JM, Halliwell B. Free radicals and antioxidants in the year 2000: a historical look to the future. Ann NY Acad Sci 2000; 899: 136-147.
- Hershko C, Link G, Cabantchik I. Pathophysiology of iron-overload. Ann NY Acad Sci 1998; 850: 191-201.
- 88. Da Luca F, Filosa A, Grandinetti M, Maggio F, Lamba M, Passi S. Blood antioxidant status and urinary levels of catecholamine metabolites in beta-thalassemia. Free Radic Resp 1999; 30: 453-462.
- Sumida Y, Nakashima T, Yoh T, Nakajima Y, Ishikawa H, Mitsuyoshi H et al. Serum thioredoxin levels as an indicator of oxidative stress in patients with hepatitis C virus infection. J Hepatol 2000; 33: 616-622.
- Tuomainen TP, Punnonen K, Nyyssonen K, Salonen JT. Association between body iron stores and the risk of acute myocardial infarction in men. Circulation 1998; 97: 1461-1466.
- de Valk B, Marx JJ. Iron, atherosclerosis, and ischemic heart disease. Arch Intern Med 1999; 159: 1542-1548.
- Heinecke JW. Oxidants and antioxidants in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. Implications for the oxidized low densitity lipoprotein hypothesis. Atherosclerosis 1998; 141: 1-15.
- Kaplan J, Jordan I, Sturrock A. Regulation of the transferrin-independent iron transport system in cultured cells. J Biol Chem 1991; 266: 2997-3004.
- Klausner RD, Rouault TA, Harford JB. Regulating the fate of mRNA: the control of cellular iron metabolism. Cell 1993; 72: 19-28.
- Good MF, Powell LW, Halliday JW. The effect of non-transferrin-bound iron on murine T lymphocytes subsets: analysis by clonal techniques. Clin Exp Immunol 1987; 70: 164-172.
- Rudd MJ, Good MF, Chapman DE, Powell LW, Halliday JW. Clonal analysis of the effect of iron on human cytotoxic and proliferating T lymphocytes. Immunol Cell Biol 1990; 68: 317-324.
- Robertson B, Myers G, Howard, Brettin T, Bukh J, Gaschen B et al. Classification, nomenclature, and database development for hepatitis C virus (HCV) and related viruses: proposals for standardization. Arch Virol 1998; 143: 2493-2503.
- Okuda M, Hino K, Korenaga M, Yamaguchi Y, Katoh Y, Okita K. Differences in hypervariable region 1 quasispecies of hepatitis C virus in human serum, peripheral blood mononuclear cells, and liver. Hepatology 1999; 29: 217-222.
- Zignego AL, De Carli M, Monti M, Careccia G, La Villa G, Giannini C et al. Hepatitis C virus infection of mononuclear cells from peripheral blood and liver infiltrates in chronically infected patients. J Med Virol 1995; 47: 58-64.
- 100. Lauer GM, Walker BD. Hepatitis C virus infection. N Eng J Med 2001; 345(1): 41-52.
- 101. Pileri P, Uematsu Y, Campagnoli S, Galli G, Falugi F, Petracca R et al. Binding of hepatitis C virus to CD81. Science 1998; 282: 938-941.
- 102. Frank C, Mohamed MK, Strickland GT, Lavancy D, Arthur RR, Mayden LS et al. The role of parenteral antischistosomal therapy in the spread of hepatitis C virus in Egypt. Lancet 2000; 335: 887-891.

- Alter MJ, Kruszon-Moran D, Nainan OV, McQuillan GM, Gao F, Moyer LA et al. The prevalence of hepatitis C virus infection in the United States, 1988 through 1994. N Eng J Med 1999; 341: 556-562.
- Beutels M, Van Damme P, Aelvoet W, Desmyter J, Dondeyne F, Goila VC et al. Prevalence of hepatitis A, B and C in the Flemish population. Eur J Epidemiol 1997; 13(3): 275-280.
- 105. Alter MJ, Margolis HS, Krawczynski K, Judson FN, Mares A, Alexander WJ et al. The natural history of community-acquired hepatitis C in the United States. N Eng J Med 1992; 327: 1899-1905.
- 106. Roudot-Thoraval F, Bastie A, Pawlotsky JM, Dhumeaux D. Epidemiological factors affecting the severity of hepatitis C virus-related liver disease: a French survey on 6,664 patients. Hepatology 1997; 26: 485-490.
- Ohto H, Terazawa S, Sasaki N, Sasaki N, Hino K, Ishiwata C et al. Transmission of hepatitis C virus from mothers to infants. N Eng J Med 1994; 330: 744-750.
- Eyster ME, Alter HJ, Aledort LM, Quan S, Hatzakis A, Goedert JJ. Heterosexual transmission of hepatitis C virus (HCV) and human immunodeficiency virus (HIV). Ann Intern Med 1991; 115: 764-768.
- Poynard T, Bedossa P, Opolon P. Natural history of liver fibrosis in patients with chronic hepatitis C. Lancet 1997; 349: 825-832.
- 110. Tsukuma H, Hiyama T, Tanaka S, Nakao M, Yabruuchi T, Kitamura T et al. Risk factors for hepatocellular carcinoma among patients with chronic liver disease. N Eng J Med 1993; 328: 1797-1801.
- 111. Cerny A, Chisari FV. Pathogenesis of chronic hepatitis C: immunological features of hepatic injury and viral persistence. Hepatology 1999; 30: 595-601.
- National Institutes of Health Consensus Development Conference Panel statement: management of hepatitis C. Hepatology 1997; 26 (suppl 1): 2S-10S.
- 113. Yano M, Kumada H, Kage M, Ikeda K, Shimamatsu K, Inoue O et al. The long-term pathological evolution of chronic hepatitis C. Hepatology 1996; 23: 1334-1340.
- 114. Poynard T, Marcellin P, Lee SS, Niederau C, Minuk GS, Ideo G et al. Randomised trial of interferon alpha2b plus ribavirin for 48 weeks or for 24 weeks versus interferon alpha2b plus placebo for 48 weeks for treatment of chronic infection with hepatitis C virus. Lancet 1998; 352: 1426-1432.
- 115. McHuntchinson JG, Gordon SC, Schiff ER, Shiffman ML, Lee WM, Rustgi VK et al. Interferon alfa-2b alone or in combination with ribavirin as initial treatment for chronic hepatitis C. N Eng J Med 1998; 339: 1485-1492.
- EASL International Consensus Conference on Hepatitis C. Paris, 26-28, February 1999, consensus statement. J Hepatol 1999; 30: 956-961.
- 117. Zeuzem S, Feinman SV, Rasenack J, Heathcote EJ, Lai MY, Gane E et al. Peginterferon alfa-2a in patients with chronic hepatitis C. N Eng J Med 2000; 343: 1666-1672.
- 118. Glue P, Rouzier-Panis R, Raffanel C, Sabo R, Gupta SK, Salfi M et al. A dose-ranging study of pegylated interferon alfa-2b and ribavirin in chronic hepatitis C. The Hepatitis C Intervention Therapy Group. Hepatology 2000, 32(3): 647-653.

- 119. Manns MP, McHutchinson JG, Gordon SC, Rustgi VK, Shiffman M, Reindollar R et al. Peginterferon alfa-2b plus ribavirin compared with interferon alfa-2b plus ribavirin for initial treatment of chronic hepatitis C: a randomised trial. Lancet 2001; 358(9286): 958-965.
- 120. De Franceschi L, Fattovich G, Turrini F, Ayi K, Brugnara C, Manzato F et al. Hemolytic anemia induced by ribavirin therapy in patients with chronic hepatitis C virus infection: role of membrane oxidative damage. Hepatology 2000; 31(4): 997-1004.
- 121. Ning Q, Brown D, Parodo J, Cattral M, Gorczynski R, Cole E et al. Ribavirin inhibits viral-induced macrophage production of TNF, Il-1, the procoagulant fgl2 prothrombinase and preserves Th1 cytokine production but inhibits Th2 cytokine response. J Immunol 1998; 160: 3487-3493.
- Bodenheimer HC, Lindsay KL, Davis GL, Lewis JH, Thung SN, Seef LB. Tolerance and efficacy of oral ribavirin treatment of chronic hepatitis C: a multicenter trial. Hepatology 1997; 26: 437-447.
- Laskin OL, Longstreth JA, Hart CC, Scavuzzo D, Kalman CM, Connor JD et al. Ribavirin disposition in high-risk patients for acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. Clin Pharmacol Ther 1987; 41: 546-555.
- 124. Jarvis SM, Thorn JA, Glue P. Ribavirin uptake by human erythrocytes and the involvement of nitrobenzylthioinosine-sensitive (es) nucleoside transporters. Br J Pharmacol 1988; 123: 1587-1592.
- 125. Zimmerman TP, Deeprose RD. Metabolism of 5-amino-1-beta-D-ribofuranosyl-imidazole-4carboxamide and five membered heterocycles to 5'-triphosphates in blood and L5187Y cells. Biochem Pharmacol 1978; 27: 709-713.
- 126. Willis RC, Carson DA, Seegmiller JE. Adenosine kinase initiates the major route of ribavirin activation in a cultured human cell line. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1978; 75: 304-308.
- Page T, Connor JD. The metabolism of ribavirin in erythrocytes and nucleated cells. Int J Biochem 1990; 22: 379-383.
- 128. Bonkovsky HL, Banner BF, Rothman AL. Iron and chronic viral hepatitis. Hepatology 1997; 25(3): 759-768.
- Bacon BR, Britton RS. Hepatic injury in chronic iron overload: role of lipid peroxidation. Chem Biol Interact 1989; 70: 183-226.
- 130. Britton RS. Metal-induced hepatotoxicity. Semin Liver Dis 1996; 16: 3-12.
- Higueras V, Raya A, Rodrigo JM, Serra MA, Roma J, Romer FJ. Interferon decreases serum lipid peroxidation products of hepatitis C patients. Free Radic Biol Med 1994; 16: 131-133.
- Farinati RF, Cardin R, De Maria N, Libera GD, Marafin C, Lecis E et al. Iron storage, lipid peroxidation and glutathione turnover in chronic anti-HCV positive hepatitis. J Hepatol 1995; 22: 449-456.
- 133. Tung BY, Kowdley KV. Iron and viral hepatitis. Viral Hepatitis 1999; 5(2): 63-76.
- DiBisceglie AM, Axiotis CA, Hoofnagle JH, Bacon BR. Measurements of iron status in patients with chronic hepatitis. Gastroenterology 1992; 102: 2108-2113.
- 135. Arber N, Konikoff FM, Moshkowitz M, Baratz M, Hallak A, Santo M et al. Increased serum iron and iron saturation without liver accumulation distinguish chronic hepatitis C from other chronic liver diseases. Dig Dis Sci 1994; 39: 2656-2659.

- 136. Riggio O, Montagnese F, Fiore P, Folino S, Giambartolomei S, Gandin S et al. Iron overload in patients with chronic viral hepatitis: how common is it ? Am J Gastroenterol 1997; 92: 1298-1301.
- Piperno A, D'Alba R, Fargion S, Roffi L, Sampietro M, Parma S et al. Liver iron oxidation in chronic viral hepatitis: a study of 98 patients. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 1995; 7: 1203-1208.
- 138. Kowdley KV, Trainer TD, Saltzman JR, Pedrosa M, Krawitt EL, Knox TA et al. Utility of hepatic iron index in American patients with hereditary hemochromatosis: a multicenter study. Gastroenterology 1997; 113: 1270-1277.
- Dungan VC, Neff GW, Coon CC, Dies DF. Lack of correlation of quantitative HCV RNA levels with quantitative hepatic iron concentration. Gastroenterology 1996; 110, A1185 Abstract.
- 140. Sartori M, Andorno S, La Terra G, Boldorini R, Leone F, Pittau S et al. Evaluation of iron status in patients with chronic hepatitis C. Ital J Gastroenterol Hepatol 1998; 30(4): 396-401.
- 141. Brandhagen DJ, Zein NN, Moyer TP, Gossard AA, Poterucha JJ, Wiesner RH et al. Significance of hepatic iron concentration in patients with end-stage liver disease secondary to chronic hepatitis C infection. Gastroenterology 1996; 110: A1157 Abstract.
- Beinker NK, Voigt MD, Arendse M, Smit J, Stander IA, Kirsch RE. Threshold effect of liver iron content on hepatic inflammation and fibrosis in hepatitis B and C. J Hepatol 1996; 25: 633-638.
- 143. Cotler SJ, Bronner MP, Press RD, Carlson TH, Perkins JD, Emond MJ et al. End-stage liver disease without hemochromatosis associated with elevated hepatic iron index. J Hepatol 1998; 29: 257-262.
- Ludwig J, Hashimoto E, Porayko MK, Moyer TP, Baldus W. Hemosiderosis in cirrhosis: a study of 447 native livers. Gastroenterology 1997; 112: 882-888.
- 145. Brandhagen DJ, Alvarez W, Therneau TM, Kruckeberg KE, Thibodeau SN, Ludwig J et al. Iron overload in cirrhosis-HFE genotypes and outcome after liver transplantation. Hepatology 2000; 31(2): 456-460.
- 146. Fiel MI, Schiano TD, Bodenheimer HC Jr, Thung SN, King TW, Varma CR et al. Hereditary hemochromatosis and liver transplantation Liver Transpl Surg 1999; 67(8): 1193-1197.
- Larson AM, Rosoff L, Lin M, Emerson SS, Kowdley KV. Hepatic iron concentration does not increase over time in chronic hepatitis C. Gastroenterology 1997; 112: A1313 Abstract.
- 148. Boucher E, Bourienne A, Adams PC, Turlin B, Brissot P, Deugnier Y. Liver iron concentration and distribution in chronic hepatitis C before and after interferon treatment. Gut 1997; 41: 115-120.
- 149. DiBisceglie AM, Bacon BR, Kleiner DE, Hoofnagle JH. Increase in hepatic iron stores following prolonged therapy with ribavirin in patients with chronic hepatitis C. J Hepatol 1994; 21: 1109-1112.
- Fiel MI, Schiano TD, Guido M, Thung SN, Lindsay KL, Davis GL et al. Increased hepatic iron deposition resulting from treatment of chronic hepatitis C with ribavirin. Am J Clin Pathol 2000; 113(1): 35-39.
- Bowman BH; Haptoglobin. In:Bowman BH ed. Hepatic plasma proteins. San Diego: Academic Press, 1993: 159-167.
- 152. Schultze HE, Heremans JF, eds. Molecular biology of human proteins, Vol 1: Nature and metabolism of extracellular proteins. Amsterdam: Elsevier, 1966: 384-402.
- 153. Giblett ER. The haptoglobin system. Ser Haematol 1968; 1: 3-20.

- 154. Lange V. Der Haptoglobin Polymorphismus- nicht nur eine genetische Markierungshilfe (Review). Anthropol Anz 1992; 50: 281-302.
- 155. Smithies O. Zone electrophoresis in starch gels: group variations in the serum proteins of normal human adults. Biochem J 1955; 61: 629-641.
- 156. Thomas L, Fateh-Moghadam A, Guder WG, Hofmann W, Reiber H, Lammers M, eds. Proteindiagnostik. Frankfurt a.M., Germany: Behringwerke, 1991: 92-93.
- 157. Raynes JG, Eagling S, McAdam KP. Acute-phase protein synthesis in human hepatoma cells: differential regulation of serum amyloid A (SAA) and haptoglobin by interleukin-1 and interleukin-6. Clin Exp Immunol 1991; 83: 488-491.
- Thomas L. Haptoglobin/Hämopexin. In: Thomas L, ed. Labor und Diagnose, 4th ed. Marburg: Mëdizinische Verlags., 1992: 813-820.
- Langlois MR, Delanghe JR. Biological and clinical significance of haptoglobin polymorphism in humans. Clin Chem 1996; 42: 1589-1600.
- 160. Louagie HK, Brouwer JT, Delanghe JR, De Buyzere ML, Leroux-Roels GG. Haptoglobin polymorphism and chronic hepatitis C. J Hepatol 1996; 25: 10-14.
- McCormick DJ, Atassi MZ. Hemoglobin binding with haptoglobin: delineation of the haptoglobin binding site on the alpha-chain of human hemoglobin. J Protein Chem 1990; 9: 735-742.
- Javid J. The effect of haptoglobin-polymer size on hemoglobin binding capacity. Vox Sang 1965; 10: 320-325.
- Sadrzadeh SMH, Graf E, Panter SS, Hallaway PE, Eaton JW. Hemoglobin a biologic Fenton reagent. J Biol Chem 1984; 259: 14354-14356.
- 164. Gutteridge JMC. Lipid peroxidation and antioxidants as biomarker of tissue damage. Clin Chem 1995; 41: 1819-1828.
- Gutteridge JMC. The antioxidant activity of haptoglobin towards haemoglobin-stimulated lipid peroxidation. Biochim Biophys Acta 1987; 917: 219-223.
- Jue D-M, Shim B-S, Kang Y-S. Inhibition of prostaglandin synthase activity of sheep seminal vesicular gland by human serum haptoglobin. Mol Cell Biochem 1983; 51: 141-147.
- Kendall PA, Saeed SA, Collier HOJ. Identification of endogenous inhibitor of prostaglandin synthetase with haptoglobin and albumin. Biochem Soc Trans 1979; 7: 543-545.
- 168. Barclay R. The role of iron in infection. Med Lab Sci 1985; 42: 166-177.
- Cid MC, Grant DS, Hoffman GS, Auerbach R, Fauci AS, Kleinman HK. Identification of haptoglobin as an angiogenic factor in sera from patients with systemic vasculitis. J Clin Inv 1993; 91: 977-985.
- Cockerill GW, Gamble JR, Vadas MA. Angiogenesis: models and modulators. Int Rev Cytol 1995; 159: 113-160.
- Köhler W, Prokop O. Relationship between haptoglobin and Streptococcus pyogenes T4 antigens (Letter). Nature 1978; 271: 373.
- 172. Prokop O, Köhler W. Haptoglobins act similar to antibodies. Zentralbl Gynäkol 1979; 101: 1111-1116.

- 173. Langlois M, Delanghe J, Philippé J, Ouyang J, Bernard D, De Buyzere M et al. Distribution of lymphocyte subsets in bone marrow and peripheral blood is associated with haptoglobin type. Binding of haptoglobin to the B-cell lectin CD22. Eur J Clin Chem Clin Biochem 1997; 35(3): 199-205.
- 174. Langlois MR, Martin M-E, Boelaert JR, Beaumont C, Taes YE, De Buyzere ML et al. The haptoglobin 2-2 phenotype affects serum markers of iron status in healthy males. Clin Chem 2000; 46(10): 1619-1625.
- 175. Kristiansen M, Graversen JH, Jacobsen C, Sonne O, Hoffman H-J, Lax SKA et al. Identification of the haemoglobin scavenger receptor (letter). Nature 2001; 409: 198-201.
- 176. Rantapää Dahlqvist S, Fröhlander N. Haptoglobin groups and rheumatoid arthritis. Hum Hered 1985; 35: 207-211.
- 177. Rantapää Dahlqvist S, Beckman G, Beckman L. Serum protein markers in systemic lupus erythematosus. Hum Hered 1988; 38: 44-47.
- 178. Tsamantanis C, Delinassios JG, Kottaridis S, Christodoulou C. Haptoglobin types in breast carcinoma. Hum Hered 1980; 30: 44-45.
- Bartel U, Elling D, Geserick G. Distribution of haptoglobin phenotypes in gynaecologic tumors. Zentralbl Gynäkol 1985; 107: 1492-1495.
- Beckman G, Eklund A, Fröhlander N, Stjernberg N. Haptoglobin groups and lung cancer. Hum Hered 1986; 36: 258-260.
- Benkmann H-G, Hanssen H-P, Ovenbeck R, Goedde HW. Distribution of alpha1-antitrypsin and haptoglobin phenotypes in bladder cancer patients. Hum Hered 1987; 37: 290-293.
- Nevo S, Sutton H. Association between response to typhoid vaccination and known genetic markers. Am J Hum Genet 1979; 20: 461-469.
- 183. Friedel E, Schmidt M, Apstoloff E, Geserick G, Montag T, Kulmay J et al. Ein wahrscheinlicher Zusammenhang zwischen Haptoglobintyp und immunogener Reactivität nach Tetanusimmuniering. Dtsch Gesundheitsw 1979; 34: 376-377.
- Louagie H, Delanghe J, De Sombere I, De Buyzere M, Hauser P, Leroux-Roels G. Haptoglobin polymorphism and immune response after hepatitis B vaccination. Vaccine 1993; 11: 1188-1190.
- 185. Jang IK, Lassila R, Fuster V. Atherogenesis and inflammation. Eur Heart J 1993; 14 (suppl K): 2-6.
- Hansson GK. Immune and inflammatory mechanism in the development of atherosclerosis. Br Heart J 1993; 69 (suppl): 38-41.
- Jacob HS. Newly recognized causes of atherosclerosis: the role of microorganisms and of vascular iron overload. J Lab Clin Med 1994; 123: 808-816.
- 188. Delanghe JR, Langlois MR, Boelaert JR, Van Acker J, Van Wanzeele F, Van der Groen G et al. Haptoglobin polymorphism, iron metabolism and mortality in HIV infection. AIDS 1998; 12(9): 1027-1032.

AIMS OF THE WORK

AIMS OF THE WORK

Since the *HFE* mutation and the haptoglobin polymorphism influence the iron storage capacity (1,2) and are related with different immunological properties (3,4), we studied the effects of these gene polymorphisms on two diseases associated with iron accumulation.

Hereditary hemochromatosis is the most frequent genetically influenced iron storage disease in Western Europe (5). Before the discovery of the *HFE* mutation in 1996, clinicians had to rely on the phenotypic presentation and the hereditary character of the disease to establish the diagnosis. After the recognition of the *HFE* mutation (6), it became clear that not all individuals with the Cys282Tyr missense mutation behaved identically and expressed the phenotype of hereditary hemochromatosis (7).

Due to its effect on iron metabolism, the haptoglobin polymorphism could alter the clinical presentation, prognosis and perhaps treatment of patients with hereditary hemochromatosis.

The first part of this work investigated:

- a) Whether Flemish patients which were classified as having hereditary hemochromatosis before the recognition of the *HFE* missense mutation, carried the Cys282Tyr and/or the His63Asp missense mutation.
- b) Whether the haptoglobin polymorphism had influence on the phenotypic expression of Cys282Tyr homozygous hereditary hemochromatosis.
- c) Whether the percentage of CD163 monocyte-macrophage receptors differed between the different haptoglobin phenotypes in healthy males and whether the number of CD163 receptors differed in patients with hereditary hemochromatosis.

50

Chronic hepatitis C is a second disease associated with a largely unexplained iron overload and higher oxidative stress (8,9). Moreover, ribavirin, which has become a standard part of the treatment of chronic hepatitis C, causes higher serum and liver iron levels. Probably this phenomenon is due to the haemolytic anaemia induced by ribavirin treatment (10).

Since both the *HFE* missense mutation and the haptoglobin polymorphism could alter, through their effect on iron metabolism and differences in immunological response, the progression to chronicity, iron status and response to treatment in patients with chronic hepatitis C infection, its is interesting to evaluate the influence of these two variables in these patients.

The second part of this work investigated:

- a) Whether the frequency of the *HFE* missense mutation and the distribution of the haptoglobin phenotypes differed between chronic hepatitis C patients and a healthy control population.
- b) Whether these two factors (*HFE* missense mutation and haptoglobin polymorphism) were associated with each other and had influence upon the clinical presentation of chronic hepatitis C virus infection.
- c) Which pre-treatment factors influenced the degree of ribavirin-induced haemolysis.
- d) Whether NTBI was present in patients with chronic hepatitis C and whether treatment with ribavirin might induce the appearance of NTBI.

REFERENCES

- Andrews NC. Medical Progress: Disorders of Iron metabolism. N Eng J Med 1999; 341(26): 1986-1995.
- Langlois MR, Martin M-E, Boelaert JR, Beaumont C, Taes YE, De Buyzere ML et al. The haptoglobin 2-2 phenotype affects serum markers of iron status in healthy males. Clin Chem 2000; 46(10): 1619-1625.
- Chorney MJ, Ten Elshof AE, Gerhard GS. Hereditary haemochromatosis as an immunological disease. Brit J Haematol 1998; 100: 247-255.
- 4. Langlois M, Delanghe J, Philippé J, Ouyang J, Bernard D, De Buyzere M et al. Distribution of lymphocyte subsets in bone marrow and peripheral blood is associated with haptoglobin type. Binding of haptoglobin to the B-cell lectin CD22. Eur J Clin Chem Clin Biochem 1997; 35(3): 199-205.
- Bacon BR, Tavill AS. Hemochromatosis and the iron overload syndromes. In: Zakim D, Boyer TD eds. Hepatology. A textbook of liver disease. 3rd ed. Philadelphia: Saunders, 1996: 1439-1472.
- Feder JN, Gnirke A, Thomas W, Tsuchihashi Z, Ruddy DA, Basava A et al. A novel MHC class 1 like gene is mutated in patients with hereditary haemochromatosis. Nat Genet 1996; 13: 399-409.
- Olynyk JK, Cullen DJ, Aquilia S, Rossi E, Summerville L, Powell LW. A population-based study of the clinical expression of the hemochromatosis gene. N Eng J Med 1999; 341: 718-724.
- 8. Tung BY, Kowdley KV. Iron and viral hepatitis. Viral Hepatitis 1999; 5(2): 63-76.
- Farinati RF, Cardin R, De Maria N, Libera GD, Marafin C, Lecis E et al. Iron storage, lipid peroxidation and glutathione turnover in chronic anti-HCV positive hepatitis. J Hepatol 1995; 22: 449-456.
- DiBisceglie AM, Bacon BR, Kleiner DE, Hoofnagle JH. Increase in hepatic iron stores following prolonged therapy with ribavirin in patients with chronic hepatitis C. J Hepatol 1994; 21: 1109-1112.

CHAPTER I

PREVALENCE OF THE Cys282Tyr AND His63Asp MUTATION IN FLEMISH PATIENTS WITH HEREDITARY HEMOCHROMATOSIS

Prevalence of the Cys282Tyr and His63Asp mutation in flemish patients with hereditary hemochromatosis

H. Van Vlierberghe¹, L. Messiaen², M. Hautekeete¹, A. De Paepe², A. Elewaut¹

(1) Department of Gastroenterology University Hospital UZ Gent ; 1K12 IE De Pintelaan 185 9000 Gent, Belgium; (2) Department of Medical Genetics, University Hospital, UZ Gent.

Abstract

Recently Feder et al. have identified the gene responsible for hereditary hemochromatosis; it is located 3 Mbp telomeric of the MHC region on chromosome 6p and is called the HFE gene. The majority of the patients with hemochromatosis harbour the same missense mutation, Cys282Tyr. A second missense mutation (His63Asp) of which the significance is less clear, has also been described. To our knowledge the percentage of these two missense mutations in Flemish hemochromatosis patients is not known.

Materials and methods : Forty nine (49) unrelated patients with the clinical diagnosis of hemochromatosis were screened for the two missense mutations. The missense mutations were diagnosed with a PCR technique.

Results : Of the 49 patients, 46 patients were homozygous for the Cys282Tyr mutation (94%), 2 were heteroxygous (4%) and 1 carried two normal alleles (2%). Of the 3 patients not homozygous for the Cys282Tyr mutation, 3 were heteroxygous for the His63Asp mutation (2 patients were 'compound heteroxygotes').

Discussion : The percentage of homozygotes (Cys282Tyr) in a Flemish hemochromatotic population is comparable with the figures published in the literature. The second missense mutation (His63Asp) could be of importance in association with the Cys282Tyr missense mutation. (Acta gastroenterol. belg., 2000, 63, 250-253).

Introduction

Hereditary hemochromatosis (HH) is an autosomal recessive genetic disorder of iron metabolism, which predominantly affects Caucasians. The disease has a prevalence of 2-5 per 1000 (1). HH is characterized by an increased intestinal iron absorption, resulting in progressive iron overload of parenchymal organs, leading in midlife to the onset of clinical complications such as cirrhosis of the liver, diabetes mellitus, cardiopathy, endocrine dysfunctions and arthropathy. If iron excess is detected at a very early stage, these complications can be prevented.

On the basis of an increased frequency of the HLA-A3 allele in hemochromatosis patients, Simon *et al.* were able to map a putative hemochromatosis gene on the short arm of chromosome 6 (2). Further refinement of its localization resulted in the discovery by Feder *et al.* in 1996 (3) of a candidate gene for hemochromatosis.

The authors identified a missense mutation in 85% of the patients with hemochromatosis. The missense mutation is located in a HLA-like protein; on amino acid position 282 of that protein the missense mutation results in replacement of the amino acid cysteine by

Acta Gastro-Enterologica Belgica, Vol. LXIII, July-September 2000

tyrosine (Cys282Tyr). Eighty-two % of the patients were homozygous for this Cys282Tyr mutation. Thereafter other authors confirmed this high assocation (4,5,6) (table 1).

In the study of Feder, a second missense mutation was found on the remaining allele in 8 of the 9 heterozygotes. That missense mutation results in a replacement of histidine by aspartate on position 63 (His63Asp). The association of this second missense mutation with HH is less clear than the association with the Cys282Tyr mutation, since the prevalence of the His63Asp mutation is not different between controls and patients with hemochromatosis (9).

We studied the frequency of these two missense mutations in Flemish patients with HH.

Materials and methods

Patients

Forty-nine unrelated Flemish patients with unequivocal HH were examined for the Cys282Tyr mutation. The clinical diagnosis of HH was made between 1985-1997. Patients carrying the Cys282Tyr mutation only on one allele or patients not carrying this mutation on both alleles were further examined for the His63Asp mutation.

Table 1

	Cys282Tyr+/+	Cys282Tyr+/-	Cys282Tyr-/-
Feder et al. (3) (n = 178)	83%	4.5%	12.5%
Beutler et al. (4) (n = 147)	82%	6%	12%
Jouanolle et al. (5) (n = 65)	91%	5%	4%
Jaxwinska et al. (6) (n = 112)	100%	0%	0%
Our group (n = 49)	94%	4%	2%

Prevalence of the Cys282Tyr mutation in patients with hereditary hemochromatosis.

Correspondence address : H. Van Vlierberghe, UZ Gent, 1K12 IE, De Pintelaan 185, 9000 Gent, Belgium.

Prevalence of the Cys282Tyr and His63Asp

Flandres is located in the northern part of Belgium. Although in the past this region was colonized by different cultures (Spain, France, Austria), the majority of the people are from Celtic ancestry.

The diagnosis of HH was made using the following criteria :

1) iron saturation of more than 52% in female patients, more than 62% in male patients; 2) a ferritin level above 750 ng/ml (normal : < 250 ng /ml), with the majority of our patients with a level above 1500 ng/ml; 3) histochemical staining of iron on liver biopsy was performed semi-quantitatively by a Perl's stain. At least 75% of the hepatocytes had stainable iron; 4) more than 3 g iron removed by phlebotomy.

The control group consisted of 96 unrelated normal persons. Iron status in these patients was not known. In these persons the frequency of both missense mutations was examined.

Methods

After extraction of genomic DNA from peripheral lymphocytes (2-3 ml EDTA blood) or from buccal cells, DNA was amplified by PCR using primers as described by Feder *et al.* (3). The amplified framents were further examined by restriction enzyme digestion followed by agarosegel electrophoresis.

The missense mutation Cys282Tyr results in an additional *Rsal* restriction site. The missense mutation His63Asp results in a loss of a *Mbol* restriction site.

The DNA profiles obtained in the homozygous and heterozygous individuals and in the normal subjects are readily distinguishable (fig. 1).

When a patient was found to be homozygous for the Cys282Tyr mutation, his partner was screened for this missense mutation.



Fig. 1. — Visualisation of the PCR fragments after 2% agarosegel electrophoresis and digestion with *RsaI* (Cys282Tyr) or *MboI* (His63Asp). N means a normal sequence; M means that the mutation is present.

Stastistical analysis

Chi-square test was used to determine differences between control group and patient group. P value of less than 0.05 was considered significant.

Results

In the control group (table 2) 87.5% of the subjects were homozygous normal for the Cys282Tyr missense mutation; 10.5% were heterozygous and 2% were Cys282Tyr+/+. These results are in accordance with the Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium.

Forty-six out of 49 patients (94%) were homozygous for the Cys282Tyr mutation (table 2). Two patients (4%) were heterozygous and one (2%) did not carry the missense mutation on either of both alleles (Chi-square versus control population : p < 0.001). In the latter 3 patients the His63Asp mutation was additionally examined (table 3). All were heterozygous for the His63Asp missense mutation, implying that two of these three patients were compound heterozygotes (Cys282Tyr+/-, His63Asp+/-).

The characteristics of these 3 patients are presented in table 4.

Table 2

Cys282Tyr	Patients	Controls
+/- +/-	2% (1/49) 4% (2/49)	87.5%(84/96) 10.5%(10/96)
+/+	94%(46/49)	2%(2/96)

Table 3

His63Asp	Patients	Controls
-1-	94% (46/49)	68% (65/96)
+1-	6% (3/49)	31% (30/96)
+/+	0% (0/49)	1% (1/96)

Table 4. — Clinical details of the patients not homozygous for the Cys282Tyr mutation

Patient	Cys282Tyr	His63Asp	Known family history	Age at onset
1	-/-	+ /-	no	32
2	+/-	+ /-	yes	55
3	+/-	+ /-	no	55
Patient	Iron removed	Liver histology	Iron saturation	Serum ferritin (ng/ml)
1	15 g	siderosis	65%	1200
2	3.5 g	siderosis	62%	795
3	7 g	cirrhosis	67%	4220

Acta Gastro-Enterologica Belgica, Vol. LXIII, July-September 2000

H. Van Vlierberghe et al.

Patient 1 did not carry the Cys282Tyr mutation and is heterozygous for the His63Asp mutation. This male patients complained about diffuse arthritic pains. The diagnosis of hemochromatosis was made on iron studies and liver biopsy (Perl's staining was highly positive in hepatocytes and Kupffer cells). He had no risk factors for secondary iron overload : alcohol abuse, hemolytic anaemia, blood transfusion, chronic viral liver disease. Phlebotomy was started and the iron donation was 15 g before normalisation of the ferritin level could be achieved. These findings are very suggestive for hemochromatosis. However there was no family history of hereditary hemochromatosis and there was no HLA pattern as found in hereditary hemochromatosis (A1 A2 B8 B18).

Patient 2 consulted because two brothers had hereditary hemochromatosis. This male patient is a compound heterozygote for both mutations, but he has only mild iron overload (ferritin : 795 ng/ml, moderate iron staining on liver biopsy, and an iron donation of 3.5 g before normalisation of the ferritin level was achieved). He had no risk factors for secondary iron overload.

Patient 3 consulted for chronic fatigue. The diagnosis of hemochromatosis was made on iron studies and liver biopsy (highly positive Perl's staining in hepatocytes and Kupffer cells in a cirrhotic liver). The iron donation before normalisation of ferritin was 7 g. There was no family history and the patient had no risk factors for secondary iron overload.

This male patient was compound heterozygote.

Concerning the His63Asp missense mutation, 68% of our control population did not carry the missense mutation, 31% were heterozygous and 1% was homozygous for this missense mutation (table 3). These results are in accordance with the Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium.

Family screening was extremely easy using the check brush technique. In 11 patients the partner was checked for the Cys282Tyr mutation. The partner was heterozygous in 8 out of 11 marriages (72%), which is high when compared with our control population (10.5%).

Discussion

The present results are in accordance with the previously reached conclusion that mutations in the HFE gene are present in a high percentage of patients with HH. Our results are comparable with those of other authors (4,5,6) (table 1). Patients were homozygous for the Cys282Tyr mutation in 94% of the cases, whereas in the control group homozygosity for this mutation was found in only 2%(results in accordance with the Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium, HFE allele frequency in the control group of 0.07 which is comparable with data from other centers in the Western World, cfr. table 1).

The finding of this high percentage of the Cys282Tyr missense mutation in our and other groups of patients demonstrates that this missense mutation really contributes to the phenotypic presentation of the disease. Crawford et al could demonstrate a very high penetrance of this missense mutation (10).

However, a recent publication by Adams et al reported about homozygous individuals with no evidence of clinical iron overload (11). Determination of the iron status of the homozygous people in our control group, could give some additional information about the genotype/phenotype correlation. However we were not able yet to compare the homozygous patients and the control group with respect to clinical symptoms, biochemical signs of iron overload or pathological iron overload.

Whether this gene is really responsible for the disease or is only associated at a high frequency in the patients with HH as an 'innocent bystander', is unclear at present. There is however some evidence for the former hypothesis. In the presence of the Cys282Tyr mutation, a disulfide bridge is broken which alters the presentation of the HLA-H protein outside the cell. This disulfide bridge is necessary for the binding with beta2microglobulin. Animal studies show that beta2microglobulin knock-out mice have an iron accumulation pattern similar to patients with HH (7,12).

Feder *et al.* could demonstrate that in cell culture, the binding between the transferrin receptor and the wildtype HFE gene, decreases the affinity between the transferrin receptor and transferrin. Whereas in the presence of the mutant HFE gene this binding is completely inhibited. These data show that the HFE gene could be directly involved in the iron metabolism (13).

The significance of the His63Asp mutation is less clear. It is suggested that it is only of importance in the compound heterozygote setting (9). In our study two patients heterozygous for the Cys282Tyr missense mutation were also heterozygous for the His63Asp missense mutation (compound heterozygotes).

Patient 2 had a family history of hereditary hemochromatosis. Since the iron overload was only moderate in this patient (table 4) and since the age at presentation was 55 years, he had only a mild form of hereditary hemochromatosis. Determining the missense mutations and the degree of iron overload in the other affected family members, would give us the opportunity to investigate whether the presence of the His63Asp missense mutation modifies the clinical presentation of HH.

Patient 3 had substantial iron overload and already advanced liver disease. On biochemical and pathological grounds there was no doubt about the diagnosis of hemochromatosis. The iron donation was 7 g before ferritin normalisation could be achieved. Although the patient had no family history, the clinical picture is highly suggestive for hemochromatosis. In this patient it seems that being compound heterozygous, could be a risk factor for developing hemochromatosis. However in the study of Jouanolle (5) the prevalence of compound heterozygotes was not different in the control group than in the group of patients with HH. This frequency was about 2%.



Fig. 2. — Family tree of an index patient with HH. MM means homozygous for the Cys282Tyr missense mutation. Mm means heterozygous for the Cys282Tyr missense mutation. + means deceased.

We found a frequency of about 30% of heterozygotes for the His63Asp mutation in our control population. As such marriages between Cys282Tyr homozygotes and His63Asp heterozygotes would have a 50% occurence risk of compound heterozygote offspring. If the His63Asp missense mutation is involved in the pathogenesis of HH, these children should develop hemochromatosis

This figure is higher than seen in clinical practice. These are indirect arguments that the His63Asp mutation is of only minor importance. However more longitudinal follow-up of compound heterozygous people and additional family tree studies are necessary to explain the real importance of the His63Asp missense mutation. However Rish could demonstrate that being compound heterozygote results only in a minor risk to develop HH (15).

Patient 1 did not carry the Cys282Tyr or the His63Asp missense mutation. And although there was no family history of HH, the clinical presentation was very typical for HH. Another still not established mutation could be the explanation of this finding. So recently, Wallace et al demonstrated the presence of a new gene responsible for HH (14).

Screening the family of an index patient with HH becomes extremely easy using the cheek brush technique. Buccal cells prelevated by this technique can be examined in the same way as lymphocytes prelevated by blood sampling. Prelevation can be done at home by the patient and his family. In our experience this makes the screening method more acceptable.

It is more cost-effective to screen the partner of the patient for the Cys282Tys mutation first and to screen only the children if the partner is heterozygous for this mutation (8). Since the His63Asp missense mutation is of minor importance(15), one can restrict the screening to determining only the Cys282Tyr missense mutation.

We were able to screen 11 partners of patients with HH. Eight out of 11 were heterozygotes. Although this prevalence is higher than in the control population, it seems to us to be purely coincidental. However this high frequency illustrates the importance of family screening (fig. 2.) We conclude that in our group of Flemish patients with HH, a high number (94%) of patients is homozygous for the Cys282Tyr mutation. The His63Asp mutation seems to be of minor importance, however in some patients who are compound heterozygotes, clinical expression of hereditary hemochromatosis can be present.

References

- EDWARDS C.Q., GRIFFEN L.M., GOLDAR D., DRUMMOND C., SKOLNICK M.H., KUSHNER J.P. Prevalence of hemochromatosis among 11,065 presumably healthy blood donoes. N. Eng. J. Med., 1988, 318 : 1355-1362.
- SIMON M., BOUREL M., FAUCHET R. et al. Association of HLA A3 and HLA B14 antigens with idiopathic hemochromatosis. *Gur*, 1976, 17: 332.
 FEDER J.N., GNIRKE A., THOMAS W. et al. A novel MHC class like
- FEDER J.N., GNIRKE A., THOMAS W. et al. A novel MHC class llike gene is mutated in patients with hereditary haemochromatosis. Nat. Genet., 1996, 13 (4): 399-408.
- BEUTLER E., GELBART T., WEST C. et al. Mutation analysis in hereditary haemochromatosis. Blood Cells Mol Dis, 1996, 22: 187-194.
- JOUANOLLE A.M., GANDON G., JEZEQUEL P. et al. Haemochromatosis and HLA-H. Nat. Genet., 1996, 14: 251-252.
- JAZWINSKA E.C., CULLEN L.M., BUSFIELD F. et al. Haemochromatosis and HLA-H. Nat. Genet., 1996, 14: 249-251.
- BACON B.R. Diagnosis and management of hemochromatosis. Gastroenterology, 1997, 113: 995-999.
- ADAMS P.C. Implications of genotyping of spouses to limit investigations of children in genetic hemochromatosis. Hepatology, 1997, 26 (4), Ab284.
- The UK Haemochromatosis Consortium. A simple genetic test identifies 90% of UK patients with haemochromatosis. Gat, 1997, 41: 841–844.
- CRAWFORD D.H., JAZWINSKA E.C., CULLEN L.M., POWELL L.W. Expression of HLA-linked hemochromatosis in subjects homozygous or heterozygous for the C282Y mutation. *Gastroenterology*, 1998, 114 (5): 1003-8.
- ADAMS P.C., CHAKRABARTI S. Genotypic/phenotypic correlations in genetic hemochromatosis : evolution of diagnostic criteria. *Gastroenterolo*gy, 1998, 114: 319; 323.
- ZHOU X.Y., TOMATSU S., FLEMING R.E., PARKKILA S., WAHEED A., JIANG J. et al. HFE gene knockout produces mouse model of hereditary hemochromatosis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 1998, 95 (5): 2492-7.
- FEDER J.N., PENNY D.M., IRRINKI A., LEE V.K., LEBRON J.A., WATSON N. et al. The hemochromatosis gene product complexes with the transferrin receptor and lowers its affinity for ligand binding. *Proc. Natl.* Acad. Sci. USA, 1998, 95 (4): 1472-7.
- WALLACE D.F., DOOLEY J.S., WALKER A.P. A novel mutation of the HFE explains the classical phenotype of genetic hemochromatosis in a C282Y heterozygote. *Gastroenterology*, 1999, 116 : 1409-1412.
- RISCH N. Haemochromatosis, HFE and genetic complexity (letter). Nat. Genet., 1997, 17 (4): 375-6.

Acta Gastro-Enterologica Belgica, Vol. LXIII, July-September 2000

CHAPTER II

HAPTOGLOBIN PHENOTYPE 2-2 OVERREPRESENTATION IN Cys282Tyr HEMOCHROMATOTIC PATIENTS



Journal of Hepatology 35 (2001) 707-711

Journal of Hepatology

www.elsevier.com/locate/ihep

Haptoglobin phenotype 2-2 overrepresentation in Cys282Tyr hemochromatotic patients

Hans Van Vlierberghe^{1,*}, Michel Langlois², Joris Delanghe², Yves Horsmans³, Peter Michielsen⁴, Jean Henrion⁵, René Cartuyvels⁶, Johan Billiet², Martine De Vos¹, Geert Leroux-Roels²

¹Department of Gastroenterology, Ghent University Hospital, Ghent , Belgium
²Department of Clinical Chemistry, Ghent University Hospital, Ghent , Belgium
²Department of Gastroenterology, UCL, Brussels, Belgium
⁴Department of Gastroenterology, UCL, Antworp, Belgium
⁵Department of Gastroenterology, Jolinon Hospital, Haine-St.-Paul, Belgium
⁶Department of Clinical Chemistry, Virga Jesse Hospital, Hauselt, Belgium
⁷Department of Clinical Chemistry, Virga Jesse Hospital, Hasselt, Belgium
⁶Department of Clinical Chemistry, Greenel Hospital St.-Jan, Brugge, Belgium

Background/Aims: Patients with genotypic Cys282Tyr homozygous hemochromatosis differ largely in phenotypic presentation. The HFE mutation on itself does not explain the different manifestations of hemochromatosis. We hypothesized that the genetic haptoglobin (Hp) polymorphism, because of its effect on iron metabolism, could be a modifying factor that influences the clinical presentation of hereditary hemochromatosis.

Methods: In 167 Cys282Tyr homozygous hemochromatotic patients, the frequencies of Hp types (1-1, 2-1 and 2-2) and alleles (Hp1, Hp2) were compared with those in 918 healthy subjects. Clinical and laboratory indices of iron overload were incorporated in the analysis.

Results: The Hp 2-2 type was overrepresented in the patient group (P < 0.01). Male patients carrying Hp 2-2 had higher serum iron (P = 0.003) and ferritin levels (P = 0.03) than those with a Hp 1-1 or 2-1 type. The amount of iron removed with phlebotomy was also higher in Hp 2-2 patients (P = 0.03).

Conclusions: The Hp 2-2 type is overrepresented among Cys282Tyr homozygous hemochromatotic patients. At diagnosis, iron overload was more pronounced in male patients carrying Hp 2-2. Our data suggest that Hp polymorphism affects iron metabolism in hereditary hemochromatosis.

© 2001 European Association for the Study of the Liver. Published by Elsevier Science B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Haptoglobin phenotype; Hemochromatosis

1. Introduction

Hereditary hemochromatosis is an autosomal recessive genetic disorder of iron metabolism, which affects 0.5% of Caucasians [1]. The disease is usually due to a mutation in the HLA-linked hemochromatosis gene (HFE) on chromosome 6, that leads to a change from cysteine to tyrosine at position 282 in the HFE protein (C282Y) [2,3]. The phenotypic expression may vary from a fully penetrant clinical syndrome characterized by bronze pigmentation, cirrhosis, arthritis, endocrinopathy and cardiomyopathy to a mere laboratory abnormality, namely an increased serum iron saturation [4]. Recent reports have suggested that the phenotypic heterogeneity of hemochromatosis could be related to additional non-genetic causes, additional mutations or additional genes (linked or not linked to the MHC complex) [5–7].

Haptoglobin (Hp) might be one of the modifier genes in the phenotypic expression of HLA-linked hemochromatosis. Hp is a haemoglobin-binding plasma protein and allows the hepatic recycling of haemoglobin (Hb) iron. Following intravascular haemolysis Hb–Hp complexes are formed which are rapidly delivered to the hepatic parenchymal cells by receptor-mediated endocytosis. In humans, Hp is characterized by a genetic polymorphism with three major

Received 9 May 2001; received in revised form 11 July 2001; accepted 9 August 2001

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +32-9-240-23-70; fax: +32-9-240-26-74, E-mail address: hans.vanvlierberghe@rug.ac.be (H. Van Vlierberghe).

^{0168-8278/01/\$20:00 © 2001} European Association for the Study of the Liver, Published by Elsevier Science B.V. All rights reserved. PIE: \$0168-8278(01)00203-3

types (Hp 1-1, Hp 2-1 and Hp 2-2) which results from the expression of two different alleles (Hp1 and Hp2) located on chromosome 16q22. The Hp types show an important molecular heterogeneity; Hp 1-1 is a small molecule (86 kDa) of well defined structure, whereas Hp 2-1 is characterized by heteropolymers (86–300 kDa), and Hp 2-2 forms large macro molecular complexes (170–1000 kDa) [8].

Functional differences between the various Hp types have important biological and clinical consequences [8]. In healthy men carrying the Hp 2-2 type, a fraction of Hb-Hp complexes is delocalised into monocyte-macrophages, resulting in some degree of iron retention [9,10,12].

The recently identified Hb scavenger receptor CD163 on monocyte-macrophages was demonstrated to have a higher affinity for the multimeric Hb–Hp 2-2 complex than for the monomeric Hb–Hp 1-1 complex [11]. In healthy men, the Hp 2-2 type is associated with higher serum iron and ferritin levels than the Hp 2-1 and Hp 1-1 type [12].

In this study, we aimed to test the hypothesis that Hp polymorphism might influence the phenotypic expression of iron overload in hereditary hemochromatosis. For this purpose, we investigated Hp polymorphism in hemochromatotic patients homozygous for the Cys282Tyr missense mutation. Clinical and laboratory findings of iron overload were compared between the Hp types.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Patients

One hundred and sixty-seven unrelated patients with hereditary hemochromatosis were included in this study. They were examined in the outpatient clinics of six Belgian hospitals (Ghent University Hospital, Clinique St. Lue Brussels, UZA Antwerp, Virga Jesse Hasselt, General Hospital Brugge and Jolimont Hospital). All patients were homozygous for the Cys282Tyr missense mutation determined according to the method of Feder et al. [2].

The patients visited the clinics for symptoms that ranged from fatigue, arthralgia, breathlessness to symptoms of decompensated liver disease (n = 2). Some were referred to the clinic because of abnormal liver function test, abnormal glocose tolerance tests or increased serum iron and ferritin levels. The control population for the Hp phenotype consisted of 918 healthy Cancasian blood donors (451 male donors, 467 female donors).

2.2. HFE mutation and haptoglobin phenotype

The Cys282Tyr missense mutation of the HFE gene was determined by polymerase chain reaction and restriction enzyme digestion according to the method of Feder et al. [2]. The Hp phenotype of all subjects was determined using starch gel electrophoresis of haemoglobin-supplemented serum. followed by percotidase staining [13].

2.3. Biochemical investigations

Fasting blood samples were obtained, allowed to clot and centrifuged. The supernatant serum was collected for analysis. Serum iron concentration and total iron binding capacity (TIBC) were determined using commercial agents (Roche), and transferrin saturation was calculated by the formula: 100×(serum iron/TIBC). Serum ferritin levels were measured using fixedtime innumuonephelometry (Dade Behring). Secum alanine aminotransferase (ALT) activity and glucose concentrations were assayed using commercial agents (Roche).

2.4. Liver biopsy and phlebotomy

Liver biopsy was performed at diagnosis. Fibrosis was defined histologically as bridging fibrosis with or without circhosis. In 20 patients, liver iron concentration was measured on liver biopsy and hepatic iron index was expressed as hepatic iron concentration/age.

After phlebotomy, the amount of iron removed was determined as the number of liters of blood removed multiplied by 0.5 g to achieve iron depletion (defined as serum ferritin level \leq 50 µg/l).

2.5. Statistics

At diagnosis the following data were recorded: 1) gender and age; 2) medical history, including alcohol consumption; 3) serum iron level, transferrin saturation and serum ferritin level; 4) serum ALT activity; 5) fasting serum gheese level; 6) INR (international normalised ratio) 7) liver histology; 8) hepatic iron index; 9) amount of iron removed by phlebotomy to achieve iron depletion.

Statistics were performed using the Medcale program version 5.00.002[14]. Normality of the distribution of the different variables was tested using the Kolmogorov–Smirnov test. Variables with a normal distribution are presented as mean \pm standard deviation. Variables with a non-Gaussian distribution are presented as median and interquartile range.

Parametric (Student /-test) and non-parametric (Wilcoxon) tests were used according the distribution of the variable. Multiple regression analysis was performed with serum iron, ferritin and iron donation as dependent variables.

The Chi-square test was used to evaluate the Hardy–Weinherg equilibrium and to compare the distribution of the Hp types between patients and controls. Relative risk was calculated using odds ratio and 95% confidence interval. *P*-values of less than 0.05 were considered significant.

3. Results

3.1. Patient population

The patient population is presented in Table 1. The majority of the patients is male (70%). Liver fibrosis is present in 35% of the patients. Male patients were characterized by higher prevalence of fibrosis, higher serum ferritin concentrations, younger age at diagnosis and higher amount of iron removed to achieve iron depletion.

3.2. Haptoglobin phenotype distribution

Hp types and alleles are presented in Table 2. The distribution of Hp types among patients and healthy subjects were all in accordance with the Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium. A low Hp1 allele frequency was found in hereditary hemochromatosis patients and was attributable to an overrepresentation of the Hp 2-2 type (P < 0.01). Hp 2-2 was associated with a relative risk of 1.73 (95% CI 1.14–2.62) for hemochromatosis. Sex distribution was comparable between Hp types. The under-representation of the Hp1 allele was only observed in the male patients (P < 0.01) but was not significant in the female patients (P = 0.3).

Table 1		
Characteristics of the hemochromatosis	patients at	diagnosis

	Total (n = 167)	Male patients (n = 115)	Female patients $(n = 52)$	P-value hetween males and females
Age (years)	50 ± 13	48 ± 13	55 ± 14	0.02
Serum iron level (µmol/I)	38 ± 8	39 ± 8	35 ± 9	NS
Transferrin saturation (%)	90 (78-97)	92 (82-99)	85 (69-95)	0.02
Serum ferritin level (µg/l)	1025 (670-1726)	1300 (767-2077)	670 (449-1203)	0.0003
ALT (U/I)	42 (27-62)	45 (28-64)	35 (20-59)	NS
Glucose level (mmol/l)	5.3 (4.9-5.9)	5.0 (4.9-5.9)	55 (5.1-6.3)	NS
INR	1.01 ± 0.09	1.01 ± 0.10	1.01 ± 0.08	NS
Presence of fibrosis (%)	35	45	8	0.04
Hepatic iron index $(n = 20)^n$	1.23 (0.76-2.35)	1.26 (0.94-2.06)	1.07 (0.68-4.09)	NS
fron donation, g	6.0 (3.4-11.2)	8.0 (4.0-13.9)	42 (22-67)	0.02

" Seventeen males, three females. NS, not significant.

3.3. Indices of iron overload

In the overall hemochromatotic population, serum iron and ferritin concentrations at diagnosis were higher in hemochromatosis patients carrying the Hp 2-2 type (Table 3). These observations, however, were only attributable to Hp type-related differences in serum iron and ferritin levels in the male subgroup (Table 4). The amount of iron removed by phlebotomy to achieve iron depletion was also higher in Hp 2-2 patients (Table 3).

Higher ferritin levels were not only seen in patients with the Hp 2-2 phenotype but also in male patients (P < 0.001), patients with a higher age at diagnosis (P = 0.001) and in patients with a higher ALT level (P < 0.01). After multiple regression analysis, the Hp 2-2 phenotype remained an independent variable influencing the serum ferritin level. Similar results were obtained for serum iron concentration and iron donation in multivariate analysis (Table 5).

4. Discussion

Hereditary hemochromatosis is one of the most frequent genetically caused disorders in Western Europe and in Belgium in particular. In Belgium, 10.5% of the population carry the missense mutation C282Y [3]; this results in a frequency of the disease of about one individual in 400 persons. Homozygosity for the C282Y mutation is found in 85 to 90% of patients of Northern European origin who have typical hereditary hemochromatosis [2,3,15,16]. Since the introduction of the genetic diagnosis by Feder et al. [2] in 1996, it became obvious that the phenotypic expression of the disease is highly variable. This is illustrated in our cohort by the wide distribution of the iron removal data and the hepatic iron index (Table 1). In a recent study [17], Crawford et al. have demonstrated that 17.3% of the subjects homozygous for the C282Y mutation do not express iron overload that meets the current diagnostic criteria of hemochromatosis. In another trial Olynyk et al. have shown that only 50% of the population homozygous for the C282Y mutation expressed clinical features of hemochromatosis, whereas one quarter had serum ferritin levels within the normal range during a four-year period [18].

It is generally accepted that women and younger people have less severe phenotypic presentation of the disease. Iron overload develops at a slower rate in women with hereditary hemochromatosis than in men with the disorder, because in women iron stores are depleted by menstruation and pregnancy [18]. This is also observed in our cohort where men more often display hepatic fibrosis and have higher serum ferritin levels than women. Since hemochromatosis is a disease that progresses with time, younger people more often have milder disease than older people [18].

Alcohol intake is known to increase hepatic iron stores [19] and could be a non-genetic variable that influences the iron overload in C282Y homozygous individuals. In our

Table 2

Haptoglobin phenotype distribution in patients and controls

Hp phenotype	Patients (<i>n</i> = 167)	Male patients $(n = 115)$	Female patients $(n = 52)$	Controls $(n = 918)$	Male controls $(n = 451)$	Female controls $(n = 467)$
Hp 1-1	21 (12.5%)	12 (10.5%)	9 (17.5%)	140 (15.0%)	71 (16%)	69 (15%)
Hp 2-1	65 (39.0%)	46 (40.0%)	19 (36.5%)	445 (48.5%)	223 (49%)	222 (47.5%)
Hp 2-2	81 (48.5%)	57 (49.5%)	24 (46.0%)	333 (36.5%)	157 (35%)	176 (37.5%)
Hp 1 allele frequency	0.320	0.304	0.356	0.395	0.405	0.385
P-value versus control population*	0.004	0.005	03			

¹ P-value: Chi-square test comparing the frequency of the Hp 2-2 phenotype between patients and controls.

Table 3 Patient characteristics at diagnosis according to haptoglobin phenotype

	Hp 2-2 (n = 81)	Hp 1-1 and Hp 2-1 (n = 86)	P-value
Age (years)	52 ± 13	48 ± 13	NS
Secum iron level (µmoVI)	41 ± 8	35 ± 8	0.0005
Transferrin saturation (%)	92 (82-97)	89 (69-97)	NS
Secon ferritin level (µ.g4)	1300 (740-2156)	936 (507-1324)	0.01
ALT, (U/I)	42 (25-58)	42 (28-63)	NS
Glucose level (mmol/l)	5.3 (4.9-5.9)	5.2 (4.8-6.0)	NS
INR	1.01 ± 0.10	1.01 ± 0.09	NS
Presence of fibrosis (%)	30	29	NS
Hepatic iron index $(a = 20)^{4}$	1.23 (0.63-2.77)	1.36 (1.01-1.96)	NS
bon donation (g)	8.0 (3.7-12.2)	4.8 (3.2-10.1)	0.03

* Patients with Hp2-2: 13; patients with Hp 1-1 or 2-1: 7. NS, not significant.

group of patients (data not shown) only two subjects were abundant alcohol abusers, defined as an intake of ethanol exceeding more than 80 g per day. Therefore it seems unlikely that in the present study, this variable has played an important role in shaping the phenotypic expression of the disease.

Recent reports have suggested that the phenotypic heterogeneity of hemochromatosis disease could be related to additional non-genetic causes, additional mutations or additional genes [5], and that one or more of these genes may be MHC-linked [6]. A recent study by Pratiwi et al. [7] has demonstrated that in male patients homozygous for a predominant ancestral haplotype significantly higher hepatic iron indices are found than in patients heterozygous or nullizygous for this gene. Analogous data are observed by others [20,21].

Since the haptoglobin polymorphism causes differences in serum markers of iron status in healthy males [12], this polymorphism may alter the phenotypic presentation of patients with hereditary hemochromatosis. Indeed, Langlois et al. demonstrated that in healthy men the Hp 2-2 phenotype is associated with higher serum iron levels, higher transferrin saturation, higher serum ferritin levels and lower soluble transferrin receptor concentrations.

In our group of patients with hereditary hemochromatosis, the Hp 2-2 phenotype is highly overrepresented, particularly in male patients ($P \le 0.01$). The lack of significance in females is possibly related to the lower number of female patients included. Although other factors (e.g. menstruation, pregnancy) could have a greater influence on the phenotypic expression of hereditary hemochromatosis in female patients.

As in a population of healthy subjects [12], the male patients with the Hp 2-2 phenotype have higher serum iron and ferritin levels than the male patients with the Hp 1-1 or Hp 2-1 phenotype. No difference could be seen in female patients. The higher iron overload in Hp 2-2 patients is also illustrated by the higher amount of iron that has to be removed to achieve iron depletion. The lack of difference in the hepatic iron index between the different phenotypes is possibly due to the low amount of patients (a = 20) in which the hepatic iron index was measured.

Although no haptoglobin type-related differences are found when considering age at diagnosis, hepatic iron index and occurrence of liver fibrosis, the higher serum iron and ferritin levels in Hp 2-2 hemochromatotic patients are striking. The higher levels of serum ferritin both in Hp 2-2 healthy men and Hp 2-2 hemochromatotic male patients could be explained by the Hp 2-2 specific delocalizing of Hb-Hp complexes into monocyte-macrophages [12]. In healthy subjects, this results in a certain degree of iron retention [12]. This Hb-Hp related iron uptake in monocyte-macrophages has recently been demonstrated to occur via the Hb scavenger receptor CD163 [11]. This receptor has a higher affinity for the multimeric Hb-Hp 2-2 complex than for the monomeric Hb-Hp 1-1 complex [11]. In Hp 2-2 individuals, this result in a higher intracellular monocyte ferritin level [12]. Monocyte 1.-ferritin

Table 4

Serum iron and ferritin in males and females according	the haptoglobin	phenotype polymorphism
--	-----------------	------------------------

	Hp 2-2 (n = 81)	Hp 1-1 and Hp 2-1 (n=86)	P-value
Serum iron (µmold)			
Males	43 ± 7	37 ± 7	0,003
Females	36 ± 8	38 ± 9	NS
Serum ferritin (µg/l)			
Males	1747 (750-2661)	1100 (843-1603)	0.03
Females	925 (529-1349)	960 (569-1999)	NS

* NS, not significant.

Table 5 Multiple regression analysis of the variables influencing serum ferritin level, serum iron level and blood donation^a

	Serum ferritin level	Serum iron level	Iron donation
Hp 2-2 phenotype	<0.01	<0.001	<0.05
Age at diagnosis	< 0.001	NS	NS
Gender	< 0.001	NS	< 0.01
ALT activity	<0.01	NS	NS

* NS, not significant.

content positively correlates with serum ferritin concentration and thus higher serum levels are found in Hp 2-2 subjects [12].

In conclusion, we have found a significant overrepresentation of the Hp 2-2 phenotype in a cohort of patients with hereditary hemochromatosis. This overrepresentation is only observed in the male part of the population. In addition, male hemochromatotic patients with the Hp 2-2 phenotype have higher serum iron and ferritin levels than Hp 1-1 and 2-1 patients. Our data suggest that the Hp phenotype polymorphism affects iron metabolism in hereditary hemochromatosis.

References

- Edwards CQ, Griffen LM, Goldar D, Drammond C, Skolnick MH, Kushner JP. Prevalence of hemochromatosis among 11,065 presumably healthy blood donors. N Engl J Med 1988;318:1355–1362.
- [2] Feder JN, Gnirke A, Thomas W, Tsuchichashi Z, Ruddy DA, Besava A, et al. A novel MHC class I gene is mutated in patients with hereditary haemochromatosis. Nat Genet 1996;13(4):399–408.
- [3] Van Vlierberghe H, Messiaen L, Hantekeete M, De Paepe A, Elewaut A. Prevaleace of the Cys282Tyr and His63Asp mutation in Flemish patients with hereditary hemochromatosis. Acta Gastroenterol Belg 2000;63:250–253.
- [4] Bulaj ZJ, Aijoka RS, Philips JD, LaSalle BA, Jorde LB, Griffin LM, et al. Disease-related conditions in relatives of patients with hemochromatosis. N Engl J Mat 2000;343:1529–1535.
- [5] Mura C, Noushaum JB, Verger P, Moalic MT, Ragnenes O, Mercier AY, et al. Phenotypic–genotype correlation in baemochromatosis subjects. Hum Genet 1997;101:271–276.
- [6] Barton JC, Shih WWH, Sawada-Hitai R, Acton RT, Harmon L, Rivers C, et al. Genetic and clinical description of hemochromatosis probands and heterozygotes: evidence that multiple genes linked to

the major histocompability complex are responsible for hemochromatosis. Blood Cell Mol Dis 1997;30:135–145.

- [7] Pratiwi R, Fletcher LM, Pyper WR, Di KA, Crawfurd DH, Powell LW, et al. Linkage disequilibrium analysis in Australian haemochromatosis patients indicates bipartite association with clinical expression. J Hepatol 1999;31:39–46.
- [8] Langlois MR, Delanghe JR. Biological and clinical significance of ha ptoglobin polymorphism in humans. Clin Chem 1996;42(10):1589– 1600.
- [9] Langlois MR, Delanghe JR, De Buyzere ML, Bernard D, Ouyang J. Effect of haptoglobin on the metabolism of vitamin C. Am J Clin Nutr 1997;66:606–610.
- [10] Sadczadeh SMH, Eaton JW, Haemoglobin-mediated oxidant damage to the central nervous system requires endegenous ascorbate. J Clin Invest 1988;82:1510–1515.
- [11] Kristiansen M, Graversen JH, Jacobsen C, Sonne O, Hoffman HJ, Law SK, et al. Identification of the haemoglobin scavenger receptor. Nature 2001;409:198–201.
- [12] Langlois MR, Martin ME, Boelaert JR, Beaumont C, Taes YE, De Buyzere ML, et al. The haptoglobin 2-2 phenotype affects serum markers of iron status in healthy males. Clin Chem 2000;46(10):1619–1625.
- [13] Smithies O. Zone electrophoresis in starch gels: group variations in the serum proteins of normal human adults. Biochem J 1955;61:629– 641.
- [14] Schoenjans F, Zalata A, Depuydt CE, Comhaire FH. Medeale: a new computer program for medical statistics. Comput Methods Program Biomed 1995;48:257–262.
- [15] Beutler E, Gelbart T, West C, Lee P, Adams P, Blackstone R, et al. Mutation analysis in hereditary haemochromatosis. Blood Cells Mol Dis 1096:22:187–194.
- [16] Jouanolle AM, Gandon G, Jezequel P, Blayau M, Campion ML, Yaouang J, et al. Haemochromatosis and HLA-G. Nat Genet 1996;14:249–251.
- [17] Crawford DH, Jazwinska EC, Cullen LM, Powell LW. Expression of HLA-linked hemochromatosis in subjects homozygous or heterozygous for the C282Y mutation. Gastmenterology 1998;114:1003– 1006.
- [18] Olynyk JK, Cullen DJ, Aquilia S, Rossi E, Summerville L, Powell LW. A population-based study of the clinical expression of the hemochromatoris gene. N Engl J Med 1999;341:718–724.
- [19] Iriving MG, Halliday JW, Powell LW. Association hetween alcoholism and increase hepatic iron stores. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 1988;12:7–13.
- [20] Crawford DH, Powell LW, Legett BA, Francis JS, Fletcher LM, Webb SI, et al. Evidence that the ancestral haplotype in Australian hemochromatosis patients may be associated with a common mutation in the gene. Am J Hum Gen 1995;57:362–367.
- [21] Piperno A. Arosio C. Fargion S. Roetto A. Nicoli C. Girelli D. et al. The ancestral hemochromatosis haplotype is associated with a severe phenotype expression in Italian patients. Hepatology 1996;24:43–46.

CHAPTER III

LACK OF RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE RELATIVE NUMBER OF CD163+ MONOCYTES-MACROPHAGES AND IRON METABOLISM IN HEREDITARY OR SECONDARY HEMOCHROMATOSIS.

(submitted: Gastroenterology)

LACK OF RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE RELATIVE NUMBER OF CD163+ MONOCYTES-MACROPHAGES AND IRON METABOLISM IN HEREDITARY OR SECONDARY HEMOCHROMATOSIS.

H. Van Vlierberghe¹, N. Van Damme², H.Peeters¹, J. Delanghe³, A. Janssens⁴, G. Leroux-Roels³, M. De Vos¹.

¹Department of Gastroenterology, Ghent University Hospital, Belgium ²Department of Rheumatology, Ghent University Hospital, Belgium ³Department of Clinical Chemistry, Ghent University Hospital, Belgium ⁴Department of Haematology, Ghent University Hospital, Belgium

Address of correspondence:

Hans Van Vlierberghe, MD Departement of Gastroenterology Ghent University Hospital 1K12 IE De Pintelaan 185 B – 9000 Gent Belgium Tel: +32 9 240 23 71 Fax: +32 9 240 26 74 e-mail: hans.vanylierberghe@rug.ac.be

Keywords:

CD163, haptoglobin phenotype, hereditary hemochromatosis, secondary hemochromatosis

Electronic word count: 3233

ABSTRACT

Introduction

The monocyte-macrophage receptor CD163 has been shown to be the receptor of haemoglobin-haptoglobin (Hb-Hp) complexes. The binding of the Hb-Hp complexes is haptoglobin phenotype dependent, resulting in a higher macrophage iron content in Hp 2-2 individuals. We determined the percentage of CD163+CD33+ monocytes-macrophages in patients with different haptoglobin phenotypes and in patients with hereditary and secondary hemochromatosis.

Materials and methods

The percentage of CD163+ CD33+ peripheral blood monocytes was determined by flow cytometry. The percentage in 30 male volunteers with different haptoglobin phenotypes was determined and compared with the percentage in 16 patients with hereditary hemochromatosis and 5 patients with secondary iron overload.

Results

In the healthy volunteers there was no difference in the percentage of CD163+CD33+ monocytes-macrophages between the different haptoglobin phenotypes. No difference was found in the percentage of CD163+CD33+ monocytes-macrophages between patients with hereditary hemochromatosis (67 ± 23) or secondary hemochromatosis (58 ± 27) versus controls (54 ± 22).

Discussion

There is no haptoglobin related difference in the percentage of CD163+CD33+ monocytes-macrophages. The data in the patients with hereditary and secondary hemochromatosis argue against a relationship between the relative number of CD163+CD33+ circulating cells and iron metabolism.

Abstract electronic word count: 194

Introduction

CD163 is a member of the scavenger receptor cysteine-rich group B family of proteins. Members of this family contain highly conserved scavenger receptor (SRCR) domains, and include the type I scavenger receptor, CD5, CD6 and WC1 (found on bovine $\gamma \delta$ T cell) (1). SRCR proteins are typically associated with immune functions and are expressed on a number of different cells of the immune system (2). CD163 expression is restricted to cells of monocyte lineage and increases as monocytes mature into macrophages (3). The mRNA and protein levels of CD163 are tightly controlled by inflammatory regulators. Whereas proinflammatory stimuli like lipopolysaccharide or IFN- γ suppress its expression, anti-inflammatory molecules like glucocorticoids or IL-10 strongly induce CD163 on monocytes and macrophages (4,5).

Recently CD163 was demonstrated to act as a receptor that scavenges haemoglobin by mediating endocytosis of haemoglobin-haptoglobin complexes. Haemoglobin released into plasma is captured by the acute phase protein haptoglobin, which is depleted from plasma during elevated haemolysis. Efficient removal of free haemoglobin is essential for health because of the oxidative and toxic properties of iron-containing haem in haemoglobin. CD163 binds only haptoglobin and haemoglobin in complex, which indicates the exposure of a receptor-binding neoepitope (6).

In humans, three major haptoglobin (Hp) variants exist: Hp 1-1, Hp 2-2 and the heterozygous Hp 2-1 (7). Complexes of haemoglobin and the multimeric haptoglobin (Hp 2-2) exhibit higher functional affinity for CD163 than do complexes of haemoglobin and dimeric haptoglobin (Hp 1-1) (6). In healthy male Hp 2-2 subjects the serum ferritin and the L-ferritin concentration in monocytes-macrophages are higher than in Hp 1-1 subjects (8). This could be the consequence of the higher affinity of the Hp 2-2 – haemoglobin complex for the CD163 receptor.

Hereditary hemochromatosis is a very common autosomal recessive disease of iron metabolism. Recently the *HFE* mutation was found to be present in the majority of the patients with hereditary hemochromatosis. Despite intensive investigations, the cellular location of the defect is still controversial. In fact, the liver, duodenum and reticuloendothelial system have all been proposed as the primary site of the metabolic abnormality (9).

It is known that iron storage in macrophages differs depending on the cause of iron accumulation (10). In secondary iron overload, as a result of dyserythropoiesis, haemolysis or transfusions, macrophages are heavily loaded with iron. In contrast, in hereditary hemochromatosis, little iron is seen in the Kupffer cells and other macrophages, while hepatocytes already suffer from iron overload. In both forms of iron overload, low-molecular weight complexes of iron are observed in the plasma. Iron overload of macrophages in secondary hemochromatosis can be explained partially by the fact that these cells must process large quantities of (immature) erythrocytes, while the primary cause of iron overload in hereditary hemochromatosis is an inappropriately increased absorption of iron. However, defects in erythrophagocytosis or differences in cellular iron processing and iron release may contribute to the low amounts of iron in the macrophages of patients with hereditary hemochromatosis (10).

Considering the relative low iron content in monocytes-macrophages seen in patients with hereditary hemochromatosis, we examined if the percentage of CD163+CD33+ monocytes-macrophages differed in patients with hereditary hemochromatosis from normal control subjects and from patients with secondary hemochromatosis.

We also studied the relationship between the haptoglobin polymorphism and the percentage of CD163+CD33+ monocytes-macropaghes in healthy male individuals.

Materials and methods

Subjects

Thirty healthy male volunteers were recruited from the hospital staff of the Ghent University Hospital. Blood was sampled for CD163 expression, amino alanine transferase activity, serum iron, serum transferrin, serum ferritin, C-reactive protein, haptoglobin concentration and haptoglobin phenotype.

Considering the influence of inflammation on CD163 expression, only volunteers with a normal C-reactive protein (CRP < 1,2 mg/dl) were included. These volunteers were used as controls.

Sixteen patients (13 male, 3 female) with Cys282Tyr homozygous hereditary hemochromatosis were recruited from the out-patient clinic of the department of Gastroenterology, Ghent University Hospital. Informed consent was obtained. Blood was taken during a therapeutic phlebotomy session. Six patients were on a schedule of weekly phlebotomy to achieve serum ferritin levels of less than 50 μ g/l, the other 10 received phlebotomy on an average schedule of 3 to 4 times a year to keep serum ferritin at a level of 50 μ g/l.

Five patients with secondary iron overload as a result of multiple blood transfusions for the symptomatic treatment of myelodysplastic syndrome (n=4) or aplastic anaemia (n=1) were recruited from the department of Haematology.

Biochemical analysis

Blood samples were obtained, allowed to clot and centrifuged. The supernatant serum was collected for analysis. Serum iron concentration, total iron binding capacity (TIBC), serum alanine aminotransferase (ALT) activity and C-reactive protein were determined using commercial reagents (Roche).

Transferrin saturation was calculated by the formula:

100 x (serum iron/TIBC).

Serum ferritin concentration and serum haptoglobin concentration were measured using fixed-time immunonephelometry (Dade Behring).

Determination of the haptoglobin phenotype

The Hp phenotypes were determined using starch gel electrophoresis of haemoglobin-supplemented serum followed by peroxidase staining (11).

HFE missense mutation

The Cys282Tyr missense mutation was searched for according to the method described by Feder et al (12). In short, after extraction of genomic DNA from peripheral blood mononuclear cells DNA was amplified by PCR technique. After amplification these fragments were further investigated by restriction enzyme digestion followed by agarose gel electrophoresis. The missense mutation Cys282Tyr resulted in an additional restriction site for the restriction enzyme *Rsa*I. Homozygotes, heterozygotes or normals were easily recognized. Recently, a polymorphism in intron 4 of HFE was described causing an overestimation of the Cys282Tyr homozygote prevalence in hemochromatosis. We examined all samples using a new antisense primer that excluded the site of the new polymorphism (13, 14).

CD163 expression

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) were isolated from 10 ml heparinized blood by Ficoll-Paque 1077 gradient (Pharmacia, Upssala, Sweden) centrifugation. The PBMC were transferred into separate wells of a 24 well culture plate (Gibco BRL, Grand Island, USA) and incubated for 24 hours in RPMI 1640 medium (Gibco BRL) containing 10 % autologous plasma. The cultured cells were harvested, resuspended in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) and incubated for 30 min in the dark in the refrigerator with the following fluorochrome labelled monoclonal antibodies against cell surface markers: anti-CD33 APC (monocytes, macrophages, clone P67.6, Becton Dickinson, San Diego, USA) and anti-CD163 PE (clone GHI/61, Pharmingen, San Diego, USA).

Isotype and concentration matched control monoclonal antibodies with PE and APC were used as controls. Subsequently, the cells were washed with PBS, resuspended in PBS and analysed by flow cytometry using a FACSort (Becton Dickinson). Data were analysed using Cellquest software (Becton Dickinson). Monocytes were identified using a forward and side scatter gate in combination with a gate for CD33 positive cells. CD163 expression was determined as the percentage of CD33 positive monocytes (Figure 1).

Statistical analysis

Statistics were performed using the Medcalc program version 5.00.002 (15). Normality of the distribution of the different variables was tested using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Variables with a normal distribution are presented as mean \pm standard deviation. Variables with a non-Gaussian distribution are presented as median and interquartile range.

Parametric and non-parametric tests were used according the distribution of the variable. P-values of < 0.05 were considered significant.

Ethics

The protocol was approved by the Ethical Committee of the Ghent University Hospital.

Results

Healthy volunteers

All male volunteers have normal C-reactive protein levels (cf. selection criteria) and normal ALT activity. Serum iron studies, haptoglobin concentrations and percentage of CD163+CD33+ monocytes-macrophages are shown in Table 1. The mean age of the group is 33 years \pm 8. The haptoglobin phenotypes distribution was: Hp 1-1: 6, Hp 2-1: 16 and Hp 2-2: 8. The percentage of CD163+CD33+ monocytes-macrophages, serum iron studies and haptoglobin concentration according the haptoglobin phenotype are shown in Table 2. There is no difference in the percentage of CD163+CD33+ monocytes-macrophages between the different haptoglobin phenotypes. Haptoglobin concentration is clearly haptoglobin phenotype dependent (Table 2).

No correlation is seen between the percentage of CD163+CD33+ monocytesmacrophages and age, serum iron, serum iron saturation and serum ferritin concentration.

Patients with hereditary hemochromatosis

The mean age of the 16 patients with hereditary hemochromatosis is 55 years \pm 9. This is older than the group of healthy volunteers (p<0.01). Serum iron studies and percentage of CD163 cells are presented in Table 1.

Serum iron and iron saturation are higher in patients than in controls (p<0.02 and p<0.01). Serum ferritin concentration is not higher in patients than in the healthy controls, reflecting that the patients are adequately treated to achieve serum ferritin concentrations of lower than 50 μ g/l. However the range in serum ferritin concentration is higher in the patient group than in the control group (Table 1). C-reactive protein concentration is normal in all 16 patients.

The percentage of CD163+CD33+ monocytes-macrophages is not significantly different in patients with HH than in controls.
In the patient group, there is no correlation between the percentage of CD163+CD33+ monocytes-macrophages and serum iron studies. In particular, the percentage of CD163+CD33+ monocytes-macrophages is not different between patients with elevated serum ferritin concentrations and those with normal serum ferritin concentrations (73 \pm 17 versus 57 \pm 30, p=0.2).

Patients with secondary hemochromatosis

The mean age of the 5 patients with secondary hemochromatosis is 63 years \pm 16 (p<0.001 versus the control population, p=0.3 versus the patients with hereditary hemochromatosis). Serum iron studies and percentage of CD163+ cells are presented in table 1.

C-reactive protein concentration is higher than normal (5.6 mg/dl) in one patient; the percentage of CD163+CD33+ positive monocytes-macrophages is 30 % in this patient.

The percentage of CD163+CD33+ positive monocytes-macrophages is not different in patients with secondary hemochromatosis as compared to controls and patients with hereditary hemochromatosis. In patients with secondary hemochromatosis no correlation is found between the percentage of CD163+CD33+ monocytes-macrophages and serum iron studies.

Discussion

Recently the CD163 protein was shown to act as a receptor that scavenges haemoglobin-haptoglobin complexes and a higher affinity of the receptor for haemoglobin-Hp 2-2 complex than for the haemoglobin-Hp 1-1 complex was observed (6). In healthy males, it has been demonstrated that the subjects with the Hp 2-2 phenotype have higher serum ferritin and monocyte ferritin content than subjects carrying the Hp 1-1 and 2-1 phenotype. A good correlation has been demonstrated between serum ferritin concentration and monocyte L-ferritin content (8). In our control group of 30 male healthy volunteers there is neither a difference in the percentage of CD163+CD33+ monocytes-macrophages between the different haptoglobin phenotypes nor a correlation between the percentage of CD163+CD33+ monocytes seems to be solely the consequence of the higher affinity of the haemoglobin-Hp 2-2 complex for the CD163 receptor, and not of a higher percentage of CD163+CD33+ monocytes-macrophages in the Hp 2-2 subjects.

In patients with hereditary hemochromatosis, the monocyte-macrophage has a relative iron-poor content in comparison with the abundant iron which is present in the body (10,16). This can be attributed to different mechanisms. It is known that patients with hereditary hemochromatosis have a significantly decreased ability to phagocytose red blood cells (17). It is also established that after erythrophagocytosis, monocytes of patients with hereditary hemochromatosis, release twice as much iron in a low molecular weight form as control cells (10). In macrophages of patients with hereditary hemochromatosis a significant increase in iron regulatory protein (IRP) activity is demonstrated (9). By preventing ferritin mRNA translation, high IRP activity in monocytes may represent a molecular mechanism contributing to the inadequate ferritin accumulation and insufficient macrophage iron storage in hereditary hemochromatosis.

74

IRP is a cytoplasmic sensor of the labile iron pool which is regarded as one of the main regulators of cellular iron homeostasis. The upregulation of IRP in hereditary hemochromatosis is monocyte-macrophage specific, since it is absent in other circulating blood cells. Moreover this abnormality seems characteristic of the genetic form of hemochromatosis, as a reduced IRP activity is found in patients with secondary hemochromatosis. However, after phlebotomy in patients with hereditary hemochromatosis, iron regulatory protein activity did not differ form that of control subjects (9).

Since the CD163 receptor could contribute, via the uptake of haeme-iron of the haemoglobin-haptoglobin complex, to the intracellular iron content of monocytes-macrophages, we have investigated if this mechanism plays an important role in the determination of the macrophage iron content. Since liver and spleen macrophages are not easily accessible in humans and since in vitro differentiation of peripheral blood monocytes has been extensively used as a model to investigate macrophage development (18), we have studied peripheral blood monocytes. We could not detect a difference in the percentage of CD163+CD33+ monocytes-macrophages between patients with hereditary hemochromatosis and controls or patients with secondary hemochromatosis. Since the majority of our patients have serum ferritin concentrations in the normal range, due to an adequate phlebotomy treatment, one can argue that the CD163 receptor could be only downregulated in situations where iron overload is present. However, no correlation between the percentage of CD163+CD33+ monocytes-macrophages and serum iron studies is seen. Moreover when comparing hereditary hemochromatosis patients with still elevated serum ferritin concentrations and patients with normal serum ferritin concentrations, still no difference in percentage of CD163+CD33+ monocytes-macrophages could be found. This, again, argues against the influence of elevated serum ferritin concentrations on the percentage of CD163+CD33+ monocytesmacrophages.

75

Moreover in the group of patients with secondary hemochromatosis, although serum ferritin concentrations are significantly higher than in controls and patients with hereditary hemochromatosis, no difference in the percentage of CD163+CD33+ monocytes-macrophages is observed.

In this subgroup of patients with secondary hemochromatosis, high serum ferritin concentrations could be the consequence of inflammation. But only one patient in this group has a C-reactive protein concentration higher than normal. Also we suspect, that in the presence of inflammation, a low percentage of CD163+CD33+ monocytes-macrophages should have been found, which is not the case in this patient subgroup.

Attributing high serum ferritin concentrations to tissue iron overload in the group of patients with secondary hemochromatosis, would ideally have required the measurement of hepatic iron concentration. We thought however that it was unethical to perform a liver biopsy in these patients. On the other hand, it has been illustrated that there is a good correlation between serum ferritin concentration and tissue iron overload (19).

We conclude that in healthy males, there is no difference in the percentage of CD163+CD33+ monocytes-macrophages between the different haptoglobin phenotypes. We could not find a difference in the percentage of CD163+CD33+ monocytes-macrophages in patients with hereditary or secondary hemochromatosis and controls. It seems unlikely that the CD163 receptor contributes to the low macrophage iron content seen in patients with hereditary hemochromatosis.

REFERENCES

- Sulahian TH, Hintz KA, Wardwell K, Guyre PM. Development of an ELISA to measure soluble CD163 in biological fluids. J Immonol Methods 2001; 252: 25-31.
- Resnick D, Pearson A, Krieger M. The SRCR superfamily: a family reminiscent of the Ig superfamily. Trends Biochem Sci 1994; 19: 5.
- Pulord K, Micklem K, Law S, Mason D. CD163 (M130 antigen) workshop panel report. In : Kishimoto T, Kikutani H, von dem Borne A, Goyert S, Mason D, Miyasaka M, Moretta L, Okumara K, Shaw S, Springer T, Sugamura K, Zola H. (Eds). Leukocyte Typing VI. Garland Publishing, New York 1998: 1089.
- Buechler C, Ritter M, Orso E, Langmann T, Klucken J, Schmitz G. Regulation of scavenger receptor CD163 expression in human monocytes and macrophages by pro- and anti-inflammatory stimuli. J Leukoc Biol 2000; 66: 97-103.
- Zwadlo KG, Bent S, Haubeck HD, Sorg C, Schmutzler W. Glucocorticoid-induced appearance of the macrophage RM 3/1 in peripheral blood of man. Int Arch Allergy Appl Immunol 1990; 91: 175-180.
- Kristiansen M, Graversen JH, Jacobsen C, Sonne O, Hoffman JH, Law SKA et al. Identification of the haemoglobin scavenger receptor. Nature 2001; 409: 198-201 (Letter).
- Langlois MR, Delanghe JR. Biological and clinical significance of haptoglobin polymorphsim in humans. Clin Chem 1996; 42(10): 1589-1600.
- Langlois MR, Martin ME, Boelaert JR, Beaumont C, Taes YE, De Buyzere ML et al. The haptoglobin 2-2 phenotype affects serum markers of iron status in healthy males. Clin Chem 2000; 46(10): 1619-1625.
- Cairo G, Recalcati S, Montosi G, Castrusini E, Conte D, Pietrangelo A. Inappropriately high iron regulatory protein activity in monocytes of patients with genetic hemochromatosis. Blood 1997; 89: 2546-2553.
- Moura E, Noordermeer MA, Verhoeven N, Verheul AFM, Marx JM. Iron release from human monocytes after erythrophagocytosis in vitro: an investigation in normal subjects and hereditary hemochromatosis patients. Blood 1998; 92: 2511-2519.
- 11. Smithies O. Zone electrophoresis in starch gels: group variations in the serum proteins of normal human adults. Biochem J 1955; 61: 629-641.
- 12. Feder JN, Gnirke A, Thomas W, Tsuchihashi Z, Ruddy DA, Basava A et al. A novel MHC class Hike gene is mutated in patients with hereditary haemochromatosis. Nat Genet 1996; 13: 399-408.
- Jeffrey GP, Chakrabarti S, Hegele R, Adams PC. Polymorphism in intron 4 of HFE may cause overestimation of C282Y homozygote prevalence in haemochromatosis. Nat Genet 1999; 22: 325-326.
- Sommerville MJ, Sprysak KA, Hicks M, Elyas BD, VicenWyhony L. An HFE intronic variant promotes misdiagnosis of hereditary hemochromatosis (Letter). Am J Hum Genet 1999; 65: 924-926.
- 15. Schoonjans F, Zalata A, Depuydt CE, Comhaire FH. Medcalc : a new computer program for medical statistics. Comput Methods Programs Biomed 1995; 48: 257-262.
- Gerhard GS, Ten Elshof AE, Chorney MJ. Hereditary haemochromatosis is an immunological disease. Br J Haematol 1998; 100: 247-255.

- 17. Moura E, Verheul AFM, Marx JJM. A functional defect in hereditary hemochromatosis monocytes and monocyte-derived macrophages. Eur J Clin Inv 1998; 28: 164-173.
- Andreesen R, Picht J, Lohr GW. Primary cultures of human blood-born macrophages on hydrophobic teflon membranes. J Immunol Methods 1983; 56: 295-304.
- Angelucci E, Britterham GM, McLaren CE, Ripalti M, Baronciani D, Giardini C et al. Hepatic iron concentration and total body iron stores in thalassemia major. N Eng J Med 2000; 343: 327-331.

Table 1.

Serum iron studies and percentage of CD163+CD33+ monocytesmacrophages for the total group of healthy male volunteers, patients with hereditary and secondary hemochromatosis.

	Healthy	Hereditary	Secondary	Reference
	volunteers	hemochromatosis	hemochromatosis	range
	(n=30)	(n=16)	(n=5)	
Serum iron	21 ± 6	$28 \pm 14*$	25 ± 7	7 - 22
(µmol/l)				
Serum iron	37 (27-45)	57 (33-95)**	77 (69-85) ^{\$}	Female <52
saturation (%)				Male <62
Serum ferritin	131	162***	2965 ^{\$\$}	36 - 262
(µg/l)	(104-198)	(68-370)	(2325-4195)	
Percentage	54 ± 22	67 ± 23	58 ± 27	
CD163+CD33+				
monocytes-				
macrophages				

Variables with a normal distribution are presented as mean \pm standard deviation.

Variables with a non-Gaussian distribution are presented as median and interquartile range.

- * p<0.02 versus control population
- ** p<0.01 versus control population
- *** p<0.01 versus patients with secondary hemochromatosis
- ^{\$} p<0.01 versus control population
- ^{\$\$} p<0.01 versus control population

Table 2.

Serum iron studies, haptoglobin concentration and percentage CD163+CD33+ monocytes-macrophages in healthy male volunteers according the haptoglobin phenotype.

	Hp 1-1	Нр 2-1	Нр 2-2	Reference
	(n=6)	(n=16)	(n=8)	Range
Serum iron	18 ± 6	21 ± 6	20 ± 7	7 - 22
(µmol/l)				
Serum iron	32 (28-36)	40 (30-48)	36 (24-48)	Female <52
Saturation (%)				Male <62
Serum ferritin	133 (103-231)	163 (114-185)	153 (70-259)	36-262
(µg/l)				
Haptoglobin	1.23 ± 0.25	0.94 ± 0.27	0.69 ± 0.21	0.38 - 2.27
concentration				
(g/l)*				
Percentage	54 ± 27	53 ± 25	58 ± 18	
CD163+CD33+				
monocytes-				
macrophages				

* p<0.01 (Kruskal-Wallis test).

Variables with a normal distribution are presented as mean \pm standard deviation.

Variables with a non-Gaussian distribution are presented as median and interquartile range.



Figure 1.

FACS (fluorescent activated cell sorter) dot plot of CD163+ CD33+ monocytesmacrophages (right upper quadrant).

CHAPTER IV

ASSOCIATION BETWEEN Cys282Tyr MISSENSE MUTATION AND HAPTOGLOBIN PHENOTYPE POLYMORPHISM IN PATIENTS WITH CHRONIC HEPATITIS C

Association between Cys282Tyr missense mutation and haptoglobin phenotype polymorphism in patients with chronic hepatitis C

Hans Van Vlierberghe^a, Joris R. Delanghe^b, Sylvia De Bie^c, Marleen Praet^d, An De Paepe^c, Ludwine Messiaen^c, Martine De Vos^a and Geert Leroux-Roels^b

Introduction In patients with chronic hepatitis C infection, the haptoglobin (Hp) 1-1 phenotype is overrepresented. Data regarding the occurrence of the Cys282Tyr missense mutation in these patients are less clear. We studied the prevalence of both variables in a cohort of patients with chronic hepatitis C and looked for interaction between the two variables.

Materials and methods The study group consisted of 142 patients chronically infected with the hepatitis C virus. All patients were examined for the occurrence of the Cys282Tyr missense mutation, and in 132 of them the Hp phenotype was determined.

The Cys282Tyr missense mutation was detected by restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) using a standard polymerase chain reaction (PCR) technique and *Rsal* digestion. Hp phenotypes were determined using starch gel electrophoresis of haemoglobin-supplemented serum followed by peroxidase staining.

Results A significant overrepresentation of the Hp 1-1 phenotype was found (36/132, 27%, P < 0.01 v. control population). This overrepresentation was observed only in the patients homozygous for the wild-type allele of the HFE gene. The Cys282Tyr allele was significantly overrepresented in hepatitis C patients (0.12 v. 0.07, P<0.05) and principally in patients with the Hp 2-1 and 2-2 phenotypes.</p>

Conclusion In patients with chronic hepatitis C infection, both the Hp 1-1 and the Cys282Tyr allele occur more frequently than in a control population. Remarkably, these genes seem to determine each other's occurrence, such that the overrepresentation of the Hp 1-1 phenotype is seen only in Cys282Tyr-negative subjects, while the overrepresentation of the Cys282Tyr allele is observed in Hp 1-1-negative subjects. Differences in immunomodulating and in exidative stress-inducing capacities between the two genes may explain this finding. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol* 13:1077-1081 © 2001 Lippincott Williams & Wilkins

European Journal of Gastroenterology & Hepatology 2001, 13:1077-1081

Keywords: Cys282Tyr missense mutation, haptoglobin phenotype, hepatitis C

Departments of *Gastroenterology and Hepatology, *Medical Genetics, *Clinical Chemistry and *Pathology, Ghent University Hospital, Ghent, Belgium

Correspondence to H. Van Vilseberghe, Department of Gastroenterology and Hepstology, Ghent University Hospital, 1K12E, De Pintelaan 185, B-9000 Ghent, Belgium Tet: +32.9 240 23 71; fpsc: + 32.9 240 49 84; e-mail hens vanvilarberghe @rug ao be

Received 30 October 2000 Revised 7 February 2001 Accepted 5 March 2001

Introduction

The seroprevalence of chronic hepatitis C virus infection is approximately 1-3% of the population in Western Europe and the USA. Administration of blood and blood derivatives (before 1990) and intravenous drug abuse are the main routes of transmission [1]. After an acute infection, 60-80% of infected people evolve towards chronicity. Differences in viral factors (genotype, viral load) and/or host factors (immune response) seem to influence the outcome of a hepatitis C virus infection [2–4].

Several studies suggest an association between chronic hepatitis C and haemochromatosis; people with the haemochromatosis gene have a more severe course of the hepatitis C infection [5–9]. Inherited haemochro-

0954-691X to 2001 Lippincott Williams & Wilkins

matosis, which is an inborn error of iron metabolism, affects 1 in 200-400 people living in Belgium.

Recently, two missense mutations in the HFE gene, responsible for haemochromatosis, have been described [10]. One mutation results in a substitution of tyrosine for cysteine, a highly conserved residue at position 282 of the HFE protein (Cys282Tyr). This mutation is responsible for 81–91% of hereditary haemochromatosis cases in the USA, Western and Central Europe, and Australia.

In Belgium, this mutation was found in 94% of patients with hereditary haemochromatosis [11]. The role of the second missense mutation resulting in a replacement of histidine at residue 63 by aspartic acid (His63Asp) is still controversial. It is unlikely that this second mutation alone is able to cause iron overload [12].

Haptoglobin (Hp) is an alpha 2 globulin (alpha 2sialoglycoprotein) present in human plasma. Three different phenotypes can be distinguished: Hp 1-1, Hp 2-1 and Hp 2-2. Hp is capable of binding haemoglobin to prevent both iron loss and kidney damage during haemolysis [13]. Moreover, it is also known that individuals carrying the Hp 2-2 phenotype display a more vigorous immune response to different stimuli than subjects with the 1-1 phenotype [13]. Recently, we found an overrepresentation of subjects with the Hp 1-1 phenotype in a cohort of patients suffering from chronic hepatitis G [14], and suggested that the differences in the immunomodulating capacities of the Hp phenotypes influenced the clinical evolution of the hepatitis G infection.

The aim of our study is to examine whether there is an interaction between the Hp phenotype and the HFE genotype in patients with chronic hepatitis C infection.

Materials and methods

Study population

The studied patient population consisted of 142 consecutive patients of Belgian ancestry (68 women, 74 men) with untreated chronic hepatitis C with a mean age of 48 years (range 19-76). The diagnosis of hepatitis C was based on elevated alanine aminotransferase (ALT) levels, and the presence of hepatitis C antibodies and HCV RNA in the serum. The transmission mode was transfusion related in 79 patients, due to intravenous drug abuse in 30 patients, and unknown in 33 patients. The genotype of the virus was HCV 1a or 1b in 115 patients (81%). In 111 patients a liver biopsy was performed. Forty-eight (43%) patients had chronic persistent hepatitis, 63 (57%) patients had chronic active hepatitis, and 30 (27%) patients had evidence of cirrhosis. None of the patients had clinical evidence of porphyria cutanea tarda.

Patients with previously known hepatitis B infection, alcoholic liver disease, hereditary haemochromatosis, autoimmune liver disease, primary biliary cirrhosis and other forms of chronic liver disease were excluded. Patients with chronic alcohol abuse (>70 g alcohol daily) were also excluded.

Control population

A total of 196 healthy, unrelated, Caucasian people of Belgian ancestry with unknown iron status served as controls for the determination of the prevalence of the Cys282Tyr missense mutation. Reference values for Hp phenotype distribution were obtained from a group of 1000 healthy Caucasian blood donors of Belgian ancestry [15].

Detection of the Cys282Tyr missense mutation

In 142 patients, the Cys282Tyr missense mutation was searched for according to the method described by Feder et al. [10]. In short, after extraction of genomic DNA from peripheral blood mononuclear cells or buccal cells, DNA was amplified by PCR technique. After amplification, these fragments were investigated further by restriction enzyme digestion followed by agarose gel electrophoresis. The missense mutation Cvs282Tvr resulted in an additional restriction site for the restriction enzyme Rsal. Homozygotes, heterozygotes or normals were recognized easily. Recently, a polymorphism in intron 4 of HFE was described causing an overestimation of the Cys282Tyr homozygote prevalence in haemochromatosis. We re-examined all samples using a new antisense primer that excluded the site of the new polymorphism [16,17].

Determination of the haptoglobin phenotype

In 132 patients, the Hp phenotypes were determined using starch gel electrophoresis of haemoglobin-supplemented serum followed by peroxidase staining [18]. In 127 patients, both the Cys282Tyr missense mutation and the Hp phenotype could be determined.

Statistics

The allele frequency of both genes (HFE and Hp) was calculated by the following formula;

Allele frequency =

(2 × number of homozygotes) + number of heterozygotes 2 × total number of individuals

For the Cys282/Tyr and the Hp phenotype distribution, the validity of the Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium was tested using the Chi-squared test. For dichotomous variables, the Chi-squared test was used. *P* values of < 0.05 were considered significant. When multiple comparisons were made, a correction of the *P* value was made [19]:

$$Pc = 1 - [(1 - P)n]$$

where Pc is the corrected P value, P is the uncorrected P value, and n is the number of comparisons.

Results

Cys282Tyr missense mutation

The results of the Cys282Tyr missense mutation for the patient and control groups are shown in Table 1. The results of the control group are in agreement with the Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium. There is no difference in results when the Feder technique is compared with the technique using the new antisense primer, which excluded the new polymorphism site. An overrepresentation of the Cys282Tyr allele is found in our

Table 1 Distribution of the Cys282Tyr missense mutation in patients and controls

Cys282Tyr	Patients (n = 142)	Controls (n = 196)
-1-	114 (B0%)	171 (87%)
+1-	21 (15%)	28 (12%)
+/+	7 (5%)	2(196)
Cys282Tyr allele frequency	0.12*	0.07

* P=0.02.

group of patients (allele frequency of 0.12 v, 0.07 in the control group; Chi-squared 5.21, P = 0.02). However, this overrepresentation is due completely to an excess of Cys282Tyr homozygous patients.

Haptoglobin polymorphism

The Hp phenotype distribution in the patient and control groups is shown in Table 2. The results in the control group are in agreement with the Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium. In the hepatitis C group, there is a significant overrepresentation of the Hp 1-1 phenotype (Chi-squared 9.578, $P \le 0.01$; RR, 1.7, 95% CI 1.25–2.33). According to these data, the Hp 1 allele frequency is 0.48 (v. 0.40 in the control population; Chi-squared 6.0, $P \le 0.05$).

Cys282Tyr missense mutation and haptoglobin phenotype interaction

When the distribution of the Hp 1-1 phenotype is compared amongst the different HFE genotypes, the overrepresentation of this phenotype is only present in the group of patients homozygous for the wild-type allele (Chi-squared 10.38, P < 0.01, Pc < 0.01 v. control population; Table 3). This results in an overrepresentation of the Hp 1 allele frequency in this group of 0.50 (c. expected: 0.40, Chi-squared 7.13, P < 0.01, Pc = 0.01 v, control population; Table 3). This overrepresentation is not found in the patients heterozygous or homozygous for the Cys282Tyr missense mutation. This may be due to the smaller number of patients included in these subgroups. However, when the data of these two groups are cumulated, Hp 1-1 is still not overrepresented (Table 3). When Cys282Tyr homozygous patients are left out of this analysis, the data remain comparable (Table 3).

On the other hand, when the distribution of the

Table 2 Distribution of the haptoglobin (Hp) phenotypes in patients and controls

Hp phenotype	Patients (n = 132)	Controls (n = 1000)
1-1	36* (27%)	160 (16%)
2.1	55 (42%)	480 (48%)
2.2	41 (31%)	3.60 (36%)
Hp 1 allele frequency	0.48**	0.40
Hp 2 allele frequency	0.52	0.60

* P < 0.01; ** P < 0.05.

Table 3 Haptoglobin (Hp) 1 allele frequency and Hp 1-1 phenotype frequency in patients with chronic hepatitis C and with different HFE genotypes

Cys282Tyr genotype	Hp 1 freq	uency	Hp 1-1 frequency	
Cya282Tyr -/ Cya282Tyr +/ and +/+	103/206* 19/48	(50%) (40%)	30/103** 5/24	
Cys282Tyr +/	14/36	(3996)	4/18	

* $P < 0.01, \ Pc = 0.01 \ \nu. \ control \ population; ** P < 0.01, \ Pc < 0.01 \ \nu. \ control \ population.$

Cys282Tyr genotype is compared amongst the Hp phenotypes, the Cys282Tyr allele frequency in the group of patients with the Hp 1-1 phenotype is not different from the control group (0.085 v. 0.07, Chi-squared 0.06, P = NS). The overrepresentation of the Cys282Tyr allele only becomes significant in the Hp 2-1 and 2-2 phenotypes (Cys282Tyr allele frequency 0.13, Chi-squared 5.142, P = 0.02, Pc = 0.04 v, control population; Tables 1 and 4).

Clinical correlation

There was no association between either Hp phenotype or Cys282/Tyr missense mutation and histological severity of liver disease, biochemical abnormalities (ALT level, aspartate aminotransferase (AST) level) or abnormalities in serum iron levels (serum iron level, serum iron saturation, serum ferritin level) (data not shown).

Discussion

Patients infected with the hepatitis C virus have a 60– 80% chance of developing chronic hepatitis. Several host and viral factors determine the evolution of the infection [2–4]. In particular, the quality of the virusspecific immune response seems to determine the outcome of the disease. Since the HFE genotype and the Hp phenotype are two genetic factors that directly and indirectly influence the immune system, we examined the presentation of, and interaction between, these two genes in patients with naive chronic hepatitis C virus infection.

In 142 patients suffering from chronic hepatitis C infection, we observed a significant overrepresentation of the Cys282Tyr missense mutation (allele frequency 0.12). The allele frequency of this mutation in our

Table 4 Frequency of the Cys282Tyr mutation in chronic hepatilis C patients with different haptoglobin (Hp) phenotypes

Hp phenotype	Cys282Tyr allele frequency	
6/70 (8.5%)		
Hp 2-1 and 2-2	24/184* (13%)	

* P = 0.02, Pc = 0.04 v. control population.

control group was 0.07, which is in accordance with the prevalence of this allele in Western Europe [20]. However, the overrepresentation of the Cys282Tyr allele is largely the consequence of an overrepresentation of Cys282Tyr homozygous patients. This could be interpreted as a selection bias. Patients, however, were selected on HCV positivity, not on the presence or absence of the HFE mutation.

Hezode et al., examining a group of patients chronically infected with the hepatitis C virus, did not see an overrepresentation of the Cys282Tyr allele in their study group, whereas the frequency of the mutation in their control group was comparable to our data [6,9]. However, in this French group of patients, only 9% had cirrhosis compared with 27% in our cohort. It is unlikely that this difference reflects a more aggressive course of the disease as a consequence of the HFE missense mutation, since in our group of patients cirrhosis was observed with the same frequency in the different HFE genotypes (data not shown). No differences in the occurrence of fibrosis in the different HFE genotypes were seen in an Austrian study [5] or the aforementioned French study [9]. However, in a British survey [8], the rate of fibrosis was higher in subjects carrying the Cys282Tyr allele. The small number of patients heterozygous for the Cys282Tyr missense mutation in this British trial may explain the discrepancy with our and other investigators' data.

The overrepresentation of the Cys282Tyr allele in patients with chronic hepatitis C could explain the differences in immunomodulating capacities predisposing an individual to a chronic infection. Indeed, multiple changes in immune response are described in genetic haemochromatosis, People with inherited haemochromatosis and high ferritin levels have an abnormally high GD4/CD8 ratio [21]. Less activated T-cells [22] and low CD8 cells (in peripheral blood and liver) [23] are correlated with high iron stores. Lower CD8+CD28+ cells are found in haemochromatosis patients who are more prone to develop cirrhosis [24]. The presence of the Cys282Tyr missense mutation may result in an inferior host immune response in patients infected with the hepatitis C virus [20].

We have also found an overrepresentation of the Hp 1-1 phenotype in our cohort of patients. This confirms our previous observation in a different patient group [14]. Hp occurs in three phenotypic forms: Hp 1-1, Hp 2-1 and Hp 2-2. Each of these phenotypes has different functional capacities. The beta chain of the Hp molecule has been demonstrated to bind to CD22, a B-cell adhesion glycoprotein. CD22 mediates B-cell interactions with crythrocytes, T-lymphocytes, monocytes, neutrophils and endothelial cells [25–30]. Flow-cytometric analysis shows that Hp 1-1, 2-1 and 2-2 bind the cell surface of human lymphocytes with equal affinity [31]. However, the saturation of the CD22 molecules depends on Hp type because of differences in molar concentrations required. Therefore, more free CD22 binding sites are estimated in Hp 2-2 blood [32]. This may result in better binding properties between B-cells and other immune cells. Hp also has antibody-like properties. Köhler and Prokop have demonstrated that Streptomecus progenes group A, carrying the T4 antigen, can be agglutinated by human serum from Hp 2-2 and Hp 2-1 individuals, the Hp 2-2 serum having higher agglutination titres than the Hp 2-1 serum. In contrast, Hp 1-1 has no agglutination effect [33,34]. Subjects carrying the Hp 1-1 phenotype have lower peripheral B-lymphocyte counts and CD4+ lymphocyte counts than subjects carrying the Hp 2-2 phenotype [33]. Therefore, we can postulate that people with the Hp 1-1 phenotype have a lower cellular and humoral immune response towards the hepatitis C virus when compared with the Hp 2-1 and 2-2 phenotype, resulting in a higher tendency to chronicity.

However, the properties of the Hp phenotype are clearly influenced by the presence or absence of the Cys282Tyr allele. Where both the Hp 1 allele frequency and the Cvs282Tyr allele frequency are overrepresented in our group of patients, carrying both the Cys282Tyr allele and the Hp 1 allele does not result in a higher risk towards chronicity (Tables 3 and 4). Moreover, in the absence of the Cys282Tyr missense mutation, the Hp phenotype determines the risk to develop a chronic hepatitis C infection. Indeed, only in this group of patients is a significant overrepresentation of the Hp 1-1 phenotype found. This overrepresentation is not seen in patients carrying the Cys282Tyr missense mutation (Table 3). In addition, we observe a significantly higher Cys282Tyr allele frequency in the group of patients with the Hp 2-1 and 2-2 phenotype (Table 4). This overrepresentation is not found in the group of patients with the Hp 1-I phenotype. We assume that the higher oxidative stress that is present both in individuals with the Cys282Tyr allele and the Hp 2-1 or 2-2 phenotype results in a higher risk in this subgroup of patients to develop a chronic hepatitis C infection. A linkage disequilibrium between the two variables is unlikely since both variables are located on different chromosomes.

In summary, we observed a significant overrepresentation of both the Hp 1-1 phenotype and the Cys282Tyr allele in a cohort of patients with untreated chronic hepatitis C infection. The overrepresentation of the Hp 1-1 phenotype is seen only in the HFE wild-type group. The overrepresentation of the Cys282Tyr allele is observed only in the Hp 2-1 and 2-2 phenotypes. Differences in immunological and oxidative stress capacities may explain the modifying character of the Cys282Tyr gene on the Hp phenotype.

References

- Alter MJ, Kruszon-Moran D, Nainan OV, McQuillan GM, Gao F, Moyer LA, et al. The prevalence of hepetitis C virus infection in the United States. 1988 through 1994. N Engl J Med 1999; 341:549-555.
- Diepolder HM, Zachoval R, Hoffmann RM, Wierenga EA, Santantonio T, 2 Jung MC, et al. Possible mechanism involving T-lymphocyte response to non-structural protein 3 in viral clearance in acute hepatitis C virus infection, Lancet 1995: 346:1008-1007.
- Ferrari C, Valli A, Galati L, Penna A, Scaccaglia P, Giuberti T, et al T-cell response to structural and nonstructural hepatitis C virus antigens in persistent and self-limited hepatitis C virus infections. Hepatology 1994; 19:286-295.
- Diepolder HM, Gerlach JT, Zachoval R, Hoffmann RM, Jung MC, Wierenga EA, et al. Immunodominant CD4+ T-cell epitope within nonstructural
- protein 3 in acute hepatitis C virus infection. J Virol 1997; 71:6011-6019. Kazemi-Shirazi L, Detz C, Maier-Dobersberger T, Kaserer K, Hackl F, Poli 5 C, et al. The relation of iron status and hemochromatosis gene mutations in patients with chronic hepatitis C. Gastroenterology 1999; 116: 127-134
- Hezode C, Cazeneuve C, Coué O, Pawlotsky JM, Zaltani ES, Amselem S, et al. Hemochromatosis Cys202Tyr mutation and liver iron overload in patients with chronic active hepatitis C [Letter]. Hepatology 1998; 27:306.
- 7 Martinelli ALC, Franco RF, Vilanova MG, Araújo Fiho AB, Figueirodo JFC, Covas DT, at al. Haemochromatosis Cys282Tyr and Hs63Asp mutations in hepatitis C virus infections: correlation with ALT and iron serum levels
- [Abstract], J Hepath/1998; 28(suppl 1):211. Smith BC, Grove J, Guzail MA, Day CP, Daly AK, Burt AD, Bassendine * MF. Heterozygosity for hereditary hemochromatosis is associated with more fibrosis in chronic hepatitis C. Hepatology 1998; 27:1698–1699.
- Hezode C, Cazeneuve C, Coue O, Roudot-Thorasal F, Pawlotsky JM, Zahani ES, et al. Hemochromatosis C282Y mutation and histological 9 fibrosis in patients with C virus chronic hepatitis. Hepatology 1999; 29:1338-1339
- 10 Feder JN, Gnirke A, Thomas W, Tsuchiheahi Z, Ruddy DA, Beseva A, et al. A novel MHC class Hike gene is mutated in patients with hereditary haemochrometosis. Nat Genet 1996; 13:399 – 408.
- Van Vierberghe H, Massiaen L, Hautekeste M, De Paepe A, Bewaut A. Prevatence of the Cys282Tyr and His53Asp missense mutation in Flemish 11 patients with here ditary h chromatosis. Acta Gastroenterol Belg 2000; 63:250-253.
- Adams PC, Population screening for hemochromatosis. Hepatology 1999; 29:1324-1327. 12
- Langlois MR, Delanghe JR. Biological and clinical significance of haptoglo-bin polymorphism in humans. *Clin Chem* 1996; 42:1889–1800.
 Louagie HK, Brouwer JT, Delanghe JR, De Buyare ML, Iarour-Roela GG. Haptoglobin polymorphism and chronic hepatitis C. *J Nepatol* 1995; 25:10-14.
- 15 Delanghe J, Langlois M, Duprez D, De Buyzere M, Clement D. Haptoglobin polymorphism and peripheral arterial disease. Altherosolerosis 1999 145:287-292
- Jeffrey GP, Chakrabarti S, Hegele R, Adams PC. Polymorphism in intron 4 16 of HFE may cause overestimation of C282Y homozygote prevalence in haemochrometosis. Nat Ganet 1999; 22:325 - 326.
- 17 Somerville MJ, Sprysak KA, Hicks M, Elyas BG, VicenWyhony L. An HFE intronic variant promotea misdiagnosis of hereditary hemochromatosis [Letter]. Am J Hum Genet 1999: 65:924-926.
- Smithies O. Zone electrophoresis in starch gels: group variation arum proteins of normal human adulta. Biochem J 1955; 61 629-641.
- 19 Svejgaard A, Ryder LP. HLA and disease associations: detecting the strongest association. Tissue Antigens 1994; 43:18-27.
- 20 De Sousa M, Porto G. The immunological system in J Hepatol 1998; 28:1-7.
- 21 Porto G, Reimao R, Gonçalves C, Vincente C, Justiçca B, de Sousa M. Haemochromatosis as a window into the study of the immunological system: a novel correlation between CD8+ lymphocytes and iron overload. Eur J Haematol 1994; 25:283-290.
- 22 Moura E. Uptake and release of iron by monocytes and macrophages. PhD thesis, University of Utrecht; 1997.
- 23 Porto G, Vincente C, Teiseira MA, Martins O, Cabeda JM, Lazerda R, et al. Relative impact of HLA phenotype and CD4–CD8 ratios on the clinical expression of hemochromatosis. *Hepatology* 1997; 25:397–402.
- Arosa FA, Oliveira L, Porto G, da Silva BM, Kruijer W, Veltman J, et al Anomalias of the CD8+ T cell pool in haemochromatosis. HArA3 inked expansions of the CD8+ CD28 - T cells. *Clin Exp Immunol* 1997; 107:548-554
- 25 Hanasaki K, Powall LD, Varki A. Binding of human plasma sialoglycopro-teins by the B cell specific lectin CD22. Selective recognition of immunoglobulin M and haptoglobin. J Biol Chem 1995; 270:7543-7550.

- 26 Barclay AN, Birkeland ML, Brown MH, Beyers AD, Davis SJ, Somoza C, Williams AF (editors). The Leucocyte Antigen Facts Book. London: Academic Press: 1993.
- 27 Kehrl JH. CD22 workshop panel report. In: Leucocyte Typing V. Proceedings of the Fifth International Workshop on Human Leucocyte Differentiaon Antigens. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 1995. pp. 523-525.
- 9亩 Powell LD. Sproi D. Sjoberg ER. Stamenkovic I. Varki A. Natural ligands of the B cell adhesion molecule CD22beta carry N-Inted oligosaccharides with alls 2.6-linked sialic acids that are required for recognition. J Biol Chem 1993; 268:7019-7027. Stamenkovic I, Seed B. The B cell antigen CD22 mediates monocyte and
- 29 enthrocyte adhesion. Nature 1990; 345:74-77. Engel P, Nojma Y, Rothstein D, Zhou L-J, Wilson GL, Kehri JH, Tedder TF.
- 30 The same epitope on CD22 of B lymphocytes mediates the adhesion of enthrocytes, T and B lymphocytes, neutrophils and monocytes / mmwrai 1993; 150:4719-4732.
- 31 Oh SK, Pavlotski N, Tauber AL. Specific binding of heptoglobin to human neutrophils and its functional consequences. J Leukoc Biol 1990; 47:142-148
- Langlois M, Delanghe J, Philippe J, Ouyang J, Bernard D, De Buyzere M, et 32 a) Distribution of lymphocyte subsets in bone marrow and peripheral blood is associated with haptoglabin type. Eur J Clin Chem Clin Biochem 1997; 35:199-205
- 33 Köhler W, Prokop O. Relationship between heptoglobin and Streptococ-
- cus pyogenes T4 antigera (Letter). Nature 1978; 271:373.
 Prokop O, Köhler W. Haptoglobins act similar to antibodies. Zentrath/ Gynakol 1979; 101:1111 1116.

CHAPTER V

FACTORS INFLUENCING RIBAVIRIN-INDUCED HAEMOLYSIS



Journal of Hepatology 34 (2001) 911-916

Journal of Hepatology

www.elsevier.com/locate/jhep

Factors influencing ribavirin-induced hemolysis

H. Van Vlierberghe^{1,*}, J.R. Delanghe², M. De Vos¹, G. Leroux-Roel², The members of the BASL Steering Committee⁹

¹Department of Gastroentevology, Ghem University Hospital, De Pintelaun 185, 9000 Ghent, Belgium ^bDepartment of Clinical Chemistry, Microbiology and Immunology, Ghent University Huspital, Ghent, Belgium

Background/Aims: One of the major side effects of the combination therapy for chronic hepatitis C is ribavirininduced hemolytic anemia. Little is known about variables influencing this anemia. Our study tried to search for these variables in a large group of patients with hepatitis C treated with the combination therapy.

Methods: Two hundred and forty-four patients chronically infected with the hepatitis C virus were treated either with induction treatment (daily dose of interferon) or with a standard treatment (interferon thrice weekly). Both groups received 1000–1200 mg of ribavirin from week 4 until the end of the treatment. The drop in hemoglobin level was defined as the difference between the pretreatment hemoglobin level and the hemoglobin level at week 8. Seventeen variables which could possibly influence this drop in hemoglobin level were examined.

Results: After multivariate analysis, the drop in hemoglobin level was only significant influenced by pretreatment platelet level, treatment and haptoglobin phenotype. The ribavirin dose did not influence the drop in hemoglobin level or the early virological response.

Conclusions: Ribavirin-induced hemolysis is influenced by the pretreatment platelet level, the administered amount of α -interferon and the haptoglobin phenotype. A careful search for the minimal dose of ribavirin needed in combination treatment is necessary.

© 2001 European Association for the Study of the Liver. Published by Elsevier Science B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Hemolytic anemia; Ribavirin; Hepatitis C; Combination therapy

1. Introduction

Today's treatment of patients with chronic hepatitis C consists of the combination of interferon- α and ribavirin. According to the genotype of the infecting virus, the presence or absence of liver cirrhosis and the pretreatment viral load, the duration of the treatment is either 6 or 12 months; the longer treatment is needed for the patients with genotype 1, cirrhosis and a high viral load (more than 2 million copies/ml) [1,2]. When the combination therapy is compared with interferon monotherapy, the number of adverse events is increased and withdrawals reach 20% for the 12 months of combination therapy versus 14% for a

12-month monotherapy. Dose reduction is common, and is mainly necessitated by anemia that occurs in 7–9% of the combination-treated patients [1,2]. It is generally accepted that the anemia is provoked by the ribavirin intake [3–7].

Ribavirin is a synthetic oral nucleoside analogue which is not only used for the treatment of patients with chronic hepatitis C, but has also been evaluated for a broad spectrum of DNA and RNA viruses in man [8]. The major toxicity associated with the use of ribavirin is hemolytic anemia. This adverse effect has been ascribed to the accumulation of ribavirin tripbosphate in the erythrocyte, which interferes with erythrocyte function [9].

Haptoglobin is an $\alpha 2$ -sialoglycoprotein with hemoglobinbinding capacity. After destruction of erythrocytes, the released hemoglobin is immediately captured by haptoglobin and the hemoglobin-haptoglobin complexes are instantly cleared by the reticuloendothelial system (e.g. liver). Exhaustion of haptoglobin occurs rapidly leading to the appearance of free hemoglobin in the circulation. Free

Received 15 September 2000; received in revised form 12 January 2001; accepted 24 January 2001

[†] Members of the Steering Committee of the BASL (Belgian Association for the Study of the Liver): N. Bourgeois, R. Brenard, I. Colle, J. Delwaide, J. Henrion, Y. Horsmans, P. Michielsen, F. Nevens, G. Robaeys.

^{*} Corresponding author. TeL: +32.9-240-2371; fax: +32.9-240-4984. E-mail address: hans.vanvlierberghe@rug.ac.be (H. Van Vlierberghe).

^{0168-8278/01/\$20.00 © 2001} European Association for the Study of the Liver, Published by Elsevier Science B.V. All rights reserved, PII: \$0168-8278(01)00029-0

hemoglobin passes through the glomerular filter, and may cause renal damage. In physiological conditions, serum Hp is saturated when approximately 500–1500 mg/l free hemoglobin is present. Due to a genetic polymorphism three major phenotypes of Hp occur: Hp 1-1, Hp 2-1 and Hp 2-2. Hemoglobin binding not only depends upon the haptoglobin concentration but also on the Hp phenotype. The complex formation of hemoglobin is less effective in Hp 2-2 [10]. Since little is known about the host, viral and treatment factors that may influence ribavirin-induced anemia. We have examined the influence of several variables on this side effect in a large cohort of chronic hepatitis C patients treated with the combination therapy. Special attention has been paid to the impact of the different haptoglobin (Hp) phenotypes on this phenomenon.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Patients

Two hundred and forty-four (244) patients with chronic hepatitis C, participating in a trial comparing induction therapy with standard treatment, were included. The diagnosis of chronic hepatitis C was made on the basis of elevated ALT activity (above the upper limit of normal) and the presence of HCV RNA in serum. Patients with cirrhosis belonged to the Child-Pugh A classification. Patients suffering from other chronic liver diseases and

Table 1 Pretreatment patient characteristics^a

Total number of patients	244
Gender (male/female)	156/88 (64/36%)
Age	Median: 43 years (range: 36-53)
Weight	Median: 73 kg (IQR: 64-82)
ALT	Median: 90 U/I (IQR: 61-149)
Leukocyte count	Median: 6100/µl
	(IQR: 5100-7480)
Platelet count	$208\ 000 \pm 65\ 000/\mu$ l
Body mass index	$25.0 \pm 4.5 \text{ kg/m}^2$
% Cirrhosis	12%
Treatment A/Treatment B	124/120 (51/49%)
HCV genotype	1: 181 (74%)
	2:9 (3.8%)
	3: 33 (13.4%)
	4:6 (2.5%)
	5: 13 (5.4%)
	Mixed: 2 (0.8%)
HCV RNA viral load	Median: 498 000 copies/ml
	(IQR: 203 700-> 500 000)
Hemoglobin level pretreatment	Median: 14.7 g/dl (IQR:
	13.3-15.5)
	Male: 14.7 g/dl
	Female: 13.2 g/dl
Haptoglobin level pretreatment	0.91 ± 0.51 g/l
Haptoglobin phenotype distribution	Hp 1-1: 41 (16.7%)
	Hp 2-1: 120 (49.4%)
	Hp 2-2: 83 (33.9%)
Ribavirin (in mg) administered/body	Median: 14.7 mg/kg
weight	(IQR: 13.7-15.9)

^a Variables with a normal distribution are expressed as mean ± standard deviation. Variables with a non-Gaussian distribution are expressed as median and IQR (interquartile range). hepatocellular carcinoma were excluded. In the induction arm of the trial (group A), patients received a daily dose of interferon- α 2b (Intron A) of 5 MU s.c. for the total duration of 8 weeks. In the control arm of the trial (group B), patients received interferon- α 2b 5 MU s.c. thrice weekly for the total duration of 8 weeks. After week 8 both groups received interferon- α 2b 3 MU s.c. thrice weekly for the total duration of 12 months. After 4 weeks both groups were given ribavirin per os at a daily dose of 1000–1200 mg (patients weighing less than 75 kg received 1000 mg; patients weighing more than 75 kg received 1200 mg).

Ribavirin was not administered at week 0 because when we started the trial, no data were available about the cumulative toxicity of high doses of interferon- α 2b and ribavirin. Therefore it was considered safer to wait for 4 weeks before starting ribavirin administration. Patients with major toxicity from high doses of interferon- α 2b could be selected before ribavirin was administered. However, after terminating the trial, the side effects in the high-dose interferon group were similar when compared with the standard combination arm (data not shown).

The patient pretreatment characteristics are shown in Table 1.

2.2. Methods

Hemoglobin levels were measured on an automated hematological analyzer. Anemia at week 8 was defined as a hemoglobin level of less than 13.3 g/dl for male patients, and less than 11.7 g/dl for female patients.

Serum Hp concentrations were assayed using Fixed-time immunonephelometry with a BN nephelometer (Behringwerke, Marburg, Germany) [12], and expressed according to IFCC standards [13]. Hp phenotypes were determined using starch gel electrophoresis of hemoglobin-supplemented serum followed by peroxidase staining [11].

Qualitative and quantitative Amplicor HCV tests (Roche Molecular Systems, Pleasanton, OR, USA) were used to detect and quantitate HCV genomes in the circulation.

2.3. Statistics

We decided to compare the hemoglobin levels between weeks 0 and 8 and between weeks 4 and 8. At that moment the patients had received ribavirin for 4 weeks which is long enough to observe the ribavirin-induced hemolysis. After the time point of week 8, no further drop in hemoglobin level was observed (Fig. 1). Week 8 was also considered as a better time point than week 12 or 16, since the trial protocol did not foresee dose reductions for ribavirin before this time point. The drop in hemoglobin level between week 0 and 8 is further called Δ Hb.

The influence of 17 variables on Δ Hb was examined. These 17 variables are: gender, age, body weight, body mass index (BMI), treatment schedule, pretreatment hemoglobin concentration, pretreatment acid concentration, pretreatment haptoglobin concentration, haptoglobin phenotype, pretreatment leukocyte and platelet counts, pretreatment ALT level, hepatitis C virus genotype, pretreatment viral load, presence or absence of cirrhosis, ribavirin dose (absolute and per kg body weight).

Since in clinical practice, ribavirin is started at the same time as inter-



Fig. 1. The hemoglobin level (x-axis) before treatment and at different time points during treatment (y-axis).

feron- α 2b, we also looked for the influence of these 17 variables on the drop in hemoglobin level between week 4 and 8.

We further examined whether there is any influence of the ΔHb on the early virological response (HCV RNA level at week 8; early response; undetectable HCV RNA level, no early response; detectable HCV RNA level).

Body mass index was calculated as follows: body weight $(kg)^{\prime}(length(m))^{2}$.

Statistics were performed using Medcalc version 5.00.002 [14]. Normality of the distribution of the different variables was tested using the Kolmogorov–Smimov test. Variables with a normal distribution are presented as mean \pm standard deviation. Variables with a non-Gaussian distribution are presented as median and 25–75th interquartile range. Parametric or nonparametric tests were used, according the distribution of the variable. *P* values of less than 0.05 were considered significant. Multivariate analysis using multiple regression was performed on those variables that were statistically significant in monovariate analysis.

3. Results

3.1. Pretreatment characteristics of the patients (Table 1)

The haptoglobin phenotype distribution was in accordance with the Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium; this distribution was comparable with the distribution seen in a control group of 1000 Caucasian blood donors [15]. The pretreatment haptoglobin concentration was higher in patients with the Hp 1-1 and Hp 2-1 phenotype (Hp 1-1: 1.06 ± 0.27 g/l; Hp 2-1: 1.06 ± 0.64 g/l) and lower in the patients with the Hp 2-2 phenotype (0.82 ± 0.4 g/l). This findings are in accordance with a control population [10].

3.2. Variables influencing the ΔHb

Anemia was present in 67.4% of the patients (n = 164/244) This percentage was not significantly different between males and females (70 vs. 62%, P = 0.2) In the total group of patients the mean Δ Hb is 2.5 \pm 1.4 g/dl. Only six of the variables had a statistically significant association with Δ Hb in monovariate analysis: gender, pretreatment hemoglobin level, pretreatment platelet count, pretreatment uric acid, treatment and haptoglobin phenotype (Table 2).

After multivariate analysis performed with multiple regression analysis only three variables remained statistically significant: treatment (induction or standard treat-

Table 2 Variables influencing ΔHb^*

Variable	P value in monovariate analysis	P value after multiple regression
Gender	0.003	NS
Platelet count	0.04	0.01
Treatment (A or B)	0.005	0.001
Pretreatment hemoglobin level	0.001	NA
Haptoglobin phenotype 1-1	0.01	0.01
Uric acid	0.04	NS

* NS, not significant; NA, not applicable.

ment), pretreatment platelet count and haptoglobin phenotype (Table 2). Since the pretreatment hemoglobin level was not independent of the Δ Hb, it was not included in the multiple regression analysis.

3.2.1. Pretreatment hemoglobin level

Patients with a higher pretreatment hemoglobin level had a larger Δ Hb (Spearman's coefficient of rank correlation = 0.385, P < 0.001). Although males had a greater pretreatment hemoglobin level than females (14.7 ± 2.2 g/dl vs. 13.2 ± 2.0 g/dl, P < 0.0001), a similar correlation was found in the two groups.

3.2.2. Treatment

Patients randomized to the induction arm of the trial (group A) suffered from a higher drop in hemoglobin level than the patients receiving the standard treatment (in group B) (2.7 \pm 1.4 g/dl vs. 2.2 \pm 1.3 g/dl, P = 0.005) (Fig. 2).

3.2.3. Pretreatment platelet count

Patients with an initially higher platelet count developed a lower drop in hemoglobin level after treatment. Patients with a pretreatment platelet count of less than 110 000/µl had a higher Δ Hb than the patients with a pretreatment platelet count of more than 110 000/µl (3.2 ± 1.9 g/dl vs. 2.4 ± 1.4 g/dl, P = 0.04) (Fig. 3). A higher platelet count was also seen in patients younger than 50 years (P = 0.001) of female gender (P < 0.001) and without cirrhosis (P < 0.001).

3.2.4. Haptoglobin phenotype

The drop in hemoglobin level between weeks 0 and 8 was higher in the patients carrying the Hp 1-1 phenotype as compared to those not carrying this phenotype $(3.1 \pm 1.5 \text{ g/dl} \text{ vs. } 2.4 \pm 1.4 \text{ g/dl}, P = 0.01)$ (Fig. 4). There was no



Fig. 2. Box-and-whisker plot comparing the ΔHb between induction treatment (left) and 'standard treatment' (right). In the Box-and-whisker plot, the central box represents the value from the lower to upper quartile (25th to 75th percentile). The middle line represents the median. The vertical line extends from the minimum to the maximum value, excluding 'outside' and 'far out' values which are displayed as separate points.



Fig. 3. Box-and-whisker plot comparing the Δ Hb between patients with platelet counts lower or higher than 110 000/µl.

difference in the Δ Hb between patients carrying the Hp 2-1 and Hp 2-2 phenotype (2.5 ± 1.4 g/dl vs. 2.2 ± 1.3 g/dl, P = 0.3).

3.2.5. Combination of risk factors

Only when haptoglobin phenotype and treatment schedule were combined were enough data available to perform statistical analysis. Subjects with the Hp 1-1 phenotype receiving the induction treatment turned out to have a higher Δ Hb than subjects not carrying these risk factors (3.8 ± 1.4 g/dl vs. 2.4 ± 1.4 g/dl, P < 0.001) (Fig. 5).

3.2.6. Variables influencing the drop in hemoglobin level between weeks 4 and 8

Apart from gender, which is in this situation not a significant variable, the other variables influencing the drop in hemoglobin level between weeks 4 and 8 are the same as the variables influencing the Δ Hb (difference between weeks 0 and 8).

3.2.7. Ribavirin dose and ΔHb

The lack of association between ribavirin dose (total dose and ribavirin dose/kg) is unexpected. There is no relation



Fig. 4. Box-and-whisker plot comparing the Δ Hb between patients carrying the Hp 1-1 phenotype (left) and patients not carrying this phenotype (right).



Fig. 5. Box-and-whisker plot comparing patients with the Hp 1-1 phenotype treated with the induction treatment and the patients with the Hp 2-1 and 2-2 phenotypes treated with standard treatment.

between the Δ Hb, the difference in hemoglobin level between weeks 4 and 8 and the ribavirin dose/kg (Table 3).

3.3. ΔHb and early virological response

Early virological response was seen in 56% of the patients (n = 136/244). A higher rate of early response was seen in the induction arm (65 vs. 41% in the standard arm, P < 0.01). Neither Δ Hb, total ribavirin dose nor ribavirin dose/kg of body weight had any influence upon the early virological response.

4. Discussion

Treatment with ribavirin, an oral nucleoside analogue, frequently induces hemolytic anemia and reticulocytosis [3–7]. Anemia is a frequent finding, occurring in 67% of our patients. Little is known about the risk factors for hemolytic anemia in patients treated for chronic hepatitis C. In a large group of patients with chronic hepatitis C, we examined which variables might influence the magnitude of this anemia and should induce special alertness when administering ribavirin to patients. Week 8 was considered an ideal time point, because (a) no further drop in hemoglobin level was observed after week 8; (b) according to trial protocol, no dose reductions in ribavirin were foreseen before that time point. A higher drop in hemoglobin is seen in patients with a higher pretreatment hemoglobin level, lower



Drop in hemoglobin level between week 0 and week 8 ($\Delta Hb)$ and between weeks 4 and 8 (ΔHb 4–8)

Ribavirin dose (mg/kg)	ΔHb (mean \pm SD) (g/dl)	Δ Hb 4–8 (mean \pm SD) (g/dl)
<13.5	2.57 ± 1.23	1.87 ± 1.22
13.5-14.6	2.64 ± 1.43	1.80 ± 1.57
14.6-15.8	2.51 ± 1.53	1.76 ± 1.36
>15.8	2.46 ± 1.47	1.85 ± 1.33

pretreatment platelet counts, the Hp 1-1 phenotype and induction treatment. The correlation between the pretreatment hemoglobin level and the Δ Hb seems logical and can be explained by the fact that the hemolysis associated with ribavirin breaks down a certain proportion of the available erythrocytes pool (approximately 17%). Higher absolute drops in the hemoglobin level will therefore be observed in subjects with the higher pretreatment hemoglobin levels. When the Δ Hb is expressed as a percentage of the pretreatment hemoglobin levels, the decline is the same in both cases.

After multiple regression with exclusion of the dependent variable (pretreatment hemoglobin level), three variables remained to have a statistically significant present influence on the severity of the anemia (Δ Hb). These were pretreatment platelet counts, treatment regimen and the haptoglobin phenotype.

Patients with lower platelet counts had a significantly higher drop in hemoglobin level than those with higher counts. Low platelet counts were also seen in particular in older male patients with cirrhosis. The low pretreatment platelet count can be considered as a hallmark of the presence of liver cirrhosis with hypersplenism. Although the histological diagnosis of cirrhosis does not seem to influence the drop in hemoglobin level, it appears that the clinical expression of cirrhosis with the associated hypersplenism, as expressed by a lower platelet count [16], is a risk factor to develop a more severe ribavirininduced anemia. Patients receiving a higher dose of interferon-a (group A or the induction treatment group) also have a higher drop in hemoglobin level than those receiving lower doses. This again is not surprising, since interferon-a is known to be myelosuppressive and a cause of anemia when given in higher doses [17].

Somewhat surprising is the fact that the haptoglobin phenotype has an impact on the ribavirin-induced hemolysis. The three haptoglobin phenotypes have not only different properties concerning protection against free radicals, bacteriostatic effects, angiogenesis, inhibition of nitric oxide and prostaglandin synthesis [18], but the three phenotypes have also different hemoglobin binding capacities. In normal circumstances individuals with the Hp 1-1 phenotype are more effective in handling episodes of hemolysis. In healthy controls, hemoglobin-binding capacity was highest in Hp 1-1, intermediate in Hp 2-1 and lowest in Hp 2-2 [10]. In our group of patients treated with ribavirin, we find a higher drop in hemoglobin level in the Hp 1-1 phenotype. The explanation of this phenomenon is rather speculative: differences in uptake or competition in uptake of ribavirin between the different Hp phenotypes could be one explanation, although until this moment proof is lacking.

The combination of risk factors increases the risk to develop an important drop in hemoglobin level. Patients with the Hp 1-1 phenotype who are treated with induction treatment have a higher Δ Hb than the patients not exposed to these risk factors. Since the haptoglobin phenotype is easy to perform (see Section 2) and is a non-expensive test (2.5 Euros per test), we think that before starting high-dose interferon treatment in patients with low platelet counts, this test should be performed. If the haptoglobin phenotype demonstrates an additional risk (e.g. Hp 1-1) to develop anemia, the clinician can decide to give a lower interferon dose. Also it would seem relevant that patients with the more sensitive haptoglobin phenotype are considered for lower doses of ribavirin. Further exploration of the clinical utility in this situation using higher and lower doses of ribavirin should be considered.

We could not examine the combined effect of the haptoglobin phenotype and the induction treatment with the pretreatment platelet count, because of the limited number of patients carrying these factors.

The ribavirin dose administered to treat chronic hepatitis C is rather arbitrary. The present finding that neither the total dose of ribavirin nor the dose of ribavirin per kg body weight has influence on the degree of hemolysis or on the early virological response should open the discussion to which amount of ribavirin is needed to obtain an optimal response in the combination treatment of patients with chronic hepatitis C.

To summarize, we can conclude that ribavirin-induced hemolysis in patients with chronic hepatitis C is influenced by the pretreatment platelet counts, the administered amount of α -interferon and the haptoglobin phenotype. In patients with the Hp 1-1 phenotype, induction treatment with interferon and ribavirin can result in a higher drop in hemoglobin level when compared with non Hp 1-1 patients treated with standard combination treatment. Since the drop in hemoglobin level and the early virological response are not influenced by the dose of ribavirin, a careful search for the minimal dose of ribavirin needed in combination therapy in patients with chronic hepatitis C is warranted.

References

- [1] Poynard T, Marcellin P, Lee S, Niederau C, Minuk GS, Ideo G, et al. Randomised trial of interferon-α-2b plus ribavirin for 48 weeks or for 24 weeks versus interferon-α-2b plus placebo for 48 weeks for treatment of chronic infection with hepatitis C virus. Lancet 1998;352:1426–1432.
- [2] McHutchison J, Gordon S, Schiff E, Shiffman M, Lee W, Rustgi V, et al. Interferon oc-2b alone or in combination with ribavirin as initial treatment for chronic hepatitis C. New Engl J Med 1998;339:1485– 1492.
- [3] Jaap S, Martin P. Hemolytic anemia and the treatment of chronic hepatitis C. J Clin Gastroenterol 1999;28(4):289–290.
- [4] Tappero G, Ballare M, Furina M, Negro F. Severe anemia following combined alpha-interferon/tibavirin therapy of chronic hepatitis C (letter). J Hepatol 1998;29(6):1033–1034.
- [5] Di Bisceglie AM, Shindo M, Fong TL, Fried MW, Swain MG, Bergasa NV, et al. A pilot study of ribavirin therapy for chronic hepatitis C. Hepathlogy 1992;16(3):649–654.
- [6] Main J. Future studies of combination therapy for chronic hepatitis C: optimizing response rates for each hepatitis C population. J Hepatol 1995;23(Suppl 2):32–35.

- [7] Reichard O, Schvarcz R, Weiland O. Therapy of hepatitis C: alpha interferon and ribavirin. Hepatology 1997;26(3 Suppl 1):1085–1115.
- [8] Spurrelid E, Ljungman P, Ekelof-Andstrom E, Aschan J, Ringden O, Winiarski J, et al. Ribavirin therapy in bone marrow transplant recipients with viral respiratory tract infections. Bone Marrow Transplant 1997;19(9):905–908.
- [9] Jarvis SM, Thom JA, Glue P. Ribavirin uptake by human erythrocytes and the involvement of nitrobenzylthioinosine-sensitive (es)-nucleoside transporters. Br J Pharmacol 1998;123(8):1587–1592.
- [10] Delanghe J, Allcock K, Langlois M, Claeys L, De Buyzere M. Fast determination of haptoglobin phenotype and calculation of hemoglobin binding capacity using high pressure gel permeation chromatography. Clin Chim Acta 2000;291:43–51.
- [11] Smithies O. Zone electrophoresis in starch gels: group variations in the secum proteins of normal human adults. Biochem J 1955;61:629–641.
- [12] Fink P, Roemer M, Haeckel R, Fitch-Moghadam A, Delanghe J. Gressner A, et al. Measurements of proteins with the Behring nephelometer. J Clin Chem Clin Biochem 1989;27:261–276.

- [13] Johnson AM. A new international reference preparation for proteins in human serum. Arch Pathol Lab Med 1993;117:29–31.
- [14] Schoonjans F, Zalata A, Depuydt CE, Comhaire FH. Medcale: a new computer program for medical statistics. Comput Methods Programs Biomed 1995;48:257–262.
- [15] Delanghe J, Langlois M, Daprez D, De Buyzere M, Clement D. Haptoglobin polymorphism and peripheral arterial disease. Atheroselerosis 1999;145:287–292.
- [16] Pursani KG, Sillin LF, Kaplan DS. Effect of transjugular intrahepatic portosystemic shunt on secondary hypersplenism. Am J Surg 1997;173(3):169–173.
- [17] Hoofnagle JH, Di Bisceglie AM, Waggoner JG, Park Y. Interferon efor patients with dinically apparent circhosis due to chronic hepatitis B. Gastroenterology 1993;104:1116–1121.
- [18] Langlois MR, Delanghe JR. Biological and clinical significance of haptoglobin polymorphism in humans. Clin Chem 1996;42(10): 1589–1600.

CHAPTER VI

NON-TRANSFERRIN-BOUND IRON IN UNTREATED AND RIBAVIRIN TREATED CHRONIC HEPATITIS C PATIENTS

(submitted: Alimentary Pharmacology and Therapeutics)

NON-TRANSFERRIN-BOUND IRON (NTBI) IN UNTREATED AND RIBAVIRIN TREATED CHRONIC HEPATITIS C PATIENTS

H. Van Vlierberghe¹, H. Verdievel¹, I. Colle¹, J. Delanghe², G. Leroux-Roels², M. De Vos¹.

¹Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Ghent University Hospital, Belgium.

²Department of Clinical Chemistry, Ghent University Hospital, Belgium.

Address of correspondence:

Hans Van Vlierberghe, MD Department of Gastroenterology Ghent University Hospital 1K12 IE De Pintelaan 185 B - 9000 Gent Belgium Tel: +32 9 240 23 71 Fax: +32 9 240 26 74 e-mail: hans.vanvlierberghe@rug.ac.be

Keywords:

Non-transferrin-bound iron, chronic hepatitis C virus infection.

Electronic word count: 4418

ABSTRACT

Introduction

In patients with chronic hepatitis C, elevations in serum iron levels, hepatic iron content and oxidative stress-related molecules have been reported. Treatment with ribavirin induces an increase in hepatic iron concentration. Since in situations of iron overload, non-transferrin bound iron (NTBI) can appear, we determined NTBI in untreated chronic hepatitis C patients and in patients during interferon-ribavirin treatment.

Materials and methods

In 10 untreated and in 19 interferon+ribavirin-treated chronic hepatitis C patients, we examined NTBI levels by a colorimetric method using nitrilotriacetic acid as a ligand and sodiumtriscarbonatecobalt (III) to block free iron binding sites on transferrin.

Results

Despite the presence of high serum iron saturation and ferritin levels, NTBI was absent in the majority of the HCV patients (25/29, 86 %). There was no difference in NTBI levels between untreated and treated patients. Four patients with high NTBI levels could be distinguished by higher serum iron levels. In two of these patients, hepatocytic iron was present on liver biopsy.

Discussion

In the majority of chronic hepatitis C patients, NTBI levels are normal. Treatment with ribavirin does not induce high NTBI levels.

NTBI levels are only higher than normal in hepatitis C patients with higher serum iron levels.

Abstract electronic word count: 198

Introduction

Several recent studies have explored the prevalence and significance of elevated serum iron levels in chronic hepatitis C virus infection (1). In patients with chronic hepatitis C, serum iron is elevated in 27-36 %, transferrin saturation is elevated in 18-24 % and serum ferritin is increased in 22-35 %. A strong correlation has been observed between serum ferritin and serum AST levels, suggesting that release of tissue ferritin from damaged hepatocytes causes the elevations in serum iron (2). Others did not find this correlation (3).

Elevated hepatic iron concentration have been observed in patients with chronic hepatitis C, but less frequently than suspected by elevated serum transferrin saturation or serum ferritin. The frequency of elevated hepatic iron concentration ranges from 10 to 36 % (2,4,5). The elevation in hepatic iron content associated with chronic hepatitis C infection is usually mild with a mean of hepatic iron index of 0.4-0.6 μ mol/g dry liver tissue per year of life (5,6). Unlike hepatic iron accumulation in hereditary hemochromatosis, the mild hepatic iron overload seen in patients with compensated liver disease does not progressively increase over time (7). However, in end-stage liver disease and cirrhosis caused by hepatitis C, hepatic iron index values of more than 1.9 μ mol/g dry liver tissue per life year can be found. Although in this case the hepatic iron index is in the range of patients with hereditary hemochromatosis, the Cys282Tyr missense mutation is absent (8).

After interferon treatment, the hepatic iron concentration decreases significantly in virological responders and nonresponders. The decrease in stainable liver iron is predominantly seen in mesenchymal cells as opposed to hepatocytes (9). This leads to the speculation that elevations in hepatic iron seen in chronic viral hepatitis are mainly due to phagocytosis of necrotic hepatocytes and accumulation of iron in phagocytic cells. On the contrary, increases in hepatic iron concentration have been seen after monotherapy with ribavirin. In this case, excess of iron deposits are seen in hepatocytes and less in macrophages. Hepatic iron accumulation is well known to occur in association with haemolytic disorders. The ribavirin-induced haemolysis could be a causal factor in this excess of hepatic iron (10).

In hepatitis C patients, a pattern of free radical production and lipid peroxidation is observed. This correlates with the presence of steatosis and activation of gluthatione metabolism, which represents the liver's physiological scavenging response to peroxidative damage (3). The higher serum and tissue iron found in patients with chronic hepatitis C, could be the consequence of a local and systemic derangement of iron metabolism.

Non-transferrin-bound iron (NTBI) represents various forms of labile iron appearing in the plasma of patients with various pathological conditions (11). NTBI is most commonly found in patients whose transferrin iron binding capacity has been exceeded by iron overload. NTBI is capable of mediating tissue damage by stimulating free radical formation and lipid peroxidation (12). As its name indicates, NTBI comprises all forms of iron in the plasma that are bound to ligands other than transferrin (13). These ligands are citrate (14), albumin and perhaps ferritin (15). In a healthy individual the incoming iron becomes effectively shielded from reaction to redox cycling and formation of reactive oxygen species by the binding with transferrin (11). Thus, when NTBI appears in the plasma, it is believed to result from an imbalance of iron metabolism.

Increased NTBI values are seen in conditions such as: atransferrinemia (11), hereditary hemochromatosis (16), haemolytic anaemias (17), end stage renal disease on dialysis (18), after chemotherapy (19), during cardiopulmonary bypass (20) and in neonates (21).

In most of these conditions transferrin is completely saturated, however NTBI is also seen in situations where transferrin is not completely saturated (indivi duals heterozygous for the hemochromatosis gene (12), in patients on dialysis (18) ...). Since in patients with chronic hepatitis C higher serum and hepatic iron levels are present, we examined whether NTBI could be one of the factors contributing to the increased oxidative stress observed in chronic hepatitis C patients. Ribavirin-induced haemolytic anaemia causing a higher liver iron content in chronic hepatitis C patients, could also induce the appearance of NTBI.

Materials and methods

Patients

Ten untreated patients with chronic hepatitis C and 19 patients with chronic hepatitis C on treatment with interferon and ribavirin were included in this study. The diagnosis of chronic hepatitis C was made on the basis of elevated ALT activity (above the upper limit of normal) and the presence of HCV antibodies and HCV RNA in serum. Patients suffering from other chronic liver diseases and hepatocellular carcinoma were excluded. The patient characteristics are shown in Table 1.

The patients on treatment received interferon alfa at a dose of 3MU SC thrice weekly, while the ribavirin dose was chosen according to the body weight. Patients with a body weight less than 75 kg, received 1000 mg of ribavirin per day, orally, divided in two doses. Patients weighing more than 75 kg, received a dose of ribavirin 1200 mg per day, orally, divided in two doses.

In untreated patients blood sampling was done at diagnosis. In patients on treatment, blood sampling was performed during treatment when they had been taken ribavirin for at least 8 weeks. It has been reported that at this moment the haemolytic activity of ribavirin is maximal and stable for the rest of the treatment (22).

Controls

In 13 healthy volunteers blood was taken for NTBI measurement. These volunteers had no evidence of iron overload or hepatitis C. Informed consent was obtained.

Biochemical analysis

Fasting blood samples were obtained, allowed to clot and centrifuged. The serum was collected for analysis.

Serum alanine aminotransferase (ALT) activity, serum iron concentration and total iron binding capacity (TIBC) were determined using commercial reagents on an automated analyser (Roche).

Transferrin saturation was calculated by the formula:

100 x (serum iron/TIBC).

Serum ferritin concentration was measured using fixed-time immunonephelometry (Dade Behring).

Liver biopsy

Liver biopsy was performed at diagnosis. Activity and staging were examined according the METAVIR scoring system (23). Perls' stain was performed to demonstrate the presence of iron.

HFE missense mutation

The Cys282Tyr missense mutation was searched for according to the method described by Feder et al (24). In short, after extraction of genomic DNA from peripheral blood mononuclear cells DNA was amplified by PCR. After amplification these fragments were further investigated by restriction enzyme digestion followed by agarose gel electrophoresis. The missense mutation Cys282Tyr resulted in an additional restriction site for the restriction enzyme *Rsa*I. Homozygotes, heterozygotes or normals were easily recognized. Recently, a polymorphism in intron 4 of HFE was described causing an overestimation of the Cys282Tyr homozygote prevalence in hemochromatosis. We examined all samples using a new antisense primer that excluded the site of this new polymorphism (25,26).

NTBI measurement

NTBI measurement was done according the method described by Gosriwatana et al (27). To prevent displacement of iron from nitrilotriacetic acid (NTA) to unsaturated transferrin during this procedure, samples were pretreated with triscarbonatecobalt (III). In short, serum samples were stored frozen at -20° C until time of analysis. The samples were thawed by incubation at 37° C for 10 min. To serum (450 µl) 100 µl Na₃[Co(CO₃)₃]. 3H₂O solution was added and the mixture was incubated at 37° C for 1 hour. Subsequently 800 mM nitrilotriacetic acid (NTA) was added to the serum mixture to obtain a final concentration of 80 mM and allowed to stand for 30 min at room temperature. The samples were ultrafiltered using an ultrafilter (Centricon-30) at 3000 g for 1 h.

The serum was analysed by using a colorimetric method. The ultrafiltrate was diluted 1:1 with 5 mM Mops buffer (pH 7.4) to obtain the volume of 800 μ l. To form the chromogenic complex, 100 μ l of 120 mM thioglycolic acid in deionised water and 100 μ l of 60 mM bathophenanthroline in deionised water were added to the solution and allowed to stand for 30 min. The resulting complex was measured by spectrophotometry at 537 nm.

Despite the use of cobalt in this assay, negative NTBI levels can still be found in some samples. Probably this is caused by exchange of transferrin-bound cobalt with iron, which is present in 80 mM NTA in standardised small amounts $(2\mu M)$, during the 30 minutes incubation (12).

Statistical analysis

Statistics were performed using the Medcalc program version 5.00.002 (28). Normality of the distribution of the different variables was tested using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Variables with a normal distribution are presented as mean \pm standard deviation. Variables with a non-Gaussian distribution are presented as presented as median and interquartile range. Parametric and non-parametric tests were used according the distribution of the variable. P-values of < 0.05 were considered significant.

<u>Results</u>

Patient characteristics (Table 1).

The group of treated patients is younger than the untreated patient group (p<0.01). This is also reflected by the higher number of patients infected with genotype 3 in the treated population. Not surprisingly patients on treatment have lower ALT activity than untreated patients.

Serum iron levels

Serum iron, serum iron saturation and serum ferritin are not different between treated and untreated patients. Twenty-two out of 29 patients (76 %) have serum ferritin concentrations above the upper limit of normal (untreated: 7/10 versus treated: 15/19, p=NS). A statistically significant correlation is found between ALT activity and serum ferritin concentration (r after logarithmic transformation=0.39, p=0.03). When treated and untreated patients are separately examined, this correlation remains significant in both groups (untreated: r=0.70, p=0.02; untreated: r=0.44, p=0.05).

Three males (19 %) have a serum transferrin saturation exceeding 62 % and three females (23 %) have a serum iron transferrin exceeding 52 %.

HFE missense mutation

The Cys282Tyr missense mutation is found in the heterozygote form in 4 of the 29 chronic hepatitis C patients. No patient is found to be homozygous for this missense mutation.

There is no difference in serum iron, serum iron saturation and serum ferritin levels between heterozygotes and normals.

Liver biopsy

The activity and fibrosis found on liver biopsy are demonstrated in Table 1. Only two patients had stainable iron in hepatocytes on the liver biopsy.

Treatment induced haemolysis

The mean drop in haemoglobin level in the patients receiving interferonribavirin treatment is 2.1 ± 1.1 g/dl.

NTBI values

NTBI values in the controls (0.29 \pm 0.17 μ M, range: -0.08 – 0.61) are not different from the values found in the hepatitis C patients (0.41 \pm 0.44 μ M, range: -0.31 – 2.05) (Figure 1). The NTBI values found in the control group are in accordance with values found by others (12).

NTBI values in the untreated group are $0.36 \pm 0.44 \ \mu\text{M}$. NTBI values in the treated group are $0.38 \pm 0.29 \ \mu\text{M}$. There is no statistical difference between the two groups (Figure 2).

In Cys282Tyr heterozygotes, NTBI values are not higher than in patients with the wild type $(0.21 \pm 0.12 \ \mu\text{M} \text{ versus } 0.44 \pm 0.47 \ \mu\text{M})$.

There is no correlation between NTBI values and ALT activity, serum transferrin saturation, serum ferritin concentration and activity or fibrosis on liver biopsy.

Although the hepatitis C group has no higher NTBI values than the control group, 4 patients have NTBI values which are higher than the controls.

These patients will be briefly described.

<u>Patient 1</u>

Patient 1 is a 56 year old man (untreated group) of Egyptian origin. He has probably been infected during childhood during a prevention programme against Schistosomiasis. The infecting genotype is 4. Serum iron concentration is 50 μ mol/l, serum iron saturation 96% and serum ferritin concentration 1920 μ g/l. NTBI is present at a value of 2.05 μ M. ALT activity is 199 U/l. Metavir score for the liver biopsy is: activity grade 2 and fibrosis stage 4. Perls'staining demonstrates iron deposits in several hepatocytes. The Cys282Tyr missense mutation is absent in this patient, he has no family history suggestive for hereditary hemochromatosis and there is no evidence for secondary iron overload disease.

Patient 2

Patient 2 is a 43 year old man (treated group) of Belgian origin. He has been infected with the hepatitis C virus genotype 3 through intravenous drug abuse. ALT activity at the moment of blood sampling is 31 U/L. Serum iron concentration is 32 μ mol/l, serum iron saturation is 72 % and serum ferritin concentration is 350 μ g/l. NTBI is present at a value of 0.89 μ M. Metavir score for the liver biopsy is: activity grade 3 and fibrosis stage 3. Perls' staining demonstrates iron deposits in several hepatocytes. The Cys282Tyr missense mutation is absent, he has no family history suggestive for hereditary hemochromatosis and there is no evidence for secondary iron overload disease.

Patient 3

Patient 3 is a 39 year old man (treated group) infected with the hepatitis C virus of genotype 1b. The route of transmission is unknown. ALT activity is 90 U/L. Serum iron concentration is 28 μ mol/l, serum iron saturation is 54% and serum ferritin concentration is 1120 μ g/l. NTBI is present at a value of 0.81 μ M.

Metavir score for the liver biopsy is: activity grade 3 and fibrose stage 3.

No iron deposits are found in the liver biopsy. The Cys282Tyr missense mutation is absent, there is no evidence for hereditary or secondary hemochromatosis.

Patient 4

Patient 4 is a 34 year old man (treated group) infected with the hepatitis C virus of genotype 3 through intravenous drug abuse. ALT activity is 23 U/L. Serum iron concentration is 28 μ mol/l, serum iron saturation is 58 % and serum ferritin concentration is 348 μ g/l. NTBI is present at a value of 0.93 μ M. Metavir score for the liver biopsy is: activity grade 1 and fibrosis stage 1. No iron deposits are found in the liver biopsy. The Cys282Tyr missense mutation is absent, there is no evidence for hereditary nor secondary hemochromatosis.

When these four patients are compared to the other patients, higher serum iron, serum iron saturation and serum ferritin concentrations are found (Table 2). The two patients with the highest serum iron saturation, are the only two patients with stainable iron on liver biopsy.
Discussion

Patients with chronic hepatitis C often have elevated serum iron studies (1). In our series of 29 patients 22 (76 %) have elevated serum ferritin concentrations. A significant correlation is found between serum ferritin concentration and serum ALT activity. This suggests, as published by others (2,3), that the release of ferritin from damaged hepatocytes is, at least partly, responsible for the elevations in serum ferritin levels. However the correlation is more significant in untreated patients than in treated patients. This can be explained by the capacity of ribavirin to induce normal ALT activity despite ongoing hepatoinflammatory activity (29).

Although none of the patients is homozygous for the Cys282Tyr missense mutation, 19 % of the male patients and 23 % of the female patients have serum iron saturation levels in the range that is suggestive for hereditary hemochromatosis.

Several authors have demonstrated the presence of oxidative stress in patients with chronic hepatitis C (3). Considering the high serum iron concentrations and the presence of oxidative stress, it is tempting to look for NTBI. Since NTBI is likely a factor to contribute to oxidative stress (3), we have investigated the presence of NTBI in chronic hepatitis C patients.

Despite the presence of elevated serum iron indices in a substantial number of our patients, we have found that in the majority of the patients with chronic hepatitis C, NTBI values are normal. However in 4 out of 29 patients (14 %), high NTBI values are found. Similar percentages of elevated NTBI values are found in patients with end stage renal disease, in neonates and during cardiopulmonary bypass. However in these conditions reported levels are generally in the range from 1 to 10 μ M (11) which is higher than those observed in our patient group.

In the 4 patients with high NTBI values, serum iron, serum iron saturation and serum ferritin concentration are higher than in the rest of the patients.

In these 4 patients hereditary and secondary hemochromatosis have been excluded. Although it is possible that other genetic mutations causing iron overload are present, this hypothesis seems less likely, considering the absence of a positive family history for iron overload.

In 2 of these 4 patients iron deposits are observed in the hepatocytes. This is not surprising, since it has been demonstrated that hepatocytes have the possibility to take up free iron (30). The presence of NTBI in chronic hepatitis C could be a hallmark of tissue iron overload. However this needs confirmation by comparing the hepatic iron concentration in the presence and absence of NTBI.

In healthy individuals heterozygous for the Cys282Tyr missense mutation, higher NTBI values are detected (12). However in our chronic hepatitis C patient group, no difference could be found between NTBI values in the four heterozygotes and normals.

Treatment of chronic hepatitis C with ribavirin causes haemolytic anaemia in a substantial portion of the patients. In ribavirin treated patients, iron deposits in the hepatocytes and increases in hepatic iron concentrations have been demonstrated (10). Hepatic iron accumulation is well known to occur in association with other chronic haemolytic conditions. Iron released by haemolysis would be expected to accumulate in the reticuloendothelial system. However increased iron staining is noted in both the cells of the reticuloendothelial system and in hepatocytes. The deposition of iron in hepatocytes suggests that the mechanism of iron loading is enhanced mucosal absorption associated with accelerated erythropoiesis (10).

We have failed to demonstrate higher NTBI values in the group of treated patients. They all had substantial haemolysis as demonstrated by the drop in haemoglobin level during the treatment. Interferon in monotherapy decreases hepatic iron concentration and iron deposits in the mesenchymal cells (9).

Combining interferon with ribavirin in the treatment of chronic hepatitis C, could counteract the ribavirin induced increases in hepatic iron concentration. However, this seems unlikely since a) ribavirin induced haemolytic anaemia remains present in the combination treatment and b) iron deposits caused by ribavirin are mainly seen in the hepatocytes and less in the macrophages (10). We have not performed control biopsies during or immediately after the treatment. Therefore we have not been able to look for the presence of excess of iron in the control biopsy.

A longitudinal study of a group of patients treated with the combination treatment should be performed to definitely exclude the occurrence of NTBI during treatment.

We conclude that in the majority of chronic hepatitis C patients, despite the presence of high serum iron indices, NTBI values are not different from controls. In the few cases where NTBI values are higher than in controls, higher serum iron concentration, serum iron saturation and serum ferritin concentration are observed.

Despite the presence of haemolytic anaemia, treatment with ribavirin does not result in higher NTBI levels.

Further studies (longitudinal follow up studies of chronic hepatitis C patients before, during and after treatment and comparison with hepatic iron concentration) are necessary to give a more detailed view of the importance of NTBI in chronic hepatitis C.

Acknowledgment

We thank Prof R.C. Hider and L. Ding Yong (Department of Pharmacy, King's College, London, UK) for kindly providing us test samples for NTBI measurement.

REFERENCES

- 1. Tung BY, Kowdley KV. Iron and viral hepatitis. Viral hepatitis 1999; 5(2): 63-76.
- Di Bisceglie AM, Axiotis CA, Hoofnagle JH, Bacon BR. Measurements of iron status in patients with chronic hepatitis. Gastroenterology 1992; 102: 2108-2113.
- Farinati F, Cardin R, De Maria N, Della Libera G, Marafin C, Lecis E et al. Iron storage, lipid peroxidation and gluthatione turnover in chronic anti-HCV positive hepatitis. J Hepatol 1995; 22: 449-456.
- Riggio O, Montagnese F, Fiore P, Folino S, Giambartolomei S, Gandin C et al. Iron overload in patients with chronic viral hepatitis: how common is it? Am J Gastroenterol 1997; 92: 1298-1301.
- Piperno A, D'Alba R, Fargion S, Roffi L, Sampietro M, Parma S et al. Liver iron concentration in chronic viral hepatitis: a study of 98 patients. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 1995; 7: 1203-1208.
- Kowdley KV, Trainer TD, Saltzman JR, Pedrosa M, Krawitt EL, Knox TA et al. Utility of hepatic iron index in American patients with hereditary hemochromatosis: a multicenter study. Gastroenterology 1997; 113: 1270-1277.
- Larson AM, Rosoff L, Lin M, Emerson SS, Kowdley KV. Hepatic iron concentration does not increase over time in chronic hepatitis C. Gastroenterology 1997; 112: A1313 Abstract.
- Ludwig J, Hashimoto E, Porayko MK, Moyer TP, Baldus W. Hemosiderosis in cirrhosis: a study of 447 native livers. Gastroenterology 1997; 112: 882-888.
- Boucher E, Bourienne A, Adams PC, Turlin B, Brissot P, Deugnier Y. Liver iron concentration and distribution in chronic hepatitis C before and after interferon treatment. Gut 1997; 41: 115-120.
- 10. Di Bisceglie AM, Bacon BR, Kleiner DE, Hoofnagle JH. Increase in hepatic iron stores following prolonged therapy with ribavirin in patients with chronic hepatitis C. J Hepatol 1994; 21: 1109-1112.
- Breuer W, Hershko C, Cabantchik ZI. The importance of non-transferrin bound iron in disorders of iron metabolism. Transfusion Science 2000; 23: 185-192.
- de Valk B, Addicks MA, Gosriwatana I, Lu S, Hider RC, Marx JJ. Non-transferrin-bound iron is present in serum of hereditary haemochromatosis. Eur J Clin Invest 2000; 30(3): 248-251.
- Aisen P, Leibman A, Zweier J. Stoichiometric and site characteristics of the binding of iron to human transferrin. J Biol Chem 1978; 253: 1930-1937.
- 14. Grootveld M, Bell JD, Halliwell B, Aruoma OI, Bomford A, Sadler PJ. Non-transferrin bound iron in plasma or serum from patients with idiopathic hemochromatosis. J Biol Chem 1989; 264: 4417-4422.
- Pootrakul P, Josephson B, Huebers FA, Finch CA. Quantitation of ferritin iron in plasma, an explanation for non-transferrin iron. Blood 1988; 71: 1120-1123.
- Batey RG, Lai Chung Fong P, Shamir S, Sherlock S. A non-transferrin-bound serum iron in idiopathic hemochromatosis. Dig Dis Sci 1980; 25: 346-346.
- Graham G, Bates GW, Rachmilewitz EA, Hershko C. Nonspecific serum iron in thalassemia: quantitation and chemical reactivity. Am J Hematol 1979; 6: 207-217.
- Breuer W, Ronson A, Slotki IN, Abramov A, Hershko C, Cabantchik ZI. The assessment of serum nontransferrin-bound iron in chelation therapy and iron supplementation. Blood 2000; 95: 2975-2982.
- Harrison P, Marwah SS, Hughes RT, Bareford D. Non-transferrin bound iron and neutropenia after cytotoxic chemotherapy. J Clin Pathol 1994; 47: 350-352.

- Pepper JR, Mumby S, Gutteridge JM. Transient iron-overload with bleomycin-detectable iron present during cardiopulmonary bypass surgery. Free Radic Res 1994; 21: 53-58.
- Evans PJ, Evans R, Kovar IZ, Holton AF, Halliwell B. Bleomycin-detectable iron in the plasma of premature and full-term neonates. FEBS Lett 1992; 303: 210-212.
- Van Vlierberghe H, Delanghe JR, De Vos M, Leroux-Roels G and the members of the BASL steering committee. Factors influencing ribavirin-induced hemolysis. J Hepatol 2001; 34: 911-916.
- Bedossa P, Poynard T. An algorithm for the grading and activity in chronic hepatitis C. The METAVIR cooperative study group. Hepatology 1996; 24(2): 289-293.
- 24. Feder JN, Gnirke A, Thomas W, Tsuchihashi Z, Ruddy DA, Basava A et al. A novel MHC class Hike gene is mutated in patients with hereditary haemochromatosis. Nat Genet 1996; 13: 399-408.
- Jeffrey GP, Chakrabarti S, Hegele R, Adams PC. Polymorphism in intron 4 of HFE may cause overestimation of C282Y homozygote prevalence in haemochromatosis. Nat Genet 1999; 22: 325-326.
- Sommerville MJ, Sprysak KA, Hicks M, Elyas BD, VicenWyhony L. An HFE intronic variant promotes misdiagnosis of hereditary hemochromatosis (Letter). Am J Hum Genet 1999; 65: 924-926.
- Gosriwatana I, Loreal O, Lu S, Brissot P, Porter J, Hider RC. Quantification of non-transferrin-bound iron in the presence of unsaturated transferrin. Analyt Bioch 1999; 273: 212-220.
- Schoonjans F, Zalata A, Depuydt CE, Comhaire FH. Medcalc : a new computer program for medical statistics. Comput Methods Programs Biomed 1995; 48: 257-262.
- 29. DiBisceglie AM, Shindo M, Fong TL, Fried MW, Swain MG, Bergasa V et al. A pilot study of ribavirin therapy for chronic hepatitis C. Hepatology 1992; 16(3): 649-654.
- Anderson GJ. Non-transferrin-bound iron and cellular toxicity. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 1999; 14: 105-108.

<u>Table 1.</u>

Patient characteristics

	Untreated patients	Treated patients	Reference range
	(n=10)	(n=19)	
Gender (male/female)	5/5	11/8	
Age (years) *	50 ± 7	38 ± 11	
ALT activity(U/l) *	114 ± 72	31 ± 30	7 - 31
Serum iron (µmol/l)	27 ± 9	22 ± 9	7 - 22
Serum iron saturation (%)	38 (31-51)	37 (23-55)	Female <52
			Male <62
Serum ferritin concentration (µg/l)	292 (121-390)	318 (211-430)	36 - 262
Liver biopsy			
Activity scale (n): 1	5	7	
2	5	6	
3		6	
Fibrosis scale (n) : 0	1	0	
1			
2	3	5	
3	1	5	
4	3	1	
Genotype (n) 1a	1	2	
1b	8	7	
3		8	
4	1	1	
unknown		1	
HFE missense mutation (n)			
Cys282Tyr -/-	8	17	
Cys282Tyr +/-	2	2	

* p<0.01

Table 2.

Serum iron, iron saturation and ferritin concentration in chronic hepatitis C patients with higher than normal NTBI levels (left) and normal NTBI levels (right).

	'High' NTBI levels	'Normal' NTBI	Reference	p-value
	(n=4)	levels (n=25)	range	
Serum iron	35 ± 10	22 ± 8	7 - 22	< 0.001
(µmol/l)				
Serum iron	65 (56-84)	36 (24-41)	Female <52	< 0.001
saturation (%)			Male <62	
Serum ferritin	735 (349-1520)	284 (120-390)	36-262	0.02
concentration				
(µg/l)				

Figure 1.

NTBI values in the controls (left) and in patients with chronic hepatitis C (right).



Figure 2.

NTBI values in untreated (left) and treated (right) chronic hepatitis C patients.



GENERAL DISCUSSION

The *HFE* mutation and the haptoglobin polymorphism both influence iron storage capacity (1,2) and are related with different immunological properties (3).

The *HFE* mutation is found in the majority of patients with hereditary hemochromatosis (4). Convincing data are available demonstrating that this gene is not just an innocent bystander, but really contributes to tissue iron overload (5-11). In the presence of tissue iron overload and the *HFE* mutation, different perturbations in the immune status of hereditary hemochromatosis patients have been reported (3).

Haptoglobin is a protein with haemoglobin-binding capacity and prevents iron loss and kidney damage during periods of haemolysis. The three major haptoglobin phenotypes have different effects on cellular and humoral immune responses (12). Individuals with the Hp 2-2 phenotype carry higher numbers of CD4+ T-lymphocytes and B-lymphocytes (13). Hp 2-2 also displays higher agglutination capacities against some bacteria (12). Healthy male individuals with the Hp 2-2 phenotype have higher evels of both serum and monocyte ferritin than individuals with the Hp 2-1 or 1-1 phenotype (14).

Since both hereditary hemochromatosis and chronic hepatitis C infection are associated with higher serum and tissue iron stores and with differences in immune status, we examined the influence of the *HFE* mutation and the Hp polymorphism on both diseases.

Hereditary hemochromatosis is the most frequent genetically determined iron storage disease in Western Europe (15). Before the discovery of the hemochromatosis gene in 1996 by Feder et al (4), clinicians had to rely on phenotypic characteristics of the disease (e.g. serum iron saturation, serum ferritin level, hepatic iron index, hereditary character ...) to establish the diagnosis. Since the detection of the *HFE* mutation, diagnosis in a single patient, family screening and in a certain way, population screening have become easier.

Since more patients with hereditary hemochromatosis are diagnosed, it has become obvious that not all subjects homozygous for the Cys282Tyr missense mutation have the typical phenotypic characteristics of patients with hereditary hemochromatosis (16,17). Moreover other missense mutations (e.g. His63Asp) could play a role in iron overload disorders in patients not homozygous for the Cys282Tyr missense mutation.

In **Chapter I**, we determined the Cys282Tyr and the His63Asp missense mutation in a cohort of patients displaying the phenotype of hereditary hemochromatosis and in group of healthy controls. The patients were followed in the out-patient clinic between 1985 and 1997 (18). In the healthy control group 10.5 % of the 96 studied subjects were heterozygous for the Cys282Tyr missense mutation and 2 % were homozygous for this missense mutation. Of the 49 patients, 46 (94 %) were homozygous for the Cys282Tyr missense mutation; 2 were compound heterozygous (Cys282Tyr +/-, His63Asp +/-) and one patient was only heterozygous for the His63Asp missense mutation. These results are in accordance with the reported prevalences in other countries and confirm that the Cys282Tyr missense mutation in the *HFE* gene is present in a majority of patients with hereditary hemochromatosis and contributes to the phenotypic expression of the disease (4).

The significance of the His63Asp mutation is less clear. It is suggested that it is only of importance in the compound heterozygote setting. In our patient group, the 2 patients who are compound heterozygotes have the clinical picture of hereditary hemochromatosis. The identification of one patient with hemochromatosis which is only heterozygous for the His63Asp mutation suggests the existence of other genetic (or non-genetic) causes.

Since in healthy subjects the Hp 2-2 phenotype is associated with higher serum ferritin and monocyte ferritin content (14), we have investigated in **Chapter II**, the influence of the Hp polymorphism on the phenotypic presentation of 167 patients with hereditary hemochromatosis. A low Hp1 allele frequency is found and is attributable to an overrepresentation of the Hp 2-2 phenotype (p<0.01). Hp 2-2 is associated with a relative risk of 1.73 (95 % CI 1.14-2.62) for hemochromatosis. The underrepresentation of the Hp1 allele is only observed in the male patients (p<0.01) but is not significant in the female patients (p=0.3). In the male population serum iron levels, serum ferritin levels and the amount of iron removed by phlebotomy to achieve iron depletion, are higher in hemochromatosis patients carrying the Hp 2-2 phenotype. The absence of similar findings in females is possibly related to the lower number of females included, although other factors (e.g. menstruation, pregnancy) could have a greater influence on the phenotypic expression of hereditary hemochromatosis in female patients (19).

The higher levels of serum ferritin both in Hp 2-2 healthy men and in Hp 2-2 male hemochromatosis patients could be explained by the Hp 2-2 specific transfer of Hb-Hp complexes into monocytes-macrophages. The Hb-Hp related iron uptake in monocytes-macrophages has recently been demonstrated to occur via the Hb scavenger receptor CD163.

This receptor has a higher affinity for the multimeric Hb-Hp 2-2 complex than for the monomeric Hb-Hp 1-1 complex (20). Since the CD163 receptor could play a role in the iron status of healthy subjects and patients with hereditary hemochromatosis, we examined the percentage of CD163 positive monocytes-macrophages in both populations (**Chapter III**). In the control group of 30 male healthy volunteers there is neither difference in the percentage of CD163 positive monocytes-macrophages between the different haptoglobin phenotypes nor any correlation between the CD163 receptors and serum iron indices.

In patients with hereditary hemochromatosis, we found no different percentage of CD163 positive monocytes-macrophages than in patients with secondary hemochromatosis or in controls. It seems unlikely that the low macrophage iron content seen in patients with hereditary hemochromatosis is influenced by a different percentage of CD163+ monocytes-macrophages.

The prevalence of chronic hepatitis C infection in the Belgian population is 0.9 % (21). Chronic hepatitis C virus infection is associated with iron overload and increased oxidative stress (22). Both viral factors (genotype, viral load) and/or host factors (immune response) seem to influence the outcome of a hepatitis C virus infection. In **Chapter IV** we have demonstrated that both the Cys282Tyr missense mutation and the Hp 1-1 phenotype are overrepresented in a group of 142 chronic hepatitis C patients (23). Remarkably, the presence or absence of one gene seems to determine the impact of the other gene on the risk to develop chronic hepatitis C virus infection. More precisely, in the absence of the Cys282Tyr missense mutation, the Hp phenotype determines the risk to develop a chronic hepatitis C infection. Only in this group of patients, a significant overrepresentation of the Hp 1-1 phenotype is found.

In addition we see a significant higher Cys282Tyr allele frequency in the group of patients with the Hp 2-1 and 2-2 phenotype. We assume that the higher oxidative stress that could be present in individuals with both the Cys282Tyr allele and the Hp2 allele results in a higher risk in this subgroup to develop a chronic hepatitis C infection.

Since we have not followed our patient group for a time period and our study is only a single time point measurement, it is difficult to comment on progression of the disease. However, since we have found an overrepresentation of the Hp 1-1 phenotype in our group of patients with chronic hepatitis C, we make the assumption that the presence of this phenotype makes the infected patient more susceptible to develop a chronic infection. To strengthen this assumption, it should be interesting to look for a patient group with acute hepatitis C. In this group of patients, a difference in haptoglobin phenotype distribution should be looked for between the group of patients with a self-resolving hepatitis C and the group of patients that progresses to chronicity. However, for practical reasons, this is very difficult since acute hepatitis C is mostly asymptomatic, the number of patients with acute hepatitis C is very low (approximately 30 registered acute hepatitis C patients annually in Belgium) and since a recent study by Jaeckel et al (24), it is not ethical any more to deny patients with an acute hepatitis C a treatment with interferon alfa.

Together with interferon alfa, ribavirin has become the standard treatment of chronic hepatitis C infection (25,26). Ribavirin treatment induces higher serum and liver iron levels, probably due to the haemolytic anaemia it causes (27,28). Because little is known about the host, viral and treatment factors that may influence ribavirin-induced haemolysis, we have examined in **Chapter V** several factors that could influence the drop in haemoglobin level during treatment with interferon and ribavirin (29).

We have demonstrated that the degree of haemoglobin loss is higher in patients with a higher pre-treatment haemoglobin level, with a low number of platelets, during daily administration of interferon-alfa, and in the presence of the Hp 1-1 phenotype.

The correlation between the pre-treatment haemoglobin level and the drop in haemoglobin can be explained by the fact that ribavirin-induced haemolysis breaks down a certain proportion of the available erythrocytes pool. Higher absolute drops in the haemoglobin level will therefore be observed in subjects with the higher pre-treatment haemoglobin levels.

Patients with lower platelet counts ($<110,000/\mu$ l) have a significantly higher drop in haemoglobin level than those with higher counts. The low pre-treatment platelet count can be considered as a hallmark of the presence of liver cirrhosis with hypersplenism.

Patients receiving a higher dose of interferon-alfa experience a higher drop in haemoglobin level than those patients receiving a standard dose. Interferon-alfa is known to be myelosuppressive and by itself a cause of anaemia, especially when given in higher doses.

Patients with the Hp 1-1 phenotype experience a higher drop in haemoglobin level during interferon-ribavirin treatment. Complexes of haemoglobin and dimeric haptoglobin (Hp 1-1) exhibit lower functional affinity for the CD163 receptor than do complexes of haemoglobin and the multimeric Hp 2-2 haptoglobin (20). In situations of haemolysis, this could result in less adequate re-utilisation of haem-iron and a higher degree of drop in haemoglobin.

Several recent studies have demonstrated that serum iron indices and liver iron content are frequently elevated in patients with chronic hepatitis C (30). Also, a pattern of free radical production and lipid peroxidation is observed (22). This could be the consequence of a local and systemic derangement of iron metabolism. Since NTBI is likely to be one of the several factors responsible for oxidative stress in situations with iron overload, we investigated in **Chapter VI** if NTBI is present in patients with chronic hepatitis C. In the majority of the patients (86 %) we cannot demonstrate the presence of NTBI. Even during a treatment with interferon and ribavirin where haemolysis contributes to higher serum iron indices and liver iron content, NTBI values cannot be detected. In the few patients where NTBI is high, it could be a hallmark of real iron overload.

GENERAL CONCLUSION

We could demonstrate that the Hp polymorphism affects the iron metabolism in patients with hereditary hemochromatosis and influences the evolution to chronicity in patients with hepatitis C virus infection. The Hp polymorphism also influences the degree of haemolysis during a treatment with interferonalfa and ribavirin. This results in the clinical implication that in patients with chronic hepatitis C and low platelets, a high dose interferon treatment results in a higher degree of haemolysis in patients with the Hp 1-1 phenotype. Therefore high dose interferon treatment should be avoided in this subgroup of patients.

The percentage of CD163 positive monocytes-macrophages is not influenced by the Hp phenotype. It seems unlikely that the low macrophage iron content seen in patients with hereditary hemochromatosis is influenced by a different percentage of CD163+ monocytes-macrophages.

Despite the fact that serum and liver iron content are often higher than normal in patients with chronic hepatitis C, the majority of the investigated patients have no detectable NTBI. However in a minority of these patients elevated NTBI levels are found. Further research will focus on the correlation between the presence or absence of NTBI, haptoglobin phenotype polymorphism and HII, the influence of the presence of NTBI on response after antiviral treatment and the possible influence of phlebotomy in patients with high NTBI on response after antiviral treatment.

SAMENVATTING

Zowel de HFE mutatie als het haptoglobine polymorfisme beïnvloeden het ijzermetabolisme (1,2) en houden verband met verschillende immunologische eigenschappen (3).

De *HFE* mutatie wordt teruggevonden bij de meerderheid van de patiënten met erfelijke hemochromatose (4). Er zijn overtuigende gegevens voorhanden dat deze mutatie werkelijk bijdraagt tot de overmaat aan ijzeropstapeling, eigen aan deze ziekte (5-11). In situaties waar er een teveel aan weefselijzer aanwezig is, ziet men in de aanwezigheid van de *HFE* mutatie diverse wijzigingen in de immuunstatus van patiënten met erfelijke hemochromatose ontstaan (3).

Haptoglobine is een eiwit dat hemoglobine bindt en daardoor ijzerverlies en nierbeschadiging voorkomt tijdens episodes van hemolyse. De drie belangrijkste haptoglobine fenotypes hebben elk een verschillend effect op de cellulaire en humorale immuunrespons (12). Bij individuen met het Hp 2-2 fenotype vindt men een hoger aantal CD4+ T-lymfocyten en B-lymfocyten (13). Het Hp 2-2 eiwit vertoont een hogere agglutinatiecapaciteit tegen bepaalde bacteriën dan de andere fenotypes (12). Bij gezonde mannen met het Hp 2-2 fenotype vindt men zowel een hogere serum ferritine concentratie als een hoger ferritine gehalte in monocyten terug dan bij mannen met het Hp 2-1 of Hp 1-1 fenotype (14).

Gezien erfelijke hemochromatose en chronische hepatitis C infectie geassocieerd zijn met zowel hoog serum en weefselijzer als met verschillen in immuun status, onderzochten we de invloed van de *HFE* mutatie en het haptoglobine polymorfisme op deze twee aandoeningen.

In West-Europa is erfelijke hemochromatose de meeste frequente erfelijke aandoening met invloed op het ijzermetabolisme (15).

129

Vooraleer de groep van Feder (4) in 1996 de hemochromatosemutatie ontdekte, waren de fenotypische karakteristieken van de aandoening (vb. serum ijzersaturatie, serum ferritine concentratie, hepatische ijzerindex, erfelijk karakter ...) de belangrijkste aanknopingspunten voor de clinicus om de diagnose te stellen. Actueel worden, dankzij de ontdekking van de HFE mutatie, diagnosestelling, familiescreening en populatiescreening eenvoudig. Het werd dan ook duidelijk dat niet alle individuen die homozygoot zijn voor de Cys282Tyr missense mutatie, de typische fenotypische karakteristieken hebben van erfelijke hemochromatose (16,17). In de afwezigheid van Cys282Tyr homozygotisme zouden ook andere mutaties (vb. His63Asp) een rol kunnen spelen in de etiologie van ijzeropstapelingsziekten. Bij een controlegroep en bij een groep van patiënten met de fenotypische karaktertrekken van erfelijke hemochromatose bepaalden we de aan- of afwezigheid van de Cys282Tyr en His63Asp missense mutatie (Hoofdstuk I). De patiënten werden ambulant gevolgd in de periode 1985-1997 (18). In de gezonde controlegroep waren 10,5 % van de 96 individuen heterozygoot voor de Cys282Tyr missense mutatie. Twee procent van hen was homozygoot voor deze mutatie. In de patiëntengroep waren er 46 van de 49 patiënten (94 %) homozygoot voor de Cys282Tyr missense mutatie; 2 waren compound heterozygoot (Cys282Tyr +/-, His63Asp +/-) en 1 individu was enkel heterozygoot voor de His63Asp missense mutatie. Deze resultaten zijn perfect te vergelijken met de prevalenties teruggevonden in andere studies en landen. Ze bevestigen ook dat de Cys282Tyr missense mutatie teruggevonden wordt bij de meerderheid van patiënten met erfelijke hemochromatose en dat deze mutatie zou kunnen bijdragen tot de fenotypische expressie van deze ziekte (4). Of de His63Asp missense mutatie ook bijdraagt tot deze fenotypische expressie is ver van duidelijk.

Deze mutatie lijkt enkel belangrijk te zijn wanneer ze samen voorkomt met de Cys282Tyr missense mutatie (compound heterozygotisme). We vonden deze toestand terug bij twee patiënten van onze groep; beiden hadden de fenotypische presentatie passend bij erfelijke hemochromatose. De identificatie van 1 patiënt met fenotypische hemochromatose maar enkel heterozygoot voor de His63Asp missense mutatie, suggereert het bestaan van andere genetische of niet genetische oorzaken.

Bij gezonde mannelijke vrijwilligers met het Hp 2-2 fenotype vond men hogere serum ferritineconcentraties en een hogere ferritine inhoud in monocyten terug (14). We onderzochten daarom in **Hoofdstuk II**, de invloed van het Hp polymorfisme op de fenotypische presentatie van 167 patiënten met erfelijke hemochromatose. Een significante lage Hp1 allel frequentie tengevolge van een Hp 2-2 fenotype overrepresentatie (p<0,01) werd teruggevonden. De aanwezigheid van het Hp 2-2 fenotype induceert een relatief risico van 1,73 (95 % CI 1,14-2.62) tot het ontwikkelen van erfelijke hemochromatose. De lage Hp1 allel frequentie vond men enkel terug bij mannen (p<0,01), maar niet bij vrouwen (p=0,3). Bij Hp 2-2 mannen werd een hogere serum ijzerconcentratie, serum ferritineconcentratie en aantal aderlatingen tot ijzerdepletie teruggevonden. Het laag aantal vrouwelijke patiënten geïncludeerd in deze studie zou het ontbreken van significantie in deze subgroep kunnen verklaren. Evenmin is het uitgesloten dat andere factoren (menstruatie, zwangerschap) een grotere invloed hebben op de fenotypische expressie van erfelijke hemochromatose (19).

De hogere serum ferritine concentraties, zowel bij gezonde mannen als bij mannelijke hemochromatosepatiënten zou kunnen verklaard worden door het Hp 2-2 specifiek transfer van hemoglobine-haptoglobine complexen in monocyten-macrofagen. Recent werd aangetoond dat het hemoglobine-haptoglobine complex, en het daarmee gerelateerde ijzer, opgenomen wordt in monocyten-macrofagen via de CD163 receptor op deze cellen. Deze receptor heeft een hogere affiniteit voor Hb-Hp 2-2 complexen dan voor Hb-Hp 1-1 complexen (20). Zowel bij gezonden als bij patiënten met erfelijke hemochromatose zou deze CD163 receptor een rol kunnen spelen in de ijzerstatus van het individu. We bepaalden daarom het percentage CD163 positieve monocyten-macrofagen bij gezonden en bij patiënten met erfelijke hemochromatose (**Hoofdstuk III**). Bij de gezonde controlegroep vonden we geen haptoglobine-gerelateerd verschil in het percentage CD163 positieve monocyten-macrofagen. Evenmin was er een correlatie tussen het percentage CD163 positieve monocyten-macrofagen en serum ijzerparameters.

Er werd geen verschil opgemerkt tussen het percentage CD163+ monocytenmacrofagen tussen patiënten met erfelijke hemochromatose en patiënten met secundaire hemochromatose of individuen uit de controlepopulatie. Het lijkt daarom zeer onwaarschijnlijk dat de lage ijzerinhoud van macrofagen bij patiënten met erfelijke hemochromatose beïnvloed wordt door een verschil in percentage aan CD163+ monocyten-macrofagen.

In België bedraagt de prevalentie van chronische hepatitis C infectie 0,9 % (21). Bij een chronische hepatitis C infectie vindt men vaak een overmaat aan ijzer en verhoogde oxidatieve stress (22). Zowel virale (genotype, hoeveelheid virus) als gastheerfactoren (immuunantwoord) beïnvloeden het verloop van de hepatitis C infectie.

In **Hoofdstuk IV** toonden we aan dat bij een groep van 142 chronische hepatitis C patiënten, zowel de Cys282Tyr missense mutatie als het Hp 1-1 fenotype in een statistisch hoger frequentie aanwezig zijn dan bij een controlepopulatie (23). Heel opvallend blijkt de aan- of afwezigheid van het ene gen, de impact van het andere gen te beïnvloeden. Zo blijkt enerzijds, dat bij de afwezigheid van de Cys282Tyr missense mutatie, het Hp fenotype bepalend is voor het risico tot het ontwikkelen van een chronische hepatitis C infectie. Enkel in deze subgroep van patiënten zien we een hogere frequentie van het Hp 1-1 fenotype. Anderzijds ziet men een hogere frequentie van de Cys282Tyr missense mutatie in de groep van patiënten met het Hp 2-1 en Hp 2-2 fenotype. We veronderstellen dat de verhoogde oxidatieve stress aanwezig in de patiënten met zowel het Cys282Tyr allel als het Hp2 allel, resulteert in een hogere risico in deze subgroep om een chronische hepatitis C infectie te ontwikkelen.

Omdat we patiënten niet over een tijdspanne gevolgd hebben, maar dat deze observatie enkel een momentopname betreft, is het moeilijk commentaar te geven over de ziekteprogressie. Echter omdat we een significante overrepresentatie vinden van het Hp 1-1 fenotype bij deze groep van patiënten met een chronische hepatitis C infectie, maken we de veronderstelling dat de aanwezigheid van dit fenotype de patiënt gevoeliger maakt voor het ontwikkelen van een chronische hepatitis C infectie. Om dit te kunnen staven, is er interesse in een studie bij patiënten met een acute hepatitis C infectie, waarbij gepoogd wordt een verschil in haptoglobine fenotypedistributie aan te tonen tussen de groep met een zelflimiterende infectie en de groep welke evolueert naar een chronische hepatitis C. Dit is praktisch echter niet haalbaar omdat de meerderheid van de patiënten met een acute hepatitis C infectie asymptomatisch zijn, het aantal gerapporteerde acute hepatitis C infecties laag is (ongeveer 30 geregistreerde acute hepatitis C gevallen in België per jaar) en het sinds de studie van Jaeckel et al (24) niet ethisch meer is een patiënt met een acute hepatitis C infectie een behandeling met interferon alfa te ontzeggen.

Ribavirine, in combinatie met interferon alfa, is de standaardbehandeling van patiënten met chronische hepatitis C infectie (25,26).

Ribavirine veroorzaakt hemolyse, waardoor een stijging in serum ijzer en ijzerinhoud van de lever wordt waargenomen (27,28). Er is weinig gekend over factoren die deze hemolyse kunnen beïnvloeden. Wij onderzochten daarom in **Hoofdstuk V**, welke factoren de hemoglobinedaling kunnen beïnvloeden gedurende een behandeling met interferon en ribavirine (29).

We konden aantonen dat een ernstiger hemoglobinedaling werd geobserveerd bij patiënten met een hoger hemoglobinegehalte bij het opstarten van de behandeling, een laag aantal trombocyten, dagelijkse toediening van interferon alfa en de aanwezigheid van het Hp 1-1 fenotype.

Omdat ribavirine een zekere, relatieve constante, proportie van de aanwezige rode bloedcellen afbreekt ziet men een correlatie tussen het hemoglobinegehalte bij het opstarten en de hemoglobinedaling gedurende de behandeling. Daardoor resulteren hogere startwaarden van hemoglobine in een hogere absolute daling van het hemoglobinegehalte.

Bij patiënten met lagere trombocyten (<110.000/µl) ziet men een belangrijkere hemoglobinedaling dan bij patiënten met trombocytenaantallen die hoger zijn. Het laag aantal trombocyten wordt beschouwd als een handtekening van de aanwezigheid van levercirrose met hypersplenisme.

Patiënten die een hogere dosis interferon alfa toegediend krijgen (onder de vorm van een dagelijkse toediening), ondervinden ook een hogere hemoglobinedaling dan de patiënten die een standaard dosis interferon krijgen (drie keer per week). Het is immers gekend dat interferon alfa myelosuppressief werkt en, vooral wanneer toegediend in een hoge dosis, anemie kan veroorzaken. Patiënten met het Hp 1-1 fenotype ondervinden eveneens een hogere hemoglobinedaling dan patiënten met de andere fenotypes. Hb-Hp 1-1 complexen hebben een lagere affiniteit voor de CD163 receptor dan Hb-Hp 2-2 complexen (20). In geval van hemolyse kan dit leiden naar een minder adequaat hergebruik van heemijzer en een belangrijker daling in het hemoglobinegehalte.

Bij patiënten met chronische hepatitis C infectie vindt men frequent verhoogde serumijzer-waarden en een hogere ijzerinhoud in de lever terug (30). Daarnaast observeert men eveneens situaties die gepaard gaan met vrijstelling van vrije radicalen en vetperoxidatie (22). Dit zou kunnen het gevolg zijn van een lokaal of systemische stoornis in het ijzermetabolisme. Omdat NTBI één van de factoren is die verantwoordelijk kan gesteld worden voor oxidatieve stress in situaties met overmaat aan ijzer, onderzochten we in **Hoofdstuk VI**, de aanwezigheid van NTBI bij patiënten met chronische hepatitis C infectie. In de meerderheid van hen (86 %) werd geen NTBI aangetroffen. Evenmin werd gedurende een behandeling met interferon en ribavirine NTBI aangetroffen. Bij de zeldzame patiënt waar NTBI wel aangetroffen wordt, kan dit een handtekening zijn van echte overmaat in weefselijzer.

ALGEMEEN BESLUIT

We konden aantonen dat het Hp fenotype het ijzermetabolisme van patiënten met erfelijke hemochromatose en de evolutie naar chroniciteit bij patiënten met een chronische hepatitis C infectie beïnvloedt. Het Hp fenotype beïnvloedt ook de graad van hemolyse gedurende een behandeling met interferon alfa en ribavirine. Klinisch betekent dit dat een behandeling met hoog gedoseerde interferon bij een patiënt met lage plaatjes en het Hp 1-1 fenotype resulteert in een belangrijker graad van anemie. Hoog gedoseerde interferonbehandeling moet dan ook vermeden worden in deze subgroep van patiënten.

Bij een gezonde mannelijke controlepopulatie wordt het percentage CD163 positieve monocyten-macrofagen niet beïnvloed door het Hp fenotype. Het lijkt onwaarschijnlijk dat de lage ijzerinhoud van macrofagen bij patiënten met erfelijke hemochromatose beinvloed wordt door een verschil in percentage aan CD163+ monocyten-macrofagen.

Ondanks het feit dat het serumijzer en de inhoud aan leverijzer vaak verhoogd zijn bij patiënten met chronische hepatitis C, vindt men in de meerderheid van deze patiënten geen NTBI in het serum terug. Nochtans heeft een minderheid van deze patiënten een verhoogd NTBI gehalte. Verder onderzoek zal zich toespitsen op het verband tussen NTBI, het haptoglobine fenotype polymorfisme en HII, de invloed van het NTBI gehalte op het antwoord na een antivirale behandeling. Tenslotte zal bestudeerd worden of de invloed van aderlatingen bij patiënten met een hoog NTBI gehalte het antwoord na een antivirale behandeling kunnen beïnvloeden.

REFERENTIES

- Andrews NC. Medical Progress: Disorders of Iron metabolism. N Eng J Med 1999; 341(26): 1986-1995.
- Langlois MR, Martin M-E, Boelaert JR, Beaumont C, Taes YE, De Buyzere ML et al. The haptoglobin 2-2 phenotype affects serum markers of iron status in healthy males. Clin Chem 2000; 46(10): 1619-1625.
- Chorney MJ, Ten Elshof AE, Gerhard GS. Hereditary haemochromatosis as an immunological disease. Brit J Haematol 1998; 100: 247-255.
- Feder JN, Gnirke A, Thomas W, Tsuchihashi Z, Ruddy DA, Basava A et al. A novel MHC class 1 like gene is mutated in patients with hereditary haemochromatosis. Nat Genet 1996; 13: 399-409.
- 5. Bacon BR. Hemochromatosis: diagnosis and management. Gastroenterology 2001; 120: 718-725.
- 6. Tavill AS. Diagnosis and management of hemochromatosis. Hepatology 2001; 33(5): 1321-1328.
- Lebron JA, Bennett MJ, Vaughn DE, Chirino AJ, Snow PM, Feder JN et al. Crystal structure of the hemochromatosis protein HFE and characterization of its interaction with transferrin receptor. Cell 1998; 93: 111-123.
- Zhou XY, Tomatsu S, Fleming RE, Parkkila S, Waheed A, Jiang J et al. HFE gene knockout produces mouse model of hereditary hemochromatosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1998; 95: 2492-2497.
- Bahram S, Gilfillan S, Kuhn LC, Moret R, Schulze JB, Lebeau A et al. Experimental hemochromatosis due to MHC class I HFE deficiency: immune status and iron metabolism. Proc Natl Aca Sci USA 1999; 96: 13312-13317.
- Parkkila S, Waheed A, Britton RS, Feder JN, Tsuchihashi Z, Schatzman RC et al. Immunohistochemistry of HLA-H, the protein defective in patients with hereditary hemochromatosis, reveals unique pattern of expression in gastrointestinal tract. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1997; 94: 2534-2539.
- Waheed A, Parkkila S, Saarnio J, Fleming RE, Zhou XY, Tomatsu S et al. Association of HFE protein with transferrin receptor in crypt enterocytes of human duodenum. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1999; 96: 1579-1584.
- Langlois MR, Delanghe JR. Biological and clinical significance of haptoglobin polymorphism in humans. Clin Chem 1996; 42: 1589-1600.
- Langlois M, Delanghe J, Philippé J, Ouyang J, Bernard D, De Buyzere M et al. Distribution of lymphocyte subsets in bone marrow and peripheral blood is associated with haptoglobin type. Binding of haptoglobin to the B-cell lectin CD22. Eur J Clin Chem Clin Biochem 1997; 35(3): 199-205.
- Langlois MR, Martin M-E, Boelaert JR, Beaumont C, Taes YE, De Buyzere ML et al. The haptoglobin 2-2 phenotype affects serum markers of iron status in healthy males. Clin Chem 2000; 46(10): 1619-1625.
- 15. Bacon BR, Tavill AS. Hemochromatosis and the iron overload syndromes. In: Zakim D, Boyer TD eds. Hepatology. A textbook of liver disease. 3rd ed. Philadelphia: Saunders, 1996: 1439-1472.
- Crawford DH, Jazwinska EC, Cullen LM, Powell LW. Expression of HLA-linked hemochromatosis in subjects homozygous or heterozygous for the C282Y mutation. Gastroenterology 1998; 114: 1003-1008.

- Olynyk JK, Cullen DJ, Aquilia S, Rossi E, Summerville L, Powell LW. A population-based study of the clinical expression of the hemochromatosis gene. N Eng J Med 1999; 341: 718-724.
- H. Van Vlierberghe, L. Messiaen, M. Hautekeete, A. De Paepe, A. Elewaut. Prevalence of the Cys282Tyr and His63Asp missense mutation in Flemish patients with hereditary hemochromatosis. Acta Gastroenterol Belg 2000; 63: 250-253.
- H. Van Vlierberghe, M. Langlois, J. Delanghe, Y. Horsmans, P. Michielsen, J. Henrion, R. Cartuyvels, J. Billiet, M. De Vos, G. Leroux-Roels. Haptoglobin 2-2 phenotype overrepresentation in Cys282Tyr hemochromatotic patients. J Hepatol 2001; 35(6): 707-711.
- Kristiansen M, Graversen JH, Jacobsen C, Sonne O, Hoffman H-J, Lax SKA et al. Identification of the haemoglobin scavenger receptor (letter). Nature 2001; 409: 198-201.
- Beutels M, Van Damme P, Aelvoet W, Desmyter J, Dondeyne F, Goila VC et al. Prevalence of hepatitis A, B and C in the Flemish population. Eur J Epidemiol 1997; 13(3): 275-280.
- Piperno A, D'Alba R, Fargion S, Roffi L, Sampietro M, Parma S et al. Liver iron oxidation in chronic viral hepatitis: a study of 98 patients. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 1995; 7: 1203-1208.
- H. Van Vlierberghe, J.R. Delanghe, S. De Bie, M. Praet, A. De Paepe, L. Messiaen, M. De Vos, G. Leroux-Roels. Association between the Cys282Tyr missense mutation and haptoglobin phenotype polymorphism in patients with chronic hepatitis C. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2001; 13: 1077-1081.
- 24. Jaeckel E, Comberg M, Wedemeyer H, Santantonio T, Mayer J, Zankel M et al. Treatment of acute hepatitis C with interferon alfa-2b. N Eng J Med 2001; 345: 1452-1457.
- 25. Poynard T, Marcellin P, Lee SS, Niederau C, Minuk GS, Ideo G et al. Randomised trial of interferon alpha2b plus ribavirin for 48 weeks or for 24 weeks versus interferon alpha2b plus placebo for 48 weeks for treatment of chronic infection with hepatitis C virus. Lancet 1998; 352: 1426-1432.
- McHuntchinson JG, Gordon SC, Schiff ER, Shiffman ML, Lee WM, Rustgi VK et al. Interferon alfa-2b alone or in combination with ribavirin as initial treatment for chronic hepatitis C. N Eng J Med 1998; 339: 1485-1492.
- DiBisceglie AM, Bacon BR, Kleiner DE, Hoofnagle JH. Increase in hepatic iron stores following prolonged therapy with ribavirin in patients with chronic hepatitis C. J Hepatol 1994; 21: 1109-1112.
- Fiel MI, Schiano TD, Guido M, Thung SN, Lindsay KL, Davis GL et al. Increased hepatic iron deposition resulting from treatment of chronic hepatitis C with ribavirin. Am J Clin Pathol 2000; 113(1): 35-39.
- H. Van Vlierberghe, J.R. Delanghe, M. De Vos, G. Leroux-Roels and the BASL steering committee. Factors influencing ribavirin-induced hemolysis. J Hepatol 2001; 34: 911-916.
- 30. Tung BY, Kowdley KV. Iron and viral hepatitis. Viral Hepatitis 1999; 5(2): 63-76.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ALT :	Alanine aminotransferase
AST:	Aspartate aminotransferase
CTL:	Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte
DCT1 :	Divalent cation transporter 1
DMT1:	Divalent metal transporter 1
E1 :	Envelope protein 1
E2:	Envelope protein 2
EASL :	European Association for the Study of the Liver
EDTA :	Ethylene diaminetetraacetic acid
Hb :	Haemoglobin
HCV:	Hepatitis C virus
HFE:	Hemochromatosis gene
HFE :	Hemochromatosis protein
HH :	Hereditary hemochromatosis
HIC:	Hepatic iron content
HII:	Hepatic iron index
HLA:	Human major histocompatibility complex
Hp:	Haptoglobin gene
Hp:	Haptoglobin protein
HPLC:	High performance liquid chromatography
Ireg1:	Iron regulating protein 1
MHC:	Major histocompatibility complex
MU:	Million units
Nramp2:	Natural resistance associated macrophage protein 2
NTBI:	Non-transferrin-bound iron
PCR:	Polymerase chain reaction
Th1:	T helper 1 lymphocyte
Th2:	T helper 2 lymphocyte

Phenotype (in this work): biochemical characteristics of the different Hp proteins found in serum, reflecting differences in the genetics of the Hp protein.